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DISCLOSURE STATEMENT 

ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC. 
June 2020 

ORGANIZATION INTRODUCTION AND INFORMATION (Corporation) 

Narrative Description of the Organization and Its Operation 
The name of this organization is Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. 
("Arbor Acres"). Its business address is 1240 Arbor Road, Winston-Salem, North Carolina, 27104. 
Arbor Acres is a continuing care retirement community. 

Affiliation(s) 
Arbor Acres is the parent corporation and sole member of Arbor Acres Home Care, LLC 
("Home Care"). Home Care was established to provide home care services to the residents of 
Arbor Acres as well as individuals in Forsyth and surrounding counties. 

Arbor Acres is organized under the sponsorship of the Western North Carolina Annual Conference 
of The United Methodist Church. The extent of the affiliation between Arbor Acres and the 
Conference is set out in a Statement of Relationship, a copy of which follows the narrative section 
of this Disclosure Statement (pages 31-34). The Conference is not responsible for the financial and 
contract obligations of Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres holds membership in LeadingAge, formerly the 
American Association of Homes and Services for the Aging and LeadingAge NC, f01merly the 
North Carolina Association ofNon-Profit Homes for the Aging. 

Non-Profit/For Profit Status 
Arbor Acres is a North Carolina non-profit corporation, exempt from the payment of federal 
income tax under Section 50 I ( c )(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. Home Care is a limited liability 
company that has not elected to be taxed as a corporation under the Internal Revenue Code (IRC) 
regulations. Home Care is wholly owned by Arbor Acres. As such, Home Care is considered a 
disregarded entity under current IRC regulations. 

Accreditation(s) 
Arbor Acres is accredited through the Commission on Accreditation of Rehabilitation Facilities 
and the Continuing Care Accreditation Commission ofLeadingAge. 

FACILITY INTRODUCTION AND INFORMATION (Facility) 

Narrative Description of the Facility and Its Operation 
Arbor Acres is a non-profit continuing care retirement community providing a continuum of 
residential accommodations. These include independent living facilities with 3 mid-rise residential 
wings containing 77 units (studio, efficiency and one-bedroom connecting room units); 12 
courtyard homes, 44 Stockton Building apartments, and 126 houses. The main building complex 
contains the 3 mid-rise residential wings and the following support facilities: Business offices, 
Piner Hall, Fitness Center, chapel, arts and crafts room, bistro, recreational areas, dining rooms, 
beauty shop, several parlors, kitchen, housekeeping, laundry, and maintenance service areas. 

In addition to independent living units and support facilities mentioned above, Arbor Acres also 
has licensed beds in two areas of the campus: Strickland Place at Fitzgerald (herein after referred 
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to as the Health Center) and the Asbury Place Building. Arbor Acres is licensed for 189 beds (83 
skilled beds and 106 Adult Care Home beds). Support facilities in the Health Center include 
offices, family rooms, dining rooms, activity areas, physical therapy room, special bathing unit 
(SP A), and beauty shop. 

Arbor Acres operates under the superV1s10n of a Board of Directors responsible for the 
establishment of operational policy. Daily operation of Arbor Acres is supervised by a President 
and CEO. Operation of the facility is the immediate responsibility of 11 departments: 
Marketing/Public Relations, Human Resources, Finance, Resource Development, Environmental 
Services, Buildings and Grounds, Dining Services, Nursing, Chaplaincy, Wellness Services, and 
Continuing Care. 

Legal Description 
Arbor Acres is a corporation chartered by the State of North Carolina. 

Identification and Background of Officers, Directors, Management Staff, Owners Including 
Addresses, and Professional Services 

The present Officers and Directors of Arbor Acres, together with the principal business affiliation 
and address of each, are as follows: 

Board of Directors 
Ms. Pamela H. Ball 

Board Chair 

Mr. John W. Willingham 
Board Chair Elect 

Ms. Victoria Hunt 
Vice Chair 

Ms. Florence Corpening 
Secretary 

Ms. Susan S. Schwartz 
Treasurer 

Mr. Arthur L. Bloom 

Dr. Dudley C. Chandler, Jr. 

Principal Business Affiliation, Address 
Textile and Apparel Consultant, Retired 
559 Westover Avenue 
Winston-Salem, NC 27104 

President, Indera Mills 
P.O. Box 309,350 W. Maple Street 
Yadkinville, NC 27055 

Registered Nurse 
915 K.enleigh Circle 
Winston-Salem, NC 27106 

Retired Executive Director, Gateway YWCA 
2637 Woodcreek Road 
Winston-Salem, NC 27106 

Executive Director, The Cemala Foundation 
330 S. Greene Street, Suite 101 
Greensboro, NC 27401 

Executive and Business Coach 
123 S. Pine Valley Road 
Winston-Salem, NC 27104 

Resident/Retired Periodontist 
1244 Arbor Road, Box 172 
Winston-Salem, NC 27104 
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Ms. Courtney H. Douglas 

Christin M. Dunn 

Mrs. Susan C. Bister 

Mr. Donald F. Eppert 

Ms. Cynthia S. Graham 

Mr. David C. Hinton 

Dr. Vincent W. Howell 

Mrs. Kaye P. Lambert 

Mr. Jack Lauer 

Ms. Carroll McCullough 

Mr. J. William McGuinn 

Ms. Drewry H. Nostitz 

Mr. Chris Pearce 

Business Co-owner 
2843 Bitting Road 
Winston-Salem, NC 27104 

Accountant 
323 Windsor Oaks Court 
Winston-Salem, NC 27104 

Philanthropic Advisor, Winston-Salem Foundation 
150 Plymouth Avenue 
Winston-Salem, NC 27104 

Resident 
1352 Susanna Wesley Drive, #113 
Winston-Salem, NC 27104 

Executive Director, Strickland Family Foundation 
175 Warwick Green Road 
Winston-Salem, NC 27104 

CPA; Business Owner 
123 Fayette Street 
Winston-Salem, NC 27101 

Pastor 
230 Pennywhistle Lane 
Clemmons, NC 27012 

Retired Educator 
600 Oaklawn A venue 
Winston-Salem, NC 27104 

CFO, Pine Hall Brick Company 
3025 Lakeshore Drive 
Winston-Salem, NC 27106 

Resident 
1244 Arbor Road #B-307 
Winston-Salem, NC 27104 

Retired President, First Citizens Bank 
1034 Sweetbriar Road 
High Point, NC 27262 

Philanthropist; Community Supporter & Volunteer 
2820 Thomfield Road 
Winston-Salem, NC 27106 

VP IT/ClO, Forsyth Technical Community College 
3238 Pennington Lane 
Winston-Salem, NC 27106 
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Mr. J. Hill Stockton 

Ms. Wendy Walker-Fox 

Ex Officio 
Bishop Paul L. Leeland 

The Rev. Dr. Sam Moore 

Mr. Frank Rayburn 

President, Nonnan Stockton 
P.O. Box 5066 
Winston-Salem, NC 27113 

Executive Director, Piedmont Triad Workforce Dev. Board 
1398 Carrollton Crossing Drive 
Kernersville, NC 27284 

Residing Bishop, Western NC Annual Conference 
The United Methodist Church 
P. 0. Box 18750 
Charlotte, NC 28218 

District Superintendent, Yadkin Valley District 
The United Methodist Church 
1031 Reyoolda Road 
Winston-Salem, NC 27104 

Resident Council President 
1244 Arbor Road, Box 462 
Winston-Salem, NC 27104 

Arbor Acres is managed on a day-to-day basis by Andrew W. Applegate, President/CEO. Andrew 
Applegate (License #NC2975) became President/Chief Executive Officer of Arbor Acres United 
Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. on October 1, 2016. Previously he served as Vice President 
and Executive Director of Asbury Solomons, Solomons, Maryland (2003-2016), the Evangelical 
Lutheran Good Samaritan Society in various communities in Nebraska, Illinois and Florida (1989-
2003). Mr. Applegate is a graduate of the University of Nebraska at Lincoln (BA, Education, 
Health Occupations Specialization), the University of Phoenix (MA, Organizational 
Management), Southeast Community College (Nursing Home Administration Specialization) and 
is an alumnus of the Larry Minnix Leadership Academy ofLeadingAge. 

Hannah Yoon (Administrator License# 2999) graduated from UNCG in December, 2011 with a 
Bachelor of Science in Recreation and Parks Management. She studied abroad in Norway 
through UNCG. She worked as a Recreational Therapist at Cypress Cove at HealthPark, from 
May 2012 until November 2013. She worked as the Dementia Care Program Manager in Fort 
Meyers, Florida from November 201 until October 2014, then served as the Director of 
Arbor View our memory care unit, from October, 2014 until August, 2018. She began her 
Administrator's training here at Arbor Acres in 2017 and completed it in August of 2018. 

Arbor Acres has no present intention of purchasing goods, leases or services of an aggregate value 
of five hundred dollars ($500.00) or more within any year from any of the persons listed above or 
any person having a ten percent ( I 0%) or greater interest or beneficial interest in any professional 
service, firm, association, trust, partnership or corporation which provides goods, leases or services 
to Arbor Acres; nor is it intended that any of said persons shall provide goods, leases or services 
to residents of Arbor Acres. In addition, no company has a 10% or greater interest in any person 
listed. If any resident of Arbor Acres shall obtain any goods, leases or services from any of said 
persons, it will be because the resident voluntarily elects and chooses to do so, not because the 
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doing of such business is intended by Arbor Acres or is expected of the resident. Arbor Acres does 
not !mow the monetary value of such business, if any, as may be transacted between individuals 
who happen to reside at the facility and fim1s or businesses owned or partially owned by 
individuals who happen to serve as officers or directors of the facility, nor does Arbor Acres have 
any information from which to make an estimate. 

Criminal Violation Statement 

To the best of the facility's knowledge, based on infonnation furnished to Arbor Acres by each of 
the persons listed above, none has been convicted of a felony or pleaded nolo contendere to a 
felony charge, or been held liable or enjoined in a civil action by final judgment, if the felony or 
civil action involved fraud, embezzlement, fraudulent conversion, or misappropriation of property; 
or is subject to a currently effective injunction or restrictive court order, or within the past five 
years, had any State or federal license or permit suspended or revoked as a result of an action 
brought by a govermnental agency or department, if the order or action arose out of or related to 
business activity of health care, including actions affecting a license to operate a foster care facility, 
nursing home, retirement home, home for aged, or facility subject to paragraph (3)c ofG.S. Section 
58-64-20(a)(3)(c) or a similar law in another state. 

Location and Description of Physical Property 

Arbor Acres is located on an approximately 82-acre site at 1240 Arbor Road in Winston-Salem, 
North Carolina. On this property are the residential facilities described above in the Narrative 
Description of the Facility and Its Operation. 

Estimated Number of Residents 

The number of residents is 508 (as of December 31, 2019). 
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POLICIES 

Admission 

Health Criteria: To be accepted as a resident, the applicant's health must be such that the 
applicant's care requirements are appropriate to, and can be met within the level of care to which 
the person is requesting admission. For example, a person applying for admission to independent 
living must be mentally alert, and able to meet his or her personal care needs without assistance or 
supervision. The agreement entered into between Arbor Acres and resident states that at the time 
of the execution of the agreement, Arbor Acres has determined that the resident qualified for 
residency at Arbor Acres both with respect to the resident's mental and physical condition and the 
resident's ability to take care of anticipated fees and charges. The agreement also provides that it 
will be necessary for the resident to meet the Arbor Acres health and financial qualifications for 
residency at the time he or she becomes a resident of the facility, subject to the understanding that 
if at that time the person is not mentally or physically qualified to occupy a residential unit of the 
type contemplated under the agreement, but is qualified to live in an Adult Care Home (Assisted 
Living) unit or in the Health Center of Arbor Acres, he or she will be entitled to such 
accommodations at the facility as are appropriate to the person's situation and needs, and are then 
or later become available. Once admitted to Arbor Acres, a resident, from the standpoint of health, 
may continue to reside at Arbor Acres so long as the facilities and services available can, in the 
opinion of the facility's medical advisers, provide the level of care needed by the resident. As a 
resident's needs for care increases, the resident may be required to move to a higher level of care 
provided by Arbor Acres in order to continue the right of residency at the facility. 

Financial and Insurance Criteria: To be accepted as a resident and in order for residency to 
continue, an applicant must agree to pay the entrance fee and monthly fees and charges associated 
with the living unit and level of care required by the applicant. Arbor Acres requires applicants to 
provide a financial statement. Applicants with inadequate financial resources to carry them through 
their projected life expectancy are nevertheless considered for admission if family members 
provide guaranties of payment or if the applicant qualifies for financial assistance within the limit 
of Arbor Acres' ability to provide. Residents whose resources are depleted during residency may 
remain as residents under the following circumstances: If members of resident's family or other 
interested parties provide guaranties of payment acceptable to Arbor Acres; or if the Arbor Acres' 
financial assistance resources are such as to enable the facility to provide the amounts needed. 
Residents whose financial resources are diverted to other persons or causes, thereby creating a 
financial need, are not eligible for consideration for financial assistance. 

At present Arbor Acres has no insurance criteria affecting admissions. Applicants whose resources 
are marginal or inadequate to cover their projected residency fees may be encouraged to consider 
purchase oflong-term care insurance as a method of increasing available income once the applicant 
becomes a resident of a licensed level of care. 

Age Requirements: One must be 62 years of age to become a resident of Arbor Acres; provided, 
that in the case of a married couple, if one spouse is 62, the minimum age for the other spouse is 
60. 
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Changes of Condition of Resident Prior to Occupancy/Refund(s)Applicable/Not Applicable/Time 
Frame of Refand(s): If between the date of entering into a residency agreement and the date of 
initial occupancy, an applicant's financial condition changes affecting the applicant's ability to 
pay expenses associated with residency, the applicant is required to submit a new financial 
statement. Improvement in the applicant's financial position may alter previous commitments by 
Arbor Acres to provide financial assistance. A decline in the applicant's capacity to pay the 
previously agreed upon periodic fees and charges may require reassessment of the applicant's 
ability to reside at Arbor Acres and whether Arbor Acres is in a position to provide financial 
assistance. If the applicant is unable to move into Arbor Acres for any reason, the applicant is 
entitled to an entrance fee refund to the extent of and in accordance with the provisions of the 
agreement. 

Cancellation/Termination - Refand(s) Applicable/Not Applicable/Time Frame of Refund(s): 
Pursuant to the statute, the party (applicant) contracting with the provider (Arbor Acres) may 
rescind the contract within thirty (30) days following the later of the execution of the contract or 
the receipt of a disclosure statement. A resident may terminate residency upon thirty (30) days 
written notice. Arbor Acres may terminate one's residency if: 
1. Resident does not pay monthly fees and other charges on a timely basis; 
2. Resident's behavior ( or that of resident's family members, responsible parties, or others 

specified in the residency agreement) is detrimental to the spirit of Arbor Acres; or 
3. Resident requires treatment or care other than that which Arbor Acres is licensed 

or staffed to provide. 

Termination of residency by Arbor Acres occurs only "as a last resort," when it becomes clear that 
termination is necessary, and after the resident and/or the resident's responsible party has an 
opportunity to be heard. On termination ofresidency any monthly fees paid in advance are prorated 
and an appropriate refund is made thereof, if any, within sixty (60) days. Provisions relating to 
entrance fee refunds upon termination of residency are set out in residency agreements as follows. 
Subject to the statutory refund provisions which apply in the event of rescission of the agreement 
within thirty (30) days or preclusion, by death, illness, injury, or incapacity, from occupying a unit 
under the terms of tl1e agreement, then the entrance fee is refundable on a declining basis of two 
percent (2%) per month for fifty (50) months, with no part of the entrance fee being refundable 
after a person has resided at Arbor Acres for fifty (50) or more months. The agreements further 
provide that payment of the refund is to be made from the entrance fee received by Arbor Acres 
from the next occupant of the unit. The calculation and payment of any refund to a person who has 
become a resident is made in the same manner whether termination of residency is voluntary, is at 
the request of Arbor Acres, or is occasioned by death. 

I. If a resident dies before occupying a living unit in the facility, or if, on account of illness, 
injury, or incapacity a resident would be precluded from occupying a living unit in the 
facility under tlie terms of the contract for continuing care, the contract is automatically 
cancelled. Arbor Acres will refund entrance fees paid, as stated in the residency 
agreement, and less any costs paid by Arbor Acres for resident-requested modifications 
to a living unit. The refund will be provided within thirty (30) days of receipt by Arbor 
Acres of all billable costs incurred by the resident. 

2. In the event of the death of a resident following the occupancy of a living unit, Arbor 
Acres will refund the entrance fee, less the $2,500 non-refundable portion as stated in the 
residency agreement, and under the prorated refund policy of2% per month for fifty (50) 
months, with no part of the entrance fee being refundable after fifty (50) or more months 
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of residency. Upon receiving payment of an entrance fee of that living unit, Arbor Acres 
will refund to the resident or the resident's estate. 

3. In the event of a resident's vacating a unit due to moving to a higher level of care, then no 
refund of the entrance fees paid will be provided unless that move occurs within ninety 
(90) days of the resident's move-in date, as provided by the stated refund policy. 

Moves: Provisions governing moves between levels of living are outlined in the residency 
agreement. Independent living residential units (such as studios, apartments, houses) may not be 
made available to a different or new resident except m1der the following circumstances: 

1. If the resident terminates residency at Arbor Acres either voluntarily or at the request of 
Arbor Acres for cause. 

2. If the resident tenninates occupancy of the unit by moving to another unit at Arbor Acres, 
either because of a desire on the part of the resident to move or because of health 
problems that necessitate a move to anotlier type of unit, such as a studio unit (if the 
resident resides in a house), Adult Care Home (Assisted Living) or the Health Center. 

3. Changing market conditions (specifically, increasing requests for multiple room 
residency units and decreasing requests for studios) make it necessary from time to time 
for Arbor Acres to convert studios to connecting room suites in order to keep studios 
fully occupied. When this must be done, Arbor Acres occasionally finds that it can be 
accomplished only by having a resident move to another studio in order to "free up" 
adjacent studios for conversion to a connecting room suite. Should Arbor Acres find that 
it must have a resident make such a move, the matter is thoroughly discussed with the 
resident and the resident is shown the studio to which the resident is to move. Arbor 
Acres will make the studio to which the resident is to move ready for occupancy, 
including any needed refurbishment and will assist the residents with the move, all at the 
expense of the facility. 

4. If the resident dies. 

In the case of a couple, the death or permanent transfer of one spouse to a different unit does not 
affect the remaining spouse's right to continue residency in tl1e unit. 

In Adult Care Home (Assisted Living) or in the Health Center, Arbor Acres reserves the right to 
change one's room from time to time as deemed by Arbor Acres to be necessary or appropriate. 
Any such changes are made with due regard to the wishes and best interest of the resident as well 
as Arbor Acres. 

Marriages/New Second Occupant: If a resident marries while residing at Arbor Acres, the spouse 
of the resident is expected to follow the facility's normal admission procedure. Among the basic 
factors for approval are: 

1. Spouse of resident must be a least 60 years of age (i.e., older spouse must be at least 62; 
younger spouse must be at least 60); 

2. Physical condition must be appropriate to the level of care to which the person requests 
entry and the care required must be within levels of care Arbor Acres provides; 

3. Behavioral characteristics must be appropriate for group living at Arbor Acres; 
4. There must be sufficient financial resources to enable the couple to meet financial 

obligations, or their circumstances must be such as to qualify for financial assistance within 
Arbor Acres' policies and ability to provide. 

If the applying spouse is approved for residency at Arbor Acres and is to live in the same residential 
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unit with the resident, the applicable second person entrance fee will be required. If the applying 
spouse is to live in a separate unit, an entrance fee is required. Regular monthly (daily in nursing 
care and assisted living) fees and other charges would be in accordance with Arbor Acres' regular 
schedule for double occupancy, or individual occupancy, as appropriate. 

If the applying spouse should not meet the requirements for residency, the applying spouse would 
not be able to reside at Arbor Acres. As of the date of this Disclosure Statement, no applying 
spouse has failed to meet the requirements. 

Other than in the case of a spouse, there are no other provisions currently in place to permit 
occupancy of a unit by a second occupant who was not party to the original residency agreement. 
If a current resident marries another current resident who moves into the same accommodation as 
the first resident, then the resident who is vacating his/her unit will be subject to the same refund 
policy as a resident who is leaving Arbor Acres. That is, the vacating resident receives a prorated 
refund at the rate of 2% per month for fifty (50) months. For example, if the vacating resident 
moves in with the first resident after 12 months of residency, then Arbor Acres will retain 24% of 
the entrance fee and the balance will be refunded. Accordingly, if the vacating resident has lived 
in his/her residence for more than fifty ( 50) months, then there will be no refund provided as the 
entrance fee has finished amortizing. The couple, now residing together in the first resident's 
accommodation, will begin paying the second person monthly fee for that residence. 

Inability to Pay: If a resident should encounter financial difficulty while residing at Arbor Acres, 
the resident may apply for financial assistance. Arbor Acres has limited financial assistance 
resources for this purpose. Also, in a number of cases there are guaranty agreements between Arbor 
Acres and members of a resident's family which make possible the resident's continued residence 
at the facility. Arbor Acres is unable to guarantee initial or continuing allocations of financial 
assistance to a resident. As of the date of this Disclosure Statement, it has not been necessary for 
Arbor Acres to require termination of residency for financial reasons. 

Arbor Acres maintains an Assistance Endowment Fund, the income of which is available to Arbor 
Acres for the assistance of residents who require financial assistance. As of December 31, 2018, 
the value of this Endowment Fund was approximately $13,900,000; and the income from it 
constitutes one of the several sources of Arbor Acres' annual assistance funds which currently 
aggregate more than $1,400,000 a year. The other sources of assistance funds include an annual 
Mother's Day Offering, and grants from wills, trusts, foundations and the Western North Carolina 
Annual Conference of The United Methodist Church. 

SERVICES 

Standard Services Available: 
Services provided by Arbor Acres are addressed in resident agreements; for example, agreements 
for independent living residents specify the following: 

1. Maintenance of buildings and grounds, including unit occupied by resident (standard items 
only) 

2. Utilities: heat, air conditioning, electricity, water and sewer; telephone jack, but not 
personal telephone handset or telephone service (telephone service, including long distance 
is offered separately for a fee) 

3. Basic cable television (not television set) and internet service 
4. Emergency call system 
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5. Recreational, educational, cultural and spiritual life programs 
6. Transportation to routine non-emergency medical appointments within Forsyth Comity 

(transportation by ambulance not included) 
7. Limited in-patient temporary care (see Services Available at Extra Charge, Identified: 

Temporary in-patient care) 
8. Routine nursing assessment, consultation and services available Monday through Friday in 

the clinic 
9. Weekly housekeeping assistance 
10. Laundering of bed and bath linens furnished by Arbor Acres 
11. Security personnel on duty in the Welcome Center 
12. Dining service with meals or a meal allowance is included in the monthly fee 
13. Access to Medicare Certified skilled nursing beds based on qualifications for Medicare 

Coverage after 30 days of Residence at Arbor Acres. 

Agreements for residency in other units, such as houses, Adult Care Home (Assisted Living) or 
Health Care contain a list of services provided for residents in such units. Services cun-ently 
provided in Adult Care Home (Assisted Living) and Health Care are set out under those headings 
below. Circumstances under which Arbor Acres' services may be changed, modified or adjusted 
are set out in the agreement. 

Services Available at Extra Charge, Identified 
Arbor Acres offers to residents in independent living the support services listed below which are 
provided on an additional monthly charge basis. These services are designed to assist the 
independent living residents with one or more activities of daily living. Residents will be allowed 
to remain in independent living provided their needs can be met adequately within the specific 
limits of these additional support services and provided the resident continues to meet all criteria 
for independent living. 

These additional support services are available as follows: 

1. Laundry: Visit by a Continuing Care ELITE staff member to the resident's living unit at a 
scheduled time to check their clothing and to gather clothes for laundering. Residents' 
clothing are washed and ironed by the ELITE staff member and returned to the resident 
the same day. 

2. Bathing: Residents are scheduled for bathing as needed. Support is provided by a 
Continuing Care ELITE staff member who remains with the resident while he or she 
takes a bath. ELITE staff members do not administer baths; rather they help the resident 
get in and out of the tub and remain present to increase the resident's sense of security. 
Residents are bathed either in their own home or taken to the Spa area in Asbury Place. 

3. Transportation: to buildings and locations on or off campus within the city limits of 
Winston-Salem/Forsyth County, 7 days a week. 

4. Meal Delivery 
5. Temporary in-patient care: The additional charge for temporary in-patient care is subject 

to the following exception: There is no additional charge for the first five (5) days of 
temporary care during any ninety (90) consecutive day period. These five (5) days can be 
restored only upon completion of ninety (90) consecutive days after discharge from 
temporary care without returning to and occupying a temporary care bed. Meals are 
charged from the first day for those residents not on the meal plan. Temporary in-patient 
care in the Health Center is subject to availability of rooms. In the rare event that a room 
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is not available for in-patient temporary care, Arbor Acres will make every effort to 
ensure that the resident is provided with appropriate services in their home. 

6. Supplies (such as syringes, dressings, etc) utilized by the clinic nurse in providing the 
resident routine nursing services. 

Other services available at extra charge are: 
1. Guest meals: Residents who are not on the meal plan and residents desiring to have 

guests for meals may pnrchase meals at the established guest meal rate. 
2. Guest accommodations: Guest accommodations are available to residents on a first come 

first serve basis for an additional daily fee. 
3. Personal Services: Individual personal services are available to residents at an. additional 

hourly rate. 
4. Through Home Care residents may purchase sitter and nursing services. 

For schedule of charges applicable at this time for services available at an extra charge. 

ELITE Care 

ELITE (Easy Living Including The Extras) is a level of care that is higher than full independent 
living, but below the level of full Assisted Living. ELITE residents may require and are eligible to 
receive a broad spectrum of services necessary to enable them to remain comfortable and safe in 
independent living longer than would be possible otherwise. ELITE residents have access to the 
following support services as needed: escort to meals and special events on an occasional basis, 
escort to doctor appointments, daily medication reminders, order of medication and setting up of 
medication boxes, monthly health evaluation by a nnrse in a clinical setting, assistance entering 
and exiting the tub/monitoring while bathing, personal laundry including ironing when necessary, 
additional housekeeping, assistance with dressing, activity reminders, consultation about and 
assistance with managing incontinence, daily home visits by trained ELITE staff members. See 
page 20 for ELITE Care charges. 

Adult Care Home (generally referred to as "Assisted Living") 
Adult Care Home (Assisted Living) agreements specify the following services provided by Arbor 
Acres: 
1. Maintenance of buildings and grounds, including room occupied by resident 
2. Utilities: heat, air conditioning, electricity, water and sewer; telephone jack included, but 

not personal telephone handset or telephone service (service, including long distance is 
offered separately for a fee) 

3. Basic cable television (not television set) and internet service 
4. Emergency call system 
5. Recreational, educational, cultnral and spiritual life programs 
6. Transportation to routine non-emergency medical appointments within Winston-Salem 

(transportation by ambulance not included) 
7. Limited in-patient infirmary care 
8. Nursing supervision (in accordance with regulatory standards; does not include private 

duty or individual nurse for each resident), prescribed medication administration and 
limited assistance with activities of daily living 

9. Daily housekeeping assistance 
10. Laundering of bed and bath linens furnished by Arbor Acres 
11. Laundering of personal clothing (washing, drying, folding, and ironing). Dry cleaning is 

sent out. 
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12. Security personnel on duty in the Welcome Center 
13. Food service (3 meals daily) 
14. Social Work services 

Health Services Available 

Health Center agreements specify the following services provided by Arbor Acres: 
1. Maintenance of buildings and grounds, including room occupied by resident 
2. Utilities: heat, air conditioning, electricity, water and sewer; telephone jack included, but 

not personal telephone handset or telephone service (telephone service, including long 
distance is offered separately for a fee) 

3. Basic cable television (not television set) and Internet access. 
4. Nurse call system 
5. Recreational, educational, cultural and spiritual life programs 
6. Transportation to routine non-emergency medical appointments within Winston-Salem 

(transportation by ambulance, not included) 
7. Nursing care (in accordance with regulatory standards; does not include private duty or 

individual nurse for each resident) 
8. Daily housekeeping assistance 
9. La1mdering of bed and bath linens furnished by Arbor Acres 
10. Laundering of personal clothing (washing, drying and folding, not ironing or dry cleaning) 
11. Security personnel on duty in the Welcome Center 
12. Food service (3 meals daily and routine between meal nourishments). Note: 

Administration of physician-prescribed gastric tube feeding included; cost of prescribed 
food substitutes and supplements not included. 

13. Social Work services 

Arbor Acres furnishes each Health Center resident a document entitled "Strickland Place & 
Arborview at Fitzgerald Statement of Services and Related Charges." The statement currently 
reads as fo 11 ows: 

Strickland Place at Fitzgerald of Arbor Acres provides a full range of nursing care and 
health supportive services for each resident. Strickland Place at Fitzgerald provides for 
Assisted Living rooms and skilled nursing care, for which the facility is duly licensed by 
the State ofNorth Carolina. The following rates have been established for admission to and 
residency in Strickland Place at Fitzgerald. Persons admitted directly to Strickland Place 
at Fitzgerald without having previously resided at Arbor Acres must pay a $2,800 non­
refundable entrance fee at the time of admission. Charges for the first month of occupancy 
will be due at the time of admission and will be prorated based on the number of days 
remaining in the first month of occupancy. Payments for subsequent months will be due in 
advance at the first of each month. Payments may be made between the first and the tenth 
of the month. 

Residents pay a daily charge for services rendered by both licensed nurses and certified 
nursing assistants. This daily charge also includes meals and clinical dietetic services, 
personal laundry service, all utilities ( except telephone), housekeeping, maintenance, and 
access to Arbor Acres program activities and social services. Services rendered at Arbor 
Acres are not reimbursable under the Medicaid program of the federal government. The 
restriction on Medicaid participation was imposed by the State of North Carolina as a 
condition for the construction and licensing of Strickland Place at Fitzgerald. The current 
room rates in Strickland Place at Fitzgerald are as follows: 
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Skilled Nursing - $341.00 per day; Arborview (Dementia care) - $318.00 per day; and 
Assisted Living - $207.00 per day (Studio); $241.00 per day (one bedroom apartment). 
Excluded from the daily room rate are charges for phannacy services, personal medical 
supplies, personal care products, beauty/barber shop visits, physician services, dental 
services, podiatry services and services rendered by a licensed therapist as part of an 
individualized program of rehabilitation. Arbor Acres is a certified Medicare facility, 
therapy services are covered under Medicare Part A and Part B. 

Therapy services are provided under Medicare Part B benefits and there are some 
limitations. The therapy provider advises residents about the coverage under Medicare and 
what must be private pay. 

Our staff physician schedules weekly appointments in Strickland Place at Fitzgerald and 
arranges for emergency physician services 24 hours a day. Residents may use the services 
of our staff physician or may select another personal physician who will come to Arbor 
Acres on a monthly basis and perform the services required by state licensure. The resident 
will be fully responsible for all physician services charges which they may incur, including 
the Medicare deductible and co-payment. 

Medical supplies, pharmaceutical services and some personal care products are provided 
for all residents of Strickland Place at Fitzgerald. Enrollment in these programs will assure 
maximum efficiency and security in the administration of resident's medications, and 
availability of needed supplies on a continuous basis. A list of current charges is available 
upon request. All medications, medical supplies and personal care products will be billed 
monthly to each resident either by the facility or the provider of the service. 

The maintenance fee (whether stated on a monthly or daily basis) is payable in advance 
each month; all charges incurred during a month are billed at the end of the month. All 
fees and charges are normally included in one monthly statement and are payable in full 
promptly upon receipt of statement. An itemized statement may include medical supplies, 
oxygen, beauty/barber shop charges, personal care products, guest meals, special activities 
and guest room or guest house charges. Payment is requested within 10 days. A late 
payment charge of 1.5% per month, computed from the statement date, will be made on 
any amount not received within 30 days of the statement date. 

Residents are responsible for continuing payment of the daily rate during absences from 
the facility. This is necessary in order to assure the availability of a bed upon returning. 
Fees for services during the last month of occupancy will be prorated and any remaining 
unused days of care will be refunded to the resident or to the resident's estate. 

Personal Services Available 
Other services available for which there is no additional charge include an optional daily automatic 
check-in system, check cashing services, package shipping, access to washers/dryers, complete 
kitchens and sitting areas. Services available through Arbor Acres may be added or deleted from 
time to time. Charges for services may be adjusted periodically as found necessary by Arbor Acres. 
Nonnally such adjustments are made as part of the facility's annual budget preparation process. 
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Home Care Services Available 
Arbor Acres Home Care, LLC ( doing business as Arbor Acres at Home) allows residents to age 
in place at home in familiar and comforting surroundings. The program provides a suite of a la 
carte, in home services that help residents maintain their highest level of independence possible 
while receiving the care they need, providing such services as: 

• Assistance with grooming, dressing and household chores 
• Bathing or other personal hygiene assistance 
• Cleaning out closets 
• Laundry and linen care 
• Shopping 
• Sitter services 
• Administration ofIV medication 
• Education about a new medication or help with medication administration 

• Wound care 
• PICC lines, trachs, feeding tube and port care 
• Emergency assistance around the clock 

Arbor Acres at Home is not covered by Medicare but may be covered by individual residents' 
long term care insurance. Rates vary by type of service provided. 

FEES 

Application/Registration Fee - Refundable/Non-Refundable 
Arbor Acres' application fee is $100.00 ($200.00 for a couple); it is non-refundable. 

Entrance Fees 
Independent Living - Payment of an Entrance Fee provides the resident with the lifetime use of a 
residence. If at such time a move may be necessary due to need for a higher level of care then the 
residence would be released back to Arbor Acres. At the time the resident makes application for 
residency at Arbor Acres, the resident will sign a Residency Agreement to reserve the residence 
selected and will pay the Entrance Fee deposit. The balance of the Entrance Fee will be paid upon 
the earlier of (i) occupancy, to (ii) five days prior to- the Occupancy Date stated in the Residency 
Agreement. 

Licensed Areas (Assisted Living and Skilled Nursing): Only residents who move to licensed areas 
who are not already residents of Arbor Acres pay a one-time entrance fee of $2,800. Current 
residents pay no additional entrance fees when moving from their independent living residences. 

Monthly and Daily Fees 
Independent Living - Residents pay monthly fees to cover services and amenities, including a 
declining balance meal plan, weekly housekeeping, linens and towels, cable TV, campus-wide 
wireless internet, maintenance and personal security devices. 

Licensed Areas - Daily fees in assisted living and skilled nursing cover services, including all 
meals, medication management, laundry service, activities, cable and wireless intemet. 

Second Person Fees 
Independent Living - A second person coming into an independent living residence pays a one­
time Entrance Fee of $10,000, and an additional $985 per month. 
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ftrumcial Information 2020 11',; DEPEKDEl',TT LIVTJ':G 

Tlr\~id~nr::e Typl~ 

ST1Jn1os A>,m ONE--nr,nROOM 
APARTMRNTfi 

Studio 

One-herlrnom with Kirchr.nerr.e 

Oiw-br.rlmnm Corpenlngwlth lGtc.hr:n 

..l_i J'UCKTUN t\l'AllLVJ.hN l' llVILOl.NG 

A {One-bedroom, One lhith) 

l\ (One•bedroom, One-irnd-a-half Bath, Den) 

C 1 ('IWo bedroom, Two D,u.h) 

C-2 (Two-bc:droom, Two Balh) 

C-3 (1Wv-bt:Jruom, Twu Bath) 

D-1 (I\vo-bt!droum, Two Bath, Den) 

D-2 (Two-bt:Jroom, Two .Garh, Den) 

D-,3 (Two-bedroom, Two Bath, Den} 

E-1 CfWo-lmlroom, Two Bach, Den) 

Second Resident 

Ba..ienu::nt Garage Parkinrr 

HOMES 

O11c-bedmom, One Dath 

Tw{l-hed1uom, 0 1\vo Rarh 

Twn-hrrlroom, 'TWn Ftu·h 

·nY-o-bcdroom, .. JWo Ba.th 

TWo bedwom, 'I\v.o U;;i~h 

1Wo"bcdroom, Two B,ith 

'lWo-bedrnom, 'lVrn Uat.h 

Second Rcsidcm 

MT!O HO/Vtl•.S 

fWo-btrlroom, · Hvo Hath 

Second Rcsidcut 

COURTYARD HOMES 

One-herlrnom, Onr: B:1th 

Twu-ln:drnum, 1"i,..,o Batb. 

SIY(lnd rlei:irle11t 

Square l;oota,i.-:-: 

315 

6:rn 
630 

991 

1,160 

Ul7 

1,397 

1,500 

1,592 

1,602 

l,'/28 

1,982 

,1.200 

1,200-1,399 

i,400-1,599 

1,Ci00-1,7!)9 

1,800-1,999 

Z,000-2, 19Y 

,2,200 

1,32(1 

1,060 

l,187 
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EiunuKe Fee 

$51,975 

,1107,100 

$110,250 

$178,380 

$208,800 

$219,060 

$25l,460 

$270,000 

$286,560 

$288,360 

$311,1140 

$356,?fi0 

$ I 0,000 11rUi.timu1.l 

t,P to $1:H, 805 

$231,000- $277.,805 

$273,000- $311,805 

$3U,000- $350,1!115 

$35 l,000- $389,805 

$4011,000- $439,800 

.~•1AO,OOO + 

YiHl,000 ff1Uldom1I 

$258,570 

$10,000 additirmAl 

$206,700 

$2J 1,465 

$10,000 tfdtliJfo.,ud 

!\..fondily Single Fee 

.Manthb, Jl!i• imfudt:~· mr:al plan 
and tttililif!i 

$1,870 

$2,728 

,12,780 

Munth()1}i·~ {ududt~ mm/ plan rmd lttllitle., 

,2,672 

$2,957 

$5,141 

$3,332 

$3,522 

$3,l:HJ6 

$3,850 

$4,096 

$1,252 

$985 ,,ddiJitm(l/ 

Onl' pfl-rking spm:e inchuledjhr 11{! 

nw-blfdnJOm fl-pttrunentJ 

Mrmthlj•fee indud,•.1· ml'fll plnn 

$2,523 
,)3,100 

$3,319 

$),718 

$4,151 

$1,389 

$4,Tl! 

$985 ,1dLliti0111d 

Mrm1hlj• Jtc iucludet meal plm1 

$.l,100 

-~~H.!5 itdditlam1' 

t1-io!llh/y fi'r Jnd11tlrs mud plan mu{ utilirir; 

$2,905 

f1,0IJ6 

$-985 nddiriom,l 

r;rmtimutJ rm bn.rk 



LIVING WITH ASSISTANCE IN ASBURY PLACE 

For people who benefit from daily support to achieve maximum we.U~being, Asbury Place, a 

licensed assisted living facility1 deJjvers a rewarding residential experience. Asb11ry Place affords 

residents an independent lifestyle supported tbrough the provision of discrete ac.cessiblc services. 

Om:~bedroom and stltdio apartments feature bay windows, kitchenettes. waJk-in dosets, and 

beautiful outdoor areas. Residents also benefit from prof-e5sional nursing oversight, daily 

assistance from certified professiom<l caregivers, medication administration, and the pleasures 

of active social engagement) recreation, and fine dining. 

ASSTSTED LIVTNG Entrance Fee 
Ddi/y fi·e im-lurle:i· ttwab, /,uwdr_y 

mu! utilities. 

Studio 

One-bedroom Apartment 

T\vo-bedroom AparttneJ1t 

Second Person -A1sisted Living 

$2,800 

$2,800 

,12,800 

$2,800 

IlEDROOM 
1'1'9"x13'8" 

LIVING ROOM 
121/2x13'8" 

:- C 
IlATH[\ , 

1/2 X 8j9\/. 
,,- I I\' 

i/ \ 
.'.!ifil:'.'i\JffifZ'l,;;.~~f{ 

C 

. ' 
E"t?<&J}}' 

Studio 
[ 453 square feet ) 
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$207 J1er tlay 

$241 per d,iy 

$286 per d,ty 

$167 P"'d,1J 

One-Bedroom 
[ 541 square feer l 

IlEDRO0M 
20'4" X 12'8" 



For _people who experience significantly compromised cognition, Arborview at Fitzgerald offers 

comprehensive memory suppon. and a flexible, aftendve, and beautifully orchestrated way of life. 

Devoted and highly trained employees enhance Eun, alleviate stress, engage the mind, foster 

community, support the dignity, and deliver comfort to residents and their lov(:d ones. 

MEMORY CARE Entrance Fe~ 

Assisted Living - ArborvJev,, $2,800 

Residents enjoy private rooms 

and an environment that offers 

them light, uplifting energy, 

and beauty dut is hoth enrich­

ing and soothing to the senses. 

Safe and secure outdoor aseas 

serve as seamless extensions of 

the interior's Jovcly ambiance. 

D,ti/y jf:e inrli.,drs meah. l,ttmd1:t 
,md utiliries 

$3 lfl per tiny 

STRICKLAND PLACE AT FITZGERALD 

Strickland Place at Fitzgerald offers compassion and quality of life to people who daily require the 

highest level of personal and professional service from certified nursing assistants and registered 

nurses. Residents enjoy pdvate rooms filled with persona.I furnishings tbat reflect their tastes and 

genera.re for them an cmiching sr.nse of home. Strickland Place de.liver,~ a warm, spacious) and 

com6:)rting environment, resplendent with nature's healing energies. that preserves dignity and 

provides both hope and peace of mind to residents and thdr families. 

SKILLED NL:RSING Cf\RE 

Privnte Room 

Entrance Fe~ 

$2,800 
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Daily Hate 
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Entrance Fees for residential units are refundable, less $2,500 ($5,000 if two persons enter under 
one residency agreement) and less 2% a month for the first 50 months of residency. Skilled Nursing 
and Assisted Living entrance fees are non-refundable except as specified in the residency 
agreement. Monthly fees are non-refundable; however, because fees are paid in advance, fees will 
be prorated to the last day of occupancy and a refund of the balance paid to a resident in the event 
of termination ofresidency. 

For Temporary Care stays beyond the five (5) day period, the daily rate is $341.00. 

Home Care rates apply only to those residents living in independent living who have the need for 
the specific service offered. Through utilization of those services, residents are able to continue 
living in an independent unit rather than having to move to a higher level of care. Rates are as 
follows: 

Medication Management 
ELITE Care (package of services) 
Skilled Nursing visits 
Sitter Services 
CNA Sitter Services 
Home Care Aid visits 

$198.00 per month 
$880.00 per month 
$ 60.00 per visit 
$ 21.00 per hour (minimum of two hours) 
$ 24.00 per hour 
$ 31.00- 37.00 per hour 

Meal rates for guests and for residents not on the meal plan are priced "a la carte." Lakeside Dining, 
The Arbor Room, Asbury Dining, and Fitzgerald/Strickland Dining offer print menus with weekly 
specials. Pricing information is printed on daily menus. 

Guest House/Guest Room rates are: 

Guest Room (includes breakfast) 
1 Person 

Guest House 

2 Persons 
Each Additional Person 

1 Person 
2 Persons 
3 Persons 
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$ 98.00 per night 
$105.00 per night 
$ 10.00 per night 

$116.00 per night 
$130.00 per night 
$142.00 per night 



Additional Services 

Additional housekeeping services, such as 
cleaning attics and closets, polishing silver 
( other than annual cleaning, personal 
laundry) 

Transportation to non-medical locations 
within Winston-Salem city limits, e.g. 
hairdresser, bank, attorney appointments, etc. 
This service is available during regular 
working hours only. (Transportation to 
medical appointments is included in monthly 
charge.) 

Escort services for medical/dental 
appointments for residents other than those in 
Ii censed areas. 

Services outside those included in the 
monthly charge, i.e. hanging shelves, putting 
furniture together, rearranging furniture, non 
level-of-care moves (i.e. house to Stockton). 

Meal Delivery 

Notification of Fee Increase(s) 

Charge 

$25.00 per hour 

$37.00 per hour 

$9.25 per 15 minutes or $37.00 per hour 

$42.00 per person, per hour 
$10.50 per person, per 15 minutes 

$7.75 

Arbor Acres may increase fees or may otherwise adjust periodic charges and fees as determined 
necessary by the Board of Directors in order to maintain the desired quality of service and to 
operate Arbor Acres on a fiscally sound, non-profit basis. Proposed adjustments in charges and 
fees are normal! y made if, and to the extent, found necessary in the course of preparing an annual 
budget; then, upon approval by the Board of Directors, are implemented at the beginning of the 
upcoming fiscal year. 

Changes in Fees for the Previous Five Years 
A five-year history of adjustments in Arbor Acres' most common room fees is reflected on the 
following page. 
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ARll('JR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNIYV, INC. 
FIVE YEii.TI 1-USTOR'I Of ROOM FEES 

2015 2015 2017 201B 2019 2020 Five Year History 

CHG CHG CliG CHG CHG 

Occupanq FROM • FROM • fROM • FROM • FROM % AVG$ AVG% 

dasslficaUon RATE MTE PREV Chanl!ll RATE PREV C.han1111 ""' PREV Chang11 RA'fE PRE.V Oiange 11ATE f>R[V Change Change OIANGE 

Studio (3 meals/dov) 2,238 2,305 67 '·'"' 2,372 67 2.9% 2,443 71 3.0% 2,52') 86 3.5% 2,554 25 1.0% 63 2.7% 

Studio Efli(lency {3 meals/day) 2,298 2,367 "' '·°" 2,.436 69 2.9% 2,509 73 3.(l",I\ 2,597 88 3.5% 2,(,23 26 1.0% 75 3.2% 

ConnE"Ctingroom Suite (3 meals/day) ,.., 3,080 ., 3.0% 3,169 89 2.')% 3,264 " 10% 3,378 114 3.5% 3/112 " 1.0% " 3.2% 

Corpening •one bedroom apartml'n.t 2,436 2,509 73 3.0% 2,5!!2 " 2.9% 2,659 77 l.0% 2,752 9l 3.5% 2,780 " 1.0% " 3.2% 

One Bedroom Hol.l'ill 
Residents priorto 1/1/01 (no ml'ols) 1,1m 1,923 00 3.2% 1,979 56 2.9% 2,038 59 10% 2,109 71 3.5% 2,168 59 2,8% " 3.2% 

Res!de11ts after 1{1/'JfJ03 2,168 '"' " 3.2% 2,3(12 65 2.9% 2,371 "' l.0'/4 2,454 " 3.5% 2,5B " 2.8% ,, .,. 
0111! Bedroom BaybenyCm.irty~rd Hom, 2A9S 2,575 ., 3.2% 2,650 75 2.9% 2,73-0 ., '·°" 2,826 96 3.5% 2,005 19 2.8"/4 " 3,2\1.'i 

'l"wo Bedroom llayberry Courtyard Hom, 2,652 2,737 " 3,2% 2,816 ,, 2.9% 2,000 B4 3.0"/4 apo2 102 3.5% '"" 84 2.8% " 3.2% 

l"wo Oedroom House less than 1400->f 
Residents prior to 1/1/01(no meals) 2,3.N 2,40'1 75 3.2% 2,474 10 2.9% 1,548 74 '°" 2,637 ., 3.5% 2,711 74 2.8% 77 3.2% 

Residents after 1/1/2001 2,564 2,749 " "' 2,829 80 2.9% 2,914 " 3.Cf/4 3,016 102 3.5% 3,100 84 2.8% 88 3.2% 

Two Bedroom House 1400 sfto 1599 sf) 
Residents pr1orto 1/1/01 (no meals) 

1 '·5" 
2,531 " 3,2% 2,707 " "'' 2,788 81 , ... 2,81!6 98 3.5% 2,9157 8l 2.8% " 3.2% 

Residents after 1/1/2001 ''" 2,944 91 ,,. 3,029 " '" 3,120 " '·"" 3,229 109 3.5% 3,319 90 2.8% 94 3.2% 

T'Ml Bedroom House 1000 dlD 17!)9 .f) 
Residents prior lo 1/1/01 {no meals) I"~ ,,., ., 3,2% 3,068 " 2.9% 3,1.GO 92 3.0¾ 3,271 111 3.5% 3,363 92 2.8% 96 3.2% 

Residents aft~ 1/1/2001 3,195 3,297 101 3.2% 3,393 96 2.9% 3,'195 "" '·'"' 3,617 122 3.5% 3,718 101 2.8% "' 3.l% 

n...:i B11droom Mouse 1 BOO sf to 1999 .f) 
Resklenb prior to 1/1/01 {no meals) I""' 3,365 104 3.2% 3,463 98 2.9% 3,567 104 3.0% 3,692 315 3.5% 3,795 103 2.8% 108 '·"' 
Residenl:5 after 1/1/2001 3,566 3,GIIO 114 3,2% 3,787 107 2.9% 3,901 l14 '·"" 4,0JB 1l7 3.5% 4,151 l1l '·"' 319 3.2% 

n...:i Bl!droom Mouse 2000 sfto 21519 ~) 
Residents prior to 1/1/01 (rio meals) g,,166 3,577 111 3.2% 3-,681 104 2.9% 3,791 110 '·"' 3,914 1l3 S.5% 4,034 110 2.8% 115 3.2% 

Residenb aft..r 1/1/2001 3,171 3,892 111 3.2% 4,005 Ill 2.9% 4,125 120 '·"" "" 344 3.5% 4,389 uo 2.8% 125 3.2% 

1'v«! Bl!droom House Oll{!r 2200 sf 
Resldl!nts prior to 1/1/01 (no meals) 3,7911 3,915 121 3.2% 4,029 114 2.9% 4,150 121 l.<l% 4~9S 145 3.5% 4,415 110 ,~. 126 3.2% 

R\lsidenb after 1/1/2001 41'99 4,230 1.31 12% 4,353 m 2.9% 4,4B4 131 '"' 4,641 157 3.5% 4,771 130 2.B% "' 3.2% 

Stockton Apartment- 991 if i,oo 2,359 69 '·"" 2A38 " 2.9% 2.511 7l 10% ,,., 88 3.5% 2,672 73 2.8% 75 3.2% 

SflldctonAportment-1,1&05f 2,546 2,622 7G 3.0% 2,69$ " 2.9% 2,779 81 l.0% 2,876 " 3.5% :Z,957 " 2,8% 83 3.2% 

Sllldd:onApartment -1,217 rt' 2,70/I 2,785 81 "'" ,~,. Bl 2.9% 2,952 " 3.0% lP55 103 3.5% 3,141 8G '·"' 88 3.2',l/, 

S!Dckton Ap,1rtment· 1,397 fit 2,BG.S 2,954 85 ''"' 3,040 86 2.9% 3,131 91 3.0% 3,241 310 3.5% 3,332 91 '·"" 94 3.2'/t 

Stockton Apartment• 1,500 sf 3,032 3,128 91 , ... l,:214 91 29% 3,310 " 3.0% 5,426 110 3.5% 3,522 96 2.8% 99 3.2% 

SIDckton Aportment-1,592 sf 3,277 3,375 98 ""' 3,473 98 '9% 3,577 104 3.0% 3,701. 125 3,5% 3,~6 101 2,8% 107 3.2% 

Sl!lcktonAportment • 1,602 sf 3,315 3,414 99 ''"' 3,513 " 2.9% 3,018 "" 3.0% 3,745 127 3.5% 3,850 "" 2.8% !OB 3.2% 

StDcktonApartment· 1,728 sf 3,526 3,632 105 10% 3,737 105 2.9% 3,849 112 M% 3,984 135 3.5% "'" 111 2.8% 115 3.2% 

Stockton Apartment• 1,9&2 sf 3,66-1 3,711 310 ""' 3,SSO w, '9% 3,996 11' l.0% 4,136 140 3.5% 4,252 115 2.8% 120 3.2% 

P5sl~~ Livlne-Studio m 184 ... 191 7 ,. . 199 4.2% ''" 4 2.0% "' 2.0% 7 ~:rn 
A,;sisted Livint:•oM Bedroom 205 214 B 3.9% 222 3.7% m ,1.1% '" 2.2% 241 5 2.1% ' '·"" 
A!islstl!d Living - MemoryCare Unit "' 292 11 3.9% 303 11 3.8% 318 15 5.00< "' 0 0.0% '" 0 0,0% 10 3.4% 

Skilled· Private 281 '" 11 '·"" 303 11 3.8% 318 15 5.0'/4 331 1l 4.1% 341 10 3.0% 12 
.,. 

NOTE: lhe above rates are b,ued upon one penon occupancy In all rusld\lntial type uolls. Our-overall rate structure "bo pr,;,vldH 
for two-p!lrson occupancy In all types of Independent Uvlng residential units. The rate structure also provfdHfor 
me.il!i fortho,e pre 1/1/2001 rHldentJ In Hoiues lftha re~di,ntelects that optl,;,n. Rates for post l/.1/!001/resldentJ In houses 
and all Stockton Apartmant residents lncfude$334 worth of m~ls per month. All rates shown are monthly rates e,ccapt 
Skilled Nurslnll and As:Wsb:d Living rBtl!5 which are dally rates, 
All ralH are adjusted amuallyand are effocllve Janljary 1st of eac:h respective year, No rates have beell adjust1id oth\lr than annually foranyy\lar pl't!5enmd, 
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Arbor Acres 
The Advantage Program 

Arbor Acres offers a Residency option to those who may not want to physically reside on our 
campus. This program is called "The Advantage Program." The Resident can continue to live in 
his/her current home but have access to Arbor Acres' Assisted Living, Skilled Nursing and other 
health care programs. The Advantage Program is offered to residents of Forsyth County, NC and 
surrounding counties in convenient proximity to Arbor Acres. 

This residency status allows one to become a Resident of Arbor Acres with access to the campus 
amenities, and ensures access to future health care services as needed, while remaining in his/her 
current home and retaining his/her position on our waiting list for a potential future move to our 
campus at a later date. Residents who join The Advantage Program may also move into Arbor 
Acres if they so choose. Once one becomes a Resident of Arbor Acres, whether living on campus 
or through the Advantage Program, he/she has equal access to all common areas of campus, equal 
standing as members of the Residents Association and equal access to Arbor Acres' health care 
facilities. 

POLICIES 

Admission 

Health Criteria: To be accepted as a resident, the applicant's health must be such that the 
applicant's care requirements are appropriate to, and can be met within the level of care to which 
the person is requesting admission. A person applying for admission to The Advantage Program 
is considered an independent living resident and must be ambulatory, mentally alert, and able to 
meet his/her personal care needs without assistance or supervision. The agreement entered into 
between Arbor Acres and resident states that at the time of the execution of the agreement, Arbor 
Acres has detennined that the resident qualified for residency at Arbor Acres both with respect to 
the resident's mental and physical condition and the resident's ability to take care of anticipated 
fees and charges. The agreement also provides that it will be necessary for the resident to meet the 
Arbor Acres health and financial qualifications for residency at the time he/she becomes a physical 
resident of the facility, subject to the understanding that if at that time the person is not mentally 
or physically qualified to occupy a residential unit of the type contemplated under the agreement, 
but is qualified to live in an Adult Care Home (Assisted Living) unit or in the Health Center 
(Skilled Nursing) of Arbor Acres, he/she will be entitled to such accommodations in the facility 
most appropriate to his/her situation and needs. Once admitted to Arbor Acres, a resident, from 
the standpoint of health, may continue to reside at Arbor Acres so long as the facilities and services 
available can, in the opinion of the facility's medical advisers, provide the level of care needed by 
the resident. As a resident's needs for care increases, the resident may be required to move to a 
higher level of care provided by Arbor Acres in order to continue the right of residency at the 
facility. 

Financial and Insurance Criteria: To be accepted as a resident of The Advantage Program and in 
order for residency to continue, an applicant must agree to pay the entrance fee and monthly fees 
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and charges associated with The Advantage Program. Arbor Acres requires applicants to provide 
a financial statement. Applicants with inadequate financial resources to carry them through their 
projected life expectancy are nevertheless considered for admission if family members provide 
guaranties of payment or if the applicant qualifies for financial assistance within the limit of Arbor 
Acres' ability to provide such assistance. Residents whose resources are depleted during residency 
may remain as residents under the following circumstances: If members of resident's family or 
other interested parties provide guaranties of payment acceptable to Arbor Acres; or if the Arbor 
Acres' financial assistance resources are such as to enable the facility to provide the amounts 
needed. Residents whose financial resources are diverted to other persons or causes, thereby 
creating a financial need, are not eligible for consideration for financial assistance. 

At present Arbor Acres has no insurance criteria affecting admissions. Applicants whose resources 
are marginal or inadequate to cover their projected residency fees may be encouraged to consider 
purchase oflong-term care insurance as a method ofincreasing available income once the applicant 
becomes a resident of a licensed level of care. 

Age Requirements: One must be 62 years of age to become a resident of The Advantage Program. 
In the case of a married couple, if one spouse is 62, the minimum age for the other spouse is 60. 

Changes of Condition of Resident Prior to Occupancy/Refund(s )Applicable/Not Applicable/Time 
Frame of Refund(s): If between the date of entering into a residency agreement such as The 
Advantage Program and the date of initial occupancy on campus, an applicant's financial condition 
changes affecting the applicant's ability to pay expenses associated with residency, the applicant 
is required to submit a new financial statement. Improvement in the applicant's financial position 
may alter previous commitments by Arbor Acres to provide financial assistance. A decline in the 
applicant's capacity to pay the previously agreed upon periodic fees and charges may require 
reassessment of the applicant's ability to reside at Arbor Acres and whether Arbor Acres is in a 
position to provide financial assistance. If the applicant is unable to move into Arbor Acres for any 
reason, the applicant is entitled to an entrance fee refund to the extent of and in accordance with 
the provisions of the agreement. 

Cancellation/Termination - Refund(s) Applicable/Not Applicable/Time Frame of Refund(s): 
Pursuant to the statute, the party (applicant) contracting with the provider (Arbor Acres) may 
rescind the contract within thirty (30) days following the later of the execution of the contract or 
the receipt of a disclosure statement. A resident may terminate residency upon thirty (30) days 
written notice. Arbor Acres may terminate one's residency if: 

l. Resident does not pay monthly fees and other charges on a timely basis; 
2. Resident's behavior (or that of resident's family members, responsible parties, or others 

specified in the residency agreement) is detrimental to the spirit of Arbor Acres; or 
3. Resident requires treatment or care other than that which Arbor Acres is licensed 

or staffed to provide. 

Termination ofresidency by Arbor Acres occurs only "as a last resort," when it becomes clear that 
termination is necessary, and after the resident and/or the resident's responsible party has an 
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opportunity to be heard. On tennination of residency any monthly fees paid in advance are prorated 
and any appropriate refund is made thereof within sixty (60) days. Provisions relating to entrance 
fee refunds upon termination of residency are set out in residency agreements. Subject to the 
statutory refund provisions which apply in the event of rescission of the agreement within thirty 
(30) days or preclusion, by death, illness, injury, or incapacity, from occupying a unit under the 
terms of the agreement, then the entrance fee is refundable on a declining basis of two percent 
(2%) per month for fifty ( 50) months, with no part of the entrance fee being refundable after a 
person has participated in The Advantage Program with Arbor Acres for fifty (50) or more months. 
The calculation and payment of any refund to a person who has become a resident is made in the 
same manner whether termination ofresidency is voluntary, is at the request of Arbor Acres, or is 
occasioned by death. 

1. If a resident dies while a participant in The Advantage Program or before occupying a 
living unit in the facility, or if, on account of illness, injury, or incapacity a resident 
would be precluded from occupying a living unit in the facility under the terms of the 
contract for continuing care, the contract is automatically cancelled. Arbor Acres will 
refund entrance fees paid, as stated in the residency agreement. The refund will be 
provided within thirty (30) days of receipt by Arbor Acres of all billable costs incurred by 
the resident. 

2. In the event of the death of a resident as a participant of The Advantage Program, Arbor 
Acres will refund the entrance fee, less the $1,000 non-refundable portion as stated in the 
residency agreement, and under the prorated refund policy of 2% per month for fifty (50) 
months, with no part of the entrance fee being refundable after fifty (50) or more months 
or residency. Upon receiving payment of an entrance fee in The Advantage Program, 
Arbor Acres will refund to the resident or the resident's estate. 

3. In the event of a resident vacating a unit due to moving to a higher level of care, then no 
refund of the entrance fees paid will be provided unless that move occurs within ninety 
(90) days of the resident's physical move-in date, as provided by the stated refund policy. 

4. Entrance fees paid to Arbor Acres under The Advantage Program will be counted toward 
any future entrance fee payable to Arbor Acres for a residence should the Advantage 
Program participant elect to move into the physical campus. 

Inability to Pay: If a resident should encounter financial difficulty while participating in The 
Advantage Program with Arbor Acres, there are guaranty agreements between Arbor Acres and 
members of a resident's family which make possible the resident's continued participation in the 
program. 

25 



SERVICES 

Standard Services Available: 
Services provided by Arbor Acres while participating in The Advantage Program are addressed 
in resident agreements. An overview of the benefits is listed below: 

I. An annual health and wellness assessment. 
2. Access to recreational, educational, cultural and spiritual life programs. 
3. Limited in-patient temporary care in Arbor Acres skilled nm·sing facility. Arbor Acres 

Nursing and Continuing Care staff will assist with admission to and discharge fonn 
Arbor Acres' licensed facilities, including skilled nursing and assisted living. Residents 
pay the standard per diem for residency beginning on the day of admission.( This does 
not appear in this docmnent 

4. Arbor Acres fitness center - complete access to our fitness center, consultation with our 
wellness staff, a variety of exercise and wellness classes and development of a personal 
health and fitness plan. 

5. Arbor Acres dining and catering facilities - No monthly fee required. Each member pays 
only for any food purchased. 

6. Nursing consultation in our onsite medical clinic -At no additional charge, residents may 
visit the Clinic as needed and receive support and guidance over the phone as well. 

7. Support and guidance during a health care crisis. Arbor Acres Continuing Care staff is 
available when needed for consultation and assistance with navigating the broader health 
care system. 

8. Coordination of and access to Licensed Home Care services in the resident's home. 
Residents pay prevailing rates for these services. 

FEES 

Application/Registration Fee - Refundable/Non-Refundable 
Arbor Acres' application fee is $100.00; it is non-refundable. 

Entrance Fees 
The Advantage Program entrance fee is $12,500 per resident. On the day of execution of The 
Advantage Program Residency Agreement, $1,000 of the single residency fee becomes 
nourefundable. The balance amortizes at a rate of 2% per month until the total amount paid 
becomes fully nonrefundable. The entire amount of the entrance fee paid may be applied to the 
amount of any future entrance fee payable to Arbor Acres in the event The Advantage Program 
resident elects to physically move to Arbor Acres campus. 

Monthly Fees 
The monthly fee per resident is $400.00. This covers costs associated with utilization of 
programs, services, facilities and amenities, support staff and dining. It does not include the cost 
of any meals. 
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
Financial Overview Statement 

Arbor Acres has relied upon gifts, pledges and bequests, and upon funds received from entrance 
fees to cover most of the cost of construction, equipment, land improvements, other 
extraordinary expenses, debt amortization and accumulation of reserve funds. Secondly, Arbor 
Acres generally relies upon periodic fees and charges from residents to support the cash 
requiren1ents for operations. 

On June 10, 2010 Arbor Acres obtained a tax-exempt bond issue (series 2010 Bonds) in the form 
of a Bank Qualified loan to be withdrawn as needed up to $28,875,000. The Bank Qualified loan 
was issued for the purpose of new construction of 8,500 square feet, 12-bed addition to 
Arborview (Dementia Care) and for new construction of an 117,000 square feet Assisted Living 
Building to contain 72 beds, new kitchen and dining areas, a new Physical Therapy space and a 
new Community Life space for programming. The series 2010 Bonds consist of variable rate tax 
exempt bonds, with a fixed interest rate swap at 3.333% per annum. Principal and interest is 
payable monthly with a final maturity date of January I, 2038. 

In June, 2015, Arbor Acres entered into a construction loan agreement with a commercial bank 
to provide financing for the renovation of the skilled nursing facility, Strickland Place at 
Fitzgerald. In 2019 the construction loan was refinanced and an additional $1,000,000 was drawn 
to finance construction of a new bistro dining space in independent living. The 2019 Bank Loan 
consists of a $8,450,000 taxable loan amortized over 15 years with a maturity date of September 
15, 2034. Interest is payable monthly at a variable rate of 1.15% over the 30 day LIBOR. 
Principal and interest are payable monthly. 

In December 2016, $13,159,000 of North Carolina Medical Care Commission Retirement 
Facilities First Mortgage Revenue Refunding Bonds (Arbor Acres Methodist Retirement 
Community) Series 2016 (the "Series 2016 Bonds") were issued to refund the outstanding North 
Carolina Medical Care Commission Health Care Facilities First Mortgage Revenue Refunding 
Bonds (Arbor Acres Methodist Retirement Community) Series 2007 (the "Series 2007 Bonds"). 
The Series 2016 Bonds consist of variable rate tax-exempt bonds, with a fixed interest rate swap 
at 2.914% per annum. Principal and interest on the Series 2016 Bonds is payable monthly with a 
final maturity of January I, 2031. 

As required by G.S. 58-64-30, a comparison of Actual Results with Forecasted Projections as of 
December 31, 2018 follows the financial section of this Disclosure Statement. 

Reserves, Escrow and Trusts 

As of the end of 2019, Arbor Acres had unrestricted cash and investments of$24,725,823, 
investments funding operating reserves of$7,281,500, and restricted cash and investments for 
purposes other than financial assistance of$742,033. The $742,033 restricted investment 
includes a $500,000 endowment, the income from which helps support the operating expense of 
a swimming pool and spendable restricted funds to support a number of smaller ongoing projects 
on campus. 
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The facility expects to have a reserve requirement of $7,400,000 based on the 2020 Forecast. 
The building of these reserves will continue in future years and will be accomplished primarily 
through the receipt of entrance fees, contributions, and bequests from wills and trusts. These 
projections show the achievement of an increasing operating reserve fund (projected at 
$8,248,000 at December 31, 2024) which will enable Arbor Acres to maintain the reserve 
requirements ofG.S. 58-64-33 during the period of this forecast. The achievement of this reserve 
requirement is predicated upon Arbor Acres being subject to the 25% reserve requirement based 
upon the facility's anticipated occupancy of units exceeding 90%. The facility's occupancy is 
projected to be approximately 95% during this five-year period. 

In addition to the investments discussed above, Arbor Acres had $15,781,515 of financial 
assistance funds in place at the end of 2019. Of that amount, $15,710,206 constituted the 
Assistance Endowment Fund; the balance constituted funds available for assistance to residents. 
These are funds which are used to provide charitable assistance to residents who otherwise 
would not be able to afford residency at Arbor Acres. 

Investments of funds are currently managed by an investment advisor, Alex Brown, a division of 
Raymond James. These funds are invested in separate accounts each consisting of a variety of 
funds including US equities, International equities, Fixed income bond funds, a Real Estate Fund 
with UBS and an alternative fund. Investment fund accounts specifically for Assistance 
Endowment resources are segregated from non-financial assistance amounts. Future investment 
strategies will depend upon future investment opportunities and market conditions. One fund 
account includes the operating reserve fund. Investment strategies will be reviewed continuously, 
and as the amount of money available for long-term investment changes, the diversity of 
investment vehicles utilized by the facility is likely to change. 

Overall policies and decisions relative to the magnitude of reserve funds and the investment of 
reserve funds and financial assistance funds are under the direction of the Finance Committee of 
the Board of Directors. In 2015, Arbor Acres engaged Alex Brown, a division of Raymond 
James, to act as its Investment Manager. As the Investment Manager, Alex Brown has the 
authority to exercise security trades as established by the Investment Policy parameters. Within 
the parameters of these policies, specific investment decisions may be authorized by any two of 
the persons holding the positions of Chair, Vice Chair, Treasurer, Chief Financial Officer 
(provided one of the two is Treasurer or Chief Financial Officer). All of the above positions are 
held by board members with the exception of the Chief Financial Officer. David W. Matthews, 
Chief Financial Officer, is the only individual in the direct employment of Arbor Acres who is 
included in this investment decision authorization. Mr. Matthews holds a Bachelor of Science 
degree in Accounting from The University of North Carolina at Charlotte (1995). Mr. Mathews 
is a Certified Public Accountant licensed in North Carolina (1999). His experience includes 17 
years in public accounting, serving as a Senior Manager with a national accounting firm and 
seven years working in the hospitality and senior living industries as Controller and CFO. 
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An Escrow Agreement has been established for administering entrance fee receipts to the extent 
and as required by applicable statutes. A copy of the Escrow Agreement follows the financial 
section of this Disclosure Statement. 

Facility Development/Expansion 

The Board of Directors in 2019 approved a Core Facilities renovation plan that calls for 
independent living expansion and replacements of aging structures. 

Arbor Acres is planning an Independent Living expansion on its current campus located at 1240 
Arbor Road, Winston-Salem, NC. The expansion involves the addition of two hybrid villa 
apartment buildings adding a total of 56 new units at completion. The project is expected to 
feature connectivity to the existing independent living common areas, including dining venues 
and meeting spaces. The apartment buildings are planned to include covered parking on the 
ground floor with apartments above, with unit sizes ranging from 1575 to 1950 square feet. 
Construction material is anticipated to be steel and concrete. Amenities will include indoor and 
outdoor gathering areas and each building will have two elevators. Arbor Acres has engaged 
SFCS Architects to produce all architectural plans and drawings related to the project. Arbor 
Acres plans to start construction in June 2021, with a planned completion in December 2022. 

Arbor Acres continues to invest in its facilities to improve their appearance, functionality, and 
marketability. Occasionally, older houses that prove difficult or too costly to renovate are 
removed and replaced with new construction. Likewise, aging apartment buildings are constantly 
under renovation in order to improve the livability and marketability of smaller residential 
offerings. The eventual renovation and/or replacement of these aging structures remains part of 
the strategic master facilities plan, though no specific plans are in place to advance these 
initiatives in the foreseeable future. 

Completion of Annual Disclosure Statement Filing Supplement 
An Annual Disclosure Statement Filing Supplement was completed and included with Arbor 
Acres' 2020 disclosure filing to the North Carolina Department oflnsurance. 

OTHER MATERIAL INFORMATION, AS APPLICABLE 

Arbor Acres is not the subject of any existing bankruptcy filing, receivership, liquidation or the 
like. The facility has historically been exempt from property taxes and remains exempt under 
current statute which bases the degree of exemption upon the amount of charity care and 
community benefit provided by the facility. 

ATTACHMENT I 

Current Audited Financial Statements 
Arbor Acres operates on a fiscal year which coincides with tl1e calendar year and the financial 
records of the facility have been audited annually. Arbor Acres selected Dixon Hughes Goodman, 
PLLC, as its independent auditor for fiscal year beginning January 1, 2004 and anticipates 
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continuing this relationship through at least 2020. Audited figures for 2019 are included in the 
financial section of this Disclosure Statement. 

ATTACHMENT 2 

Five Year Projection Statements 
Five year projections are included in the financial section of the Disclosure Statement. 

ATTACHMENT 3 

Escrow Agreement 
An Escrow Agreement has been established for administering entrance fee receipts to the extent 
and as required by applicable statutes. 

ATTACHMENT 4 

Resident's Agreements/Contracts 
Copies of standard resident agreements for each type of unit available in the facility are inserted 
in the back of the Disclosure Statement and were filed with the Disclosure Statement submitted 
annually to the North Carolina Department of Insurance. 
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STATEMENT OF RELATIONSHIP 

TB/S S'l'A'lBMENT OF RELATIONSHIP is made and effective as of the dny of 
August 28, 2018 by and between the Western North Carolina Annual Conforonce of the United 
Methodist Church (the "Confercn.cc") and At'bor Acres U:uited. Methodist Retirement 
Community, Inc., n no11pmfit corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State o:f 
cforlh Carolina (the "Al'filiated Organization"), 

PRRLIMJNARY STATllM1!1'tr 

The C.Onforence is om, of the annual ~-onforences of The United Methodist Church. The 
t= "The United Methodist Churoh" refers to the overall denomination !llld 001111cctional 
relatio11 and identity between its many local churches, the various conferences and thefr 
respective councils, boards and agencies, and other church units, which collectively cxmstitcite 
1hc religious system known as United Methodism. Under the Co11stitutio11 and disciplinruy 
pi-ocedure.1 set forth in The Book of Discipline of The United Methodist Church (the 
"Disciplina "), "The United Mctuodist Clnmib" as a denominational whole is not nn entity, nor 
does it possess legal onpacities and attributes. Tt does not and cannot hold title to property, nor 
does it have any ofiicer, agent, employee, office or location. Conferencos, councils, boatds, 
agencies, local churches and other units bearing the name "United Methodist" are, for the most 
1ia1t, legal entities capable of suing and being sued and possessed of legal capacl!fos. 

The counecLional structurn of the Church is maintained through the conferences. Each of 
the Annual Co11ferencaq (of which the Conference is one) is composed of an equal nmnl1e1· of 
ministers and Iny members elected by the Local churches. In tum, there is one Gtne;l'lll 
Confc.renco, composed of an equal number of ministers and lay memhers elected by the Annual 
Conforences. The Discipline is lb" book oflaw of the Cburch. The Discipline i8 the product of 
more tlum 200 yearn of the CJCJ1cral Confore.noes of the denominations which now form the 
Church. Roch General Conference amends, pet-feels, clarifies, and adds its own contribution to 
the Dl9cipline. The Discipline reflects what is expected of its foity and clergy as they sook to be 
effective wHncascs i:n ~1e world as apart of the whole Rody of Christ, (See pnragrapb. 114 oftl1c 
1992 bi,,c/pline). The relationship set forth in this Statement of Relationship is solely and 
exclusiwlybetw<>en the Confcrcnco and the Affiliatc<I Orgt1nJzation. · 

United Methodists give bigh priority to helping and healing ministries a.q a vital part of 
their Christian mission. In the United State Hlone, thtll'e iu-e hundreds of.helping and healing 
progrwns related to local churches, ood the.re n.l'c ulso hundreds of Jnsdtutlo.oal n1inist:rics of 

· which the Affiliated Organimti011 is one, Gnited Methodists recognize the importance of 
operating, maintaining and protev-ting those institutioual ministries as a vital means of c,mying 
out tht> Chti~titm mission of Lnitcd MoU10dlsrn. 'l'hc health and wclwe ministries cmhl'aced 
within this mission include sei-vices in the areas of child care, aging, health care 111:id 
h011dicoppi11g conditions. 

United · Methoclists, the Conforimcc !llld the various institutional ministrlcs share a 
common mtcxest that health 111.1il welfore ministries bearing the name United Methodist shaU be 
demonstrably caring, quality missio11s of Christian s<ll'vioo thut operate in a manna·. consistent 
with the Social Principles and other pcttincnt pmvisions of tho Discipline. 

WDD (L:S)42723212vl 
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The Afiiliatcd Organization is 011e of the health fllld welfare mlnistries of United 
Metb.odism within the houndnrie~ of and liffilia.ted with tne Conference. The Affiliated 
organiza(ion wus urganize<l with the t>ncouragerotml w:1d approval of the Conforence by 
individuals members of the Church who were committed to the belief that the Affiliated 
Organization wa.s needed to pmform the minisl!y set forth in its chmter (the "Ministry"). The 
Conference lllld the Affiliated Organization continue in that belief. The Ministry is among the 
Christian missio11.s ofu11ited Methodism nod of the Conference. 

The purpose of this Statement of Relationship is to set forth an accura(e statement of the 
relationship between the Conference nnd the Affiliated Organization. 

NOW, THERI!FORD, tho Conference covenruJts and agrees with the Affiliared 
Organization and tho Affiliated Organization covenants arid agrees with tho Conference that this 
Stat.e111ent of Relationship, llmlnding the foregoing Preliminary Statenient, is. an accurate 
statement of the relationship between the Coni\m,nce and the Aflilfaited Organi>:alion, 

COVENANTS 

I. Although the Conference and the Affiliated Organization share a common interest in 
cruT,1fag out the Christian m.ission of United Methodism and in the purposes of the Minislry of 
the Aflilinted Orgurdzation, the Confet·ence and the Affiliated Organization a:re separate, self. 
governing and ittdependent. Neither is owned by the other nor is either the partner 01· agent of the 
othol'. The sole purpose of ea~h of the purties in nffiliating with the other as herein set out is that 
euch believes this affiliation with the other is mutually beneficial to partiei; in the performance of 
their reSPective missioll8 of Christian scrv.icc, The parties hereto agree that under this affiliation: 

11) The members of the governing hoard of the Affiliated Organization shall be confirmed, 
elected anJ/or selected by lhe Conference, s1ibjcc( to the articles of incorporalion and 
bylaws, present 11nd future, as am.ended from time to time, of the Affiliated Organization. 
The governing board of the AtfiliateJ Organization includes among itB members both 
United Mclho(iist ministers and laity within the Conference, aJ1d may include either 
persons as provi.ded in its charter or nyla.ws. 

b) The Conforence provides: (i) en.co,i:ragement and SL!ppor(, including financial ~,1pport to 
the extent deemed appropriate Md feasible by the Conference; (ii) opportunities fur the 
i11terchange of it1formation and idea.~ among persons and institutions perfunning similar 
work and fur the development of1he Ministry goals and crlleria; (iii) ,mthotizatlon for the 
Affiliated Orgaoization to ide11tify itself as an organization affiliated with tho 

· Cot1fet'e11ce; and (iv) aµ opportunity for the Afliliated Organization to repott 011 the 
Ministry to each regt!lar session of the Conference. 

c) The Affiliated OrgHllization undertakes: (I) tu fLtlfill its mission of Christian service in a 
mar111er that is consistent with the Social Principles and other pcttinont provisions of the 
Discipline., and occeptable to those whom it would serve iind to membern of the Church in 
the Conference; and (ii) tu the extent it det>!Ils appropriate, to utilize services of the 
Conference and the Church available to the Affiliated Organization in performing its 
Minislly. 

2 
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d) The Affiliated Organization, desirous of g!lining maximum benefit from its ulliliation 
with t:lie Co11fcrcucc and to satisfy fhe Conference fhat it continues to operate ill a maone.l' 
wortl1y of o U11ited Methodist ministry, will continue to provide to the Conference· such 
of the fullowing iw may be requested or de.sired by 1110 Conference: (i) information tliat 
may be of lnterest to otl1er sim/Jar ministries; (ii) oopie.q of regular operatioll!l1 and 
fiOJ1ncial reports; and· (iii) other info1111aticm 1·egarding plans, services and ministries of 
the AtUliated Organization. 

2. The Confet•ence is not contmctually or legally committed to provide any particular level 
or amoll1lt of financial support to the Affiliated Organiution. Any support that the Cootbrence 
does or may provide to the AffiJiated Organiza.tion is, and shall be, volm1tary, as determined, 
from time to timo, solely by the Conference. The Conference has no authority to require the 
Affiliated Oi'gani~ation to assume any oontractual, firnmcfol or other obligation; nor may 1he 
Conference accept or assume any such ol1ligatio11 i11 the name of the Affiliated Organization. 
Similarly, the Affiliated Organization has no authority to accept or assume any such obligation in 
the name of the Conference. Both agree that the Conference shall have no oblig11tion or 
responsibility for or with res11ect to any oontract, commitment or liability of the Affiliated 
Organization. · 

3. Church-wide solicitntimis (tliat 18, solicitations ndd1·essed to tlie general membership of a 
local church) within or thrm1gh local United Methodist churches of the Conference are not to be 
made by the Afiiliatcd Organization except as heretofore or hereafter approved by the 
Conference 01· the rnsident bishop. Other solicitations, suoh as solicitations of individuals and 
entities, wlwther or not church members 01· ohuroh-rclatcd, arc matters between the Affiliated 
Organization and the pmties solicited 1111d do not require the approval of the Conference. 

4. If tbe affiliation betwoon the Conference and the Affiliated Organization should at any 
time bcoomo 1111acccptable to .them, or to one of them, they o.r either of tl1em may sever· the 
11ffiliation hetweer1 them and thereafter operate entirely ind~1Ji:ndtmtly of the ot:11er. If action to 
sever the rulatioru;\tlp is taken by one party only, that party sliall giye prom1,t written notice of 
the severance of the relntiolJJlhip to the other party. 

5. In the event of tho dissolution of the Atliliatecl Organixalion, its assets may be conveyed 
to tho Confwence or as otherwise provided in the mticle, of incorporation, as nm ended from time 
to titne, of the Affiliated Organi7ation. 

6, This Statement of Rela.tio11s.1iip shall be subject tn review and amendment at such times 
and in s\lc1i manner as may be mntually agreeable to the Conference and the Aflil:iated 
Organization. 

/f>1gnature Page Followsl 
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L', W J'TNESS WHEREOF, each of the pt1tlies ht:reto h~s caused this Statement of 
Relationship to he executed in itR name on the date set opposite its name below. 

CONFERENCE: 

WESTI!&'< NORTH CAROLINA ANNUAL 
CONFERENCE OF THE UNITED METHODIST 

CHURC!IJ2•~ ~ 
By:() .. J:'YIJ/L~!-
Namc: Dr. R. Mark ing 
Title: Tren.surer, Westem Nort11 Carolina 
Conference of The United Methodist Church 

AFFILIATED ORGANIZATION: 

ARBOR ACRES UNlTBD METHODIST 
RI!TIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC. 
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DH 
DIXON HUGHES GOODMAN." 

Independent Auditors' Report 

Soard of Directors 
Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate 
Winston-Salem, North Carolina 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Arbor Acres United Methodist 
Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate (collectively, the "Company"), which comprise the consolidated 
balance sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the related consolidated statements of operations 
and changes in net assets and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Management's Responsibility/or the Consolidated li'i.naneialStal:ements 
Management Is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with accounting princ!ples generally accepted ln the United States of America; 
this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of conso/ldated financial statements that are free rrom material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

Auditors' Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. 
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted In the United States of 
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures ln the 
consolldatecl financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including 
the assessment of the risks of mater!al misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
Company's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
tha consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the consolldated financial statements referred to above present fairly, In all material respects, 
the nnancial position of the Company as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the changes in net assets 
and cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. 
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HG 
DIXON HUGHES GOODM,\N uc 

Emphasis of Niatter - New Accounting Pronouncement" 
As discussed in Note 1 to the consolldated financial statements, during the year ended December 31, 2019, 
the Company implemented the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards 
Update ASU 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). Our opinion is not modified in 
respect to this matter, 

Repo1•t· on Supplementa,-y I:,tformation 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic consolidated financial 
statements taken as a whole. The supplemental schedules listed in the foregoing table of contents are 
presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended December 31, 2019. Such information is the responsibility of management 
and was derived frorn and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare 
the consolidated financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain additional procedures, including 
comparing and recondling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used 
to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated financial statements themselves, 
and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly slated in all material respects ln relation to the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole. 

Charlotte, North Carolina 
February 26, 2020 
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retfremcnt Community, lnc. and Affiliate 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 
December 31, 2019 and 2018 

ASSETS 
Current assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Investments 
Accounts receivable 
Current portion of unconditional promises to give, net 
Prepaid expenses 
Current portion of assets limited as to use 

Total current assets 

Non-current assets: 
Assets limited as to use: 

Board designated for: 
Assistance endowment 
Capital projects 

Donor restricted for: 
Resident assistance 
Assistance endowment 
Other specific purposes 

Operating reserve requirement 
Bond trustee 

Total assets limited as to use 
Less: current portion 

Total assets limited as to use, less current portion 

Unconditional promises to give-less current portion, net 
Beneficial Interest in perpetual trusts 
Other long-term assets 
Interest rate swap asset 
Property and equipment, net 

Total non-current assets 

Total assets 

See accompanying notes. 
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2019 

$ 3,289,687 
14,154,736 

638,870 
30,560 

376,378 
91,343 

18,581,474 

6,348,200 
21520,013 

71,609 
9,362,006 

742,033 
7,281,600 

91,343 

26,416,704 
(91,343) 

26,326,361 

1,344,661 
121,063 
25,689 

89,275,332 

117,092,106 

$ 135,673,580 

2018 

$ 3,610,532 
8,948,244 

342,371 
242,942 
304,440 

98,696 

13,547 225 

5,637,639 
2,520,013 

117,055 
8,295,217 

789,044 
7,248,639 

98,696 

24,706,303 
(98,696) 

24,607,607 

23,151 

121,052 
42,933 

90,954,414 

115,749,157 

$ 129,296,382 

(continued) 
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Rcti1·c1:nent Communlly, Inc, and Affilia.tc 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 
Dcccntber 31, 2019 and 2018 

2019 

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 
Current llabilitiss: 

Accounts payable $ 1,104,043 

Accrued expenses 1,111,570 
Accrued lnlerest payable 96,093 

Estimated refundable entrance fees 379,540 
Current maturities of longffterm debt 1,922,000 

Total current liabilities 416131246 

Long-terrn liabilities: 
Refundable deposlts 64,380 
Deferred revenue from entrance fees 32,626,568 
Longffterm debt, less current maturities 41,197,169 
Liability for Interest rate swaps 2,507,638 

Total long-term liabllities 76,385,825 

Total liabllitles 80,998,871 

Net assets: 
Without donor restrictions 431123,840 

With donor restrictlons 11,650,869 

Total net assets 54,674,709 

Total liabilities and net assets $ 135,673,580 

See accompanying notes, 

40 

( continued) 

2018 

$ 1,078,297 
913,146 
40,68B 

375,45B 
1 805,000 

4,212,589 

47,463 
31,594,071 
42,077,763 

612,413 

74,331,710 

78,544 299 

41,284,674 
9,487 409 

50,752,083 

$ 129,296,382 
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate 
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Cbonges in Net Assets 
Yem•s Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 

2019 
Without Donor With Donor 

Restrictions Restrictions 
Revenue, gains, and other support 

Contributions $ 480,455 $ 2,106,366 
Resident fees 26,797,467 
Home Care revenue 366,428 
Entrance fees earned 5,648,279 
lnvestmenl income, net 717,766 224,110 
other 126,926 
Net assets releasGd from testrictions 1,364,198 (1,364,198) 

Total revenue, gains, and other 
support 36,401,518 988,278 

Expenses: 
Medical and personal care 7,663,386 
Food service 6,049,401 
Facility services 6,369,660 
Utilities 1,377,707 
Resident services 1,386,280 
Administration 3,170,630 
Human resources 669,783 
Home Care expenses 490,502 
Marketing and development 903,896 
Depreciation 7,191,588 
Interest 1,606,692 

Total expenses 34,678,195 

Operating Income 823,323 966,278 

Non"operating revenue (expenses): 
Loss on extinguishment of debt (42,191) 
Loss on disposal of property (731,488) 
Net realized gain on investments 11840,990 722,936 
Unrealized loss from Interest rate swaps (1,912,369) 
Change In value• perpetual trusts 143,071 
Net unrealized gain on Investments 1,702,383 409,693 

Excess of revenues over expenses 1,680,648 2,241,978 

Other changes In net assets: 
Net assets released from restrictions• 
capital 158,518 (168,518) 

Change in net assats 1,839,166 2,083,460 

Net assets, beginning of year 41,284,674 9,467,409 

Net assets, end of year 43,123,840 $ 11,550,869 

See accompanying notes. 
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Total 

$ 2,686,821 
26,797,467 

366,428 
5,548,279 

941,876 
126,925 

36,367,796 

7,563,386 
6,049,401 
6,369,560 
1,377,707 
1,388,260 
3,170,630 

669,783 
490,602 
9031896 

7,191,588 
1,606,592 

34,678,196 

1,789,601 

(42,191) 
(731,488) 

2,563,926 
(1,912,369) 

143,071 
2,112,076 

3,922,626 

3,922,626 

50,752,083 

$ 54,674,709 

(continued) 
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retit-cment Community, Ine. and Affiliate 
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets 
Years Ended December :J1, 2019 and 2018 ( continued) 

2018 
Without Donor With Donor 

Restrictions Restrictions Total 

Revenue, gains, and other suppoct: 
Contributions $ 192,333 $ 2,518,868 $ 2,711,201 

Resident fees 26,773,823 26,773,823 

Entrance fees earned 5,190,515 5,198,515 

Investment Income, net 654,791 235,664 890,455 

Other 104,693 104,693 

Net assets released from restrict!ons 1,373,357 (1,373,357) 
Total revenue, gains, and other 
support 34,297,512 1,381,175 35,678,687 

Expenses: 
Medical and personal care 7,504,512 7,504,512 

Food service 4,692,521 4,692,521 

Facility services 5,008,245 5,008,245 

Utilltles 1,386,349 1,386,349 

Resident services 1,583,535 1,583,535 

Administration 3,239,686 3,239,686 

Human resources 481,730 481,730 

Marketing and deve!opmont 850,241 850,241 

Depreciation 6,775,078 6,775,078 

Interest 1,586,545 1,586,545 

Total expenses 33,108 442 33,108,442 

Operating income 1,189,070 1,381,175 2,570,245 

Non-operating revenue (expenses): 
Loss on disposal of property (503,589) (503,589) 

Net realized loss on fnvestmenls (216,749) (114,121) (330,870) 

Unrealized gain from interest rate swaps 172,478 172,478 

Net unrealized loss on investments (1,597,899) (455,050) (2,052,949) 

Excess of revenues over expenses (956,689) 812,004 (144,685) 

other changes in net assets: 
Net assets released from restrictions -
capital 1,291,200 (1,291,200) 

Change in net assets 334,511 (479,196) (144,685) 

Net assets, beginning of year 40,950,163 9,946,605 50,896,768 

Net assets, end of year $ 41,284,674 $ 9,467,409 $ 50,752,083 

See accompanying notes. 6 
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
Yea.ts Ended December 31, 2.019 nnd 2018 

2019 

Operatlng activities: 
Change In net assets $ 3,922,626 
Adjustments to reconclle change in net assets to 
net cash provided by operating activities: 
Depreciation 7,191,588 
Loss on disposal of property 731,488 
Realized and unrealized loss (gain) on Investments {4,676,002) 
Perpetual trusts contributions (1,201,590) 
Change in value perpetual trusts (143,071) 
Contributions restricted for long-term lnvestrnent (260,173) 
Entrance Fees and deposits received 6,872,546 
Amortization oF entrance Fees (5,548,279) 
Amortization of deferred costs 48,720 
Loss on extlngulshment of debt 42,191 
Unrealized (gain) loss on interest rate swaps 1,912,369 
Changes In operating assets and liabllities: 

Accounts receivable (296,499) 
Prepaid expenses (71,938) 
Unconditional promises to give 235,533 
other long-term assets (11) 
Accounts payable 369,399 
Accrued expenses 253,829 
Refundable Deposits 6,897 

Net cash provided by operating activitles 9,399,623 

Investing activities: 
Acquisitlon of property and equipment {6,687,647) 
Proceeds from disposal of property end equipment 
Increase in investments {530,490) 
Decrease {increase) in assets limited as to use (1,710,401) 

Net cash used by investing activities {8,828,538) 

See accompanying notes. 
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2018 

$ (144,685) 

6,775,078 
503,589 

2,383,819 

(1,591,079) 
7,458,513 

(5,198,515) 
47,986 

(172,478) 

74,920 
230,244 
271,208 

(111,935) 
82,875 

4,219 

10,593,759 

{5,823,309) 
5,529 

(1,367,339) 
453,881 

(6,731,238) 

(continued) 
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Ai·bor A,;:res United Methodist Retirement Commwiity, Inc. and Affiliate 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 

2019 

Financing activities: 
Proceeds from loan $ 8,700,000 
Payment for financing costs (110,411) 
Payment on long-term debt (9,444,094) 
Refunds of entrance fees and deposits (287,698) 
Contributions restricted for long-term investment 250,173 

Net cash used by financing activities (892,030) 

Change !n cash and cash equivalents (320,945) 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning 3,610,632 

Cash and cash equivalents, ending $ 3,289,587 

Supplemental information: 
Interest paid $ 1,401,467 

Unit customization fee, included In existing 
unit entrance fees and deposits $ 601,141 

Non-cash activities: 
Purchase of property and equipment In 
accounts payable at year-end $ - 201,07-3 

See accompanying notes. 
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(eontlnued) 

2018 

$ 
(10,530) 

(2,965,999) 
(75,592) 

1,591,079 

(1,461,042) 

2,401,479 

1,209,053 

$ 3,610,532 

$ 1,579,840 

$ 645,437 

$ 551,526 
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Al·b01• Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate 
Notes to Consolidated FinRI1cial Statements 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Organization 

Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. (MArbor Acres") Is a non-profit corporation that operates 
a continuing care retirement community in Winston-Salem, North Carolina, providing residential, personal, and 
medical care to its residents. Arbor Acres Is accredited by the Commission on Accreditation of Rehabilitation 
Facillties-Continuing Care AccreditaUon Commission. 

In November 2018, Arbor Acres became the parent corporation and sole member of Arbor Acres Home Care, LLC 
("Home Care"). Home Care operations began during the year ended December 31, 2019, 

Basis of accounting and p1•esentation 

The accompanying consolidated financlal statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting and in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP). 

The Company classifies its net assets as net assets with or without donor restrictions: 

Net assets without donor restrictions - resources of the Company that are not restricted by donors or 
granters as to use or purpose. These resources Include amounts generated from operations, 
undes1gnated gifts, and the investment in property and equipment. 

Net assets with donor restrictions - resources that are subject to donor~lmposed restrictions. Some 
donor fmposed restrictions are temporary in nature, such as those satisfied by the passage of time or 
actions of the Company. other donor-Imposed restrictions stipulate that donated assets be maintained 
in perpetuity, but may permit the Company to use or axpend part or all of the Income derived from the 
donBted assets. 

PJ"inciplcs of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Arbor Acres and Home Care (collectively, "the 
Company"). All material intercompany accounts and transactions have bean eliminated in consolidation. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents, excluding those classlfied as Investments and assets whose use is limited, include cash 
in banks, cash on hand and Investments in highly liquid debt instruments with an original maturity of three months or 
less when purchased. The Company maintains its cash in bank accounts which, at times, may exceed federally 
depository insurance (F_DIC) limits. Management believes the credit risk associated with these deposits is minimal. 

Investments 

Investments In mutual funds, exchange traded funds, and fixed Income securities are measured at fa!r value based 
on quoted market prices. Investment in certain alternative Investments are recorded at net asset value. Net 
investment gain (loss) is reported in the consolidated statement of operations and consists of interest and Investment 
income, realized and unrealized gains and losses, less external investment expenses. See Note 3 for further 
discussion of fair value measurements. 

Beneficial interests in perpetual trusts are recorded when the Company is notified of the trust's existence and the 
necessary information to measure the interest is available. The arrangement Is recognized as a donor~restricted 
contribution to revenue and as an asset, measured at fair value. Annual distributions from the trust are reported as 
investment income. Unrealized gains and losses are Included in the change in net assets on the consolidated 
statements of operations and change in net assets. See Note 4 for further discussion of charitable trust 
arrangements. 
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Assets limited as to use 

Assets limited as to use primarily include assets designated by the Board of Directors for specific purposes, assets 
restricted by donors for future capttal improvements and resident assistance, assets limited under state statute and 
assets limited under trust agreements for debt service. 

North Carolina General Statute Chapter 58, Article 84, requires continuing care retirement communities to maintain 
an opernting reserve equal to a statutorily required percentage of total forecasted operating costs (less certain 
expenses) for a specific period. Th!s operating reserve Is not Board-controlled and cannot be used without the prior 
approval of the commissioner of the North Carolina Department of Insurance pursuant to GS § 58-64-33(c). At 
December 31, 2019 and 2018, this reserve totaled $7,281,500 and $7,248,639, respectively. 

Assistance endowment funds include donor restricted funds and amounts designated by the Board of Directors. The 
Company uses certain board designated net assets and the earnings from certain restricted net assets for assistance 
to residents. 

Fair value measurements 

Fair value as defined under GAAP is an exit price, representing the price that would be received to sell an asset or 
paid to transfer a liability In an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The 
Company utilizes market data or assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability. 
GAAP establlshes a three~tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used when measuring fair value. 
These tiers Include: Level 1, defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets; Level 2, defined 
as Inputs other than quoted prices !n active markets that are either directly or indirectly observable; and Level 3, 
defined as unobservable Inputs about which little or no market data exists, therefore requiring an entity to develop 
its own assumptions. 

The Company has adopted the provisions of the fair value option for financial assets and financial llabillties, which 
permit entities to choose to measure ellgible items at fair value at spedfied election dates. The fair value option (i) 
may be applied instrument by Instrument, with certain exceptions, (ii) Is irrevocable (unless a new election date 
occurs) and (iii) is applied only to entire instruments and not to portions of instruments, The Company elected the 
fair value option for investments and assets limited as to use, and as such these securities are treated as trading 
securities. Unrealized gains or losses are reported within the performance indicator, excess (deficit) of revenues 
over expenses. 

Accounts ,•eceivable 

Accounts receivable consists of resident accounts receivable, Medicare and other third party payers, and other 
miscellaneous receivable amounts. Accounts receivable are recorded at the amount management expects to collect. 

Property and equipment 

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Donated property is recorded at Its 
estimated fair value at the time of receipt. Interest on borrowings used to finance the facility is capitalized during 
construction. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method based on the following estimated useful lives: 

Land improvements 
Buildings 
Furniture and equipment 

46 

20 years 
1 Oto 40 years 
3 to 10 years 
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Rctil'ement Community, Inc. and Affiliate 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Debt issuance costs 

Debt Issuance costs include underwriter fees, feasibility studles, modification fees and other professlonal fees. Debt 
issuance costs have been recorded as a deduction against the related debt and are being amortized using the 
straight llne method over the lives of the various debt issues, which approximate amortization computed using the 
effective lnterest method, 

Refundable deposits 

Refundable deposits represent the portion of the payment of parking and golf cart fees that will be refunded to tbe 
resident when parking or golf carts are no longer required. 

Don01• 1•esh-ictions 

Gifts of cash and other assets are reported as restricted support if they are received with donor stipulations that llmit 
the use of the donated assets. When a donor restriction expires (that ls, when a stipulated time restriction ends or a 
purpose restriction is accomplished), net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor 
restrictions and reported In the consolidated statement of operations and changes in net assets as net assets 
released from restrictions. 

Gifts of property and equipment (or other long~lived assets) are reported as support without donor restrictions unless 
specific donor stlpulat1ons specify haw the donated assets must be used. Gifts of long-lived assets with explicit 
restrictions that specify how the assets are to be used and gifts of cash or other assets that must be used to acquire 
longMlived assets are reported as restricted support. Absent explicit donor stipulations about how long those assets 
must be maintained, expirations of donor restrictions are reported when the donated or acquired long-lived assets 
are placed in servlce. 

Obligation to pl'Ouidefuture services 

The Company annually calculates the present value of the net cost of future serv[ces and the use of facilities to be 
provided to current residents and compares that amount with the balance of deferred entrance fees. If this calculated 
value exceeds the deferred entrance fees, a liability is recorded, with a corresponding charge to income. The 
obligation is discounted at 5 percent based on management's estimate of interest earnings. At December 31, 2019 
and 2018, the calculated value did not exceed the balance of deferred entrance fees; therefore, no liability for the 
obllgation to provide future services is required to be recorded. 

Inte1•est rate swaps 

The Company utilizes interest rate swaps to manage the variability in Interest rates on Its variable rate debt. The 
Company accounts for its interest rate swaps under GA.AP, which requires companies to recognize all derivative 
Instruments as either assets or liabilities in the balance sheet at fair value, The accounting for changes in the fair 
value (i.e., gains or losses) of a derivative Instrument depends on whether It has been designated and qualifies as 
part of a hedging· relationship end, further, on the type of hedging relationship. For those derivative instruments that 
are designated and qualify as hedging instruments, a company must designate the hedging Instrument, based upon 
the exposure being hedged, as a fair value hedge, cash flow hedge, or a hedge of the foreign currency exposure of 
a net investment in a foreign operation. For derivative instruments not designated as hedging Instruments, the 
changes in fair value are recognized in excess (deficit) of revenue over expenses. The Company' interest rate swaps 
are not designated as a hedging instrument and the change in fair value is included in excess (deficit) of revenue 
over expenses. 

Income taxes 

The Company is exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3} of the Internal Revenue Code. Home 
Care is a limited liability company that has not elected to be taxed as a corporation under current Internal Revenue 
Cade (IRC) regulations. Home Care is wholly owned by Arbor Acres. As such, Home Care is considered a 
disregarded entity under current IRC regulations. 
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Based on the information above, the accompanying consolidated financial statements do not reflect a provision or 
liability for federal and state income taxes. The Company has determined that lt does not have any material 
unrecognized tax benefits or obligations as of December 31, 2019. 

Deferred revenue/rom enh•ance.fees 

Fees paid by a resident upon entering into a contract agreement are recorded as deferred revenue and amortized 
Into income using the straight-line method over the estimated remaining llfe expectancy of the resident, adjusted on 
an annual basis. The non-refundable portion of the entrance fee that is considered an application fee is recognized 
as income when the resident moves in. Subject to certain exceptions, entrance fees are initially refundable, but 
become non-refundable at the rate of two percent per month until becoming fully nan-refundable after 60 months. 
Upon receiving payment of an entrance fee from an acceptable substitute resident, the Company will refund to the 
resident, or to resident's estate, the applicable amount of refund owed. Total contractual refund obligations under 
existing contracts (that Is if all residents with a refundable balance were to have withdrawn) are $10,891,700 and 
$10,158,155 at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 

Statement of operations and changes in net asset's 

The cansolidated statements of operations include excess (deficit) of revenues over expenses. Changes in net 
assets which are excluded from excess (deficit) of revenues over expenses, consistent with industry practice, include 
contrlbutlons of long"lived assets (including assets acquired using contributions which by donor restriction were to 
be used for the purposes of acquiring such assets). The Company considers excess (deHcit) of revenues over 
expenses to be its performance indicator. 

Methods usedfor allocation of expenses among p1-ograms and supporting services 

The Company has presented a schedule of expenses by both function and nature in Note 15. The Company allocates 
expenses on a functional basis among its various programs and supporting services. The schedule of expenses In 
Note 15 reports certain categories of expenses that are attributable to one or more program or supporting services 
of the retirement community. These expenses Include food service, facilities service, and depreciation. Facilities 
service and depreciation are allocated based on square footage. Food service Is allocated based on occupancy. 

Residentfees 
Resident fees represent the estimated net realizable amounts from residents, third-party payors, and others for 
services rendered as further described In Note 2, 

Fi.nancial assistance 

The Company currently maintains a financial assistance program and policy for residents holdlng continuing care 
residency agreements in the event the resldent(s) should become unable to pay for services. The Company reserves 
the right to change the program and policy and does not guarantee future financial assistance. Since the Company 
does not expect to collect the normal charges for services provided for those residents who meet the financial 
assistance provisions, estimated charges for such assistance are not Included in revenue. The cost of the charity 
care provided by the Company Is based on the financial assistance that Is disclosed in Note 7. The cost of providing 
the financial assistance was approximately $1,775,000 in 2019 and $1,502,000 ln 2018. The cost is discounted by 
the operating margin percentage (operating revenues less realized gains/losses on investments divided by operating 
expenses), which calculated to be -0.75 percent for 2019 and 1.02 percent for 2018. The Company uses both board 
restricted funds and net assets with donor restrictions that are temporary in nature to provide financial assistance. 
The Company receives contributions In three main ways: through annual fundraising efforts, annual requests of 
outreach ministries, and estate donations. 

Use of estimates 
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make 
eslimates and ·assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and 
accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
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Reclaasification 

Certain 2018 amounts have been reclassified to conform to the 2019 presentation. One of the swaps at December 
31, 2018 was previously included In other liab!llties and is now Included in other assets. There was also a prepaid 
balance that was previously included in current assets that is now reflected In other long-term assets. 

New accounting p1·orwuncement 

During 2019, the Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB"} Accounting Standard 
Codification ('1ASCn) Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers ("ASC Topic 606") under the ful! 
retrospective approach applied to certain contracts using the practical expedient in paragraph 606-10-10-4 that 
allows for the use of a portfolio approach, as determined that the effect of applying the guidance to the portfolios of 
contracts within the scope of ASC Topic 606 the consolidated financial statements would not differ materially from 
applying the guidance to each individual contract within the respective portfolio or our performance obligations within 
that portfolio. The five-step modal defined by ASC Topic 606 requires: {1) identify our contracts with customers, (2) 
identify the performance obligations under those contracts, (3) determine ttie transaction prices of those contracts, 
(4) allocate the transaction prices to our performance obligations in those contracts and (5) recognize revenue when 
each performance obligation under those contracts is satisfied. Revenue is recognized when promised goods or 
services are transferred to the customer in an amount that reflects the consideration expected in exchange for those 
goods or services. The adoption of ASC Topic 606 did not result in an adjustment to net assets. 

The promised goods or seivices in the resident agreement ls that tha entity is standing ready each month to provide 
a service such that the resident can continue to live In the facility and access the appropriate level of care based on 
his or her needs, As such, the entity recognizes the nonrefundable entrance fee in an equal amount allocated to 
each month, given the nature of the entity's performance is that of having the various residential, social or health 
care services available to the resident on a when-and-if needed basis each month for as long as the resident resides 
In the facility. 

Upon adoption of ASC Topic 606, entities should evaluate costs associated with acquiring resident contracts to 
determine If they meet the requirements for capitalization under FASB ASC 340-40-25. Under FASB ASC 340-40~ 
25-2, the incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those that an entity Incurs to obtain a contract with a customer 
that it would not have incurred if the contract had not been obtained. Costs to obtain a contract that would have been 
incurred regardless of whether the contract was obtained shall be recognized as an expense when Incurred, unless 
those costs are explicitly chargeable to the customer regardless of whether the contract is obtained. The Company 
has not capitalized any costs associated with acquiring a resident contract. 

Subsequent events 

Subsequent events have been evaluated through February 26, 2020, which is the date the consolidated financial 
statements were available to be issued. 
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2.. Revenue Recognition 

The Company generates revenues, primarily by providing housing and health services to its residents. The following 
streams of revenue are recognized as follows: 

Monthly seJvicefees 

The contracts that residents select require an advanced fee and monthly fees based upon the type of accommodation 
they are applying for. Resident fee revenue for recurring and routine monthly services Is generally billed monthly In 
advance. Payment terms are usually due within 30 days. The services provided encompass social, recreaUonal, 
dining along with assisted living and nursing care and these performance obligations are earned each month. Under 
ASC Topic 606, management has determined that the performance obligation for the standing obligation to provide 
the appropriate level of care Is the predominate component and does not contain a lease component under ASC 
Topic 840. Resident fee revenue for non~routine or additional services are billed monthly in arrears and recognized 
when the service Is provided. 

Enh't1.ncefees 

The nonrefundable entrance fees are recognized as deferred revenue upon receipt of the payment and Included in 
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet until the performance obligations are satisfied. The refundable portion of 
an entrance fee is not considered part of the transaction price and as such is recorded as a liability in the consolidated 
balance sheet. Additionally, management has determined the contracts do not contain a significant financing 
component as the advanced payment assures residents the access to health care in the future. These deferred 
amounts are then amortized on a straight~line basis into revenue on a monthly basis over the life of the resident as 
the performance obligation is the material right associated with access to future services as described ln FASB ASC 
606-10-55 paragraph 42 and 51. 

Health care services 

In the facility, the Company provides assisted and nursing care to residents who are covered by government and 
commercial payers. The Community Is paid fixed daily rates from government payers. The fixed dally rates and other 
fees are bllled in arrears monthly. The monthly fees represent the most lfkely amount to be received from the 3rd 
party payors. Most rates are predetermined from Medlcare. 

Under ASC Topic 606, management has elected to utilize the portfolio approach In aggregating the revenues under 
these revenue streams. 

Private pay 
Medicare 
Total 

Private pay 
Medicare 
Total 

Independent 
Uv/ng 

$ 10,864,640 

$ 10 864 640 

Independent 
Ljyfng 

$ 10,302,772 

$ lQ 302 ZZ2 

Assisted 
Living 

$ 7,630,369 

$ 7 630 3§9 

Assisted 
Llvloa 

$ 8,007,767 

$ 8 OOZ Z6Z 
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December 31 2019 
Skilled Home 
Nursing Care Total 

$ 1,876,618 $ 366,428 $ 26,737,065 
426,640 4261840 

s 8 302 408 $ 366 428 $ 27163 895 

December 31 2018 
Skillad Home 
Nurstnq Cate Tgtal 

$ 7,979,143 $ $ 26,289,662 
4~4,141 4§4,141 

$ 8 463 28~ $ 26 ZZ3 823 
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3. Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities 

Prices for certain investments, such as mutual funds, exchange traded funds, and fixed income securities, are readily 
available in active markets in which those securities are traded thus the resulting fair values are categorized as Level 
1. Prices for Level 2 assets and liabllities are determined on a recurring basis based on Inputs readily available in 
public markets or can be derived from information available In publicly quoted markets. As further explained in Note 
4, the Company has a beneficial interest in a perpetual trust. The value of this trust is disclosed as level 3 in the fair 
value table below in accordance with GAAP and is valued at the market price of the underlying Investments. 

The Company invests In certain investments for which quoted prices are not available in active markets for identical 
instruments. The Company utilizes the net asset value (NAV) provided by the administrator of the fund as a practical 
expedient to estimate fair value, This practical expedient would not be used if it is determined to be probable that the 
fund wilt sell the investment for an amount different from the reported NAV. These investments are not required to 
be classified within a level on the fair value hierarchy. 

There were no changes during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 to the Company's valuation techniques 
used to measure asset and liability fair values on a recurring basis. 

Assets and liabilities are classified In their entirety based on the lowest level of input that Is significant to the fair 
value measurement. The Company's assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value 
measurement requires judgment, and may affect the valuation of fair value assets and !!abilities and their placement 
within the fair value hierarchy levels. The following table sets forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the 
Company's financ[al assets and liabilities accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2019 
and 2018: 

Investments: 
Mutual funds 
Exchange traded funds 
Fixed income securities 

Total investments in the fair value 
hierarchy 

Investments at NAV (a) 

Total Investments at fair value 

Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts 

Interest rate swaps, net 

Level1 

$26,411,813 
7.154.166 

91,343 

$ 33 657 322 

51 

Fair Value as of December 31. 2019 
Level2 Level3 

$ 

$ 2 481 849 

$ 

L 

$ 1 344 661 

$ 

Total 

$ 26.411,813 
7,154,166 

91,343 

$33,657,322 

6,487.462 

.$_40.144.784 

$ 1 344 661 

$ 2 481 849 
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Investments: 
Mutual funds 
Exchange traded funds 
Fixed lncome securities 

Total Investments In the fair value 
hierarchy 

Investments at NAV (a) 

Total investments at fair value 

Interest rate swaps, net 

Fair Value as of December 31, 2018 
Leve!..1.,_. Level 2 --1&Y!!]_3_ 

$ 20,482,562 $ $ 
2,243,332 

98 696 

Total 

$ 20,462,562 
2,243,332 

98 696 

22,824,590 

6 271167 

:IL 569 480 

(a) In accordance with Topic 820, certain investments that were measured at NAV per share (or its equivalent) 
have not been classified in the fair value hierarchy. The fair value amounts presented in this table are 
intended to permit reconciliation of the fair value hierarchy to the line items presented in the Balance Sheets, 

Mutual funds consist of the following at December 31, 2019: 19% large value, 24% intermediate-term bond, 12% 
shorHerm bond, 19% large growth, 15% foreign large growth, and 11% other. 

Mutual funds consist of the following at December 31, 2018: 24% large value, 18% short-term bond, 24% large 
growth, 18% foreign large growth, and 16% other. 

The Company has $426,656 and $4,559,094 of cash and cash equivalents lncluded In investments and assets 
limited as to use on the balance sheets at December 31, 2019 and 2016, respectively, which was not classified as 
a level as prescribed within the provision. 

The Company recognizes transfers between the levels as of the beginning of the reporting period. There were no 
gross transfers between the levels for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. 

The following table summarizes investments for Which fair value ls measured using the NAV per share practical 
expedient as of December 31, 2019 and 2018: 

Fair Value at Fair Value at Other Redemption 
December 31, Oecembor 31, Unfundod Redemption Notice 

2019 201a Commitments Restrictions Parjod 

European Equity Fund $ 1,362,917 $ 1,210,324 None Monthly 30 days 
Global Absolute Return Fund $ 1,219,655 $ 1,137,009 None Annually 90 days 
Real Property Fund $ 3,364,765 $ 3,462,362 None Quarterly 60 days 
Global Large Value Equity 
Fund $ 540,125 $ 461,472 None Quarterly 60 days 

The preceding mettiods described may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net realizable 
value or reflective of future values. Furthermore, although the Company believes its valuation methods are 
appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to 
determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result ln a different fair value measurement at the 
reporting date. 
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The following is a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of assets measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis classified as Level 3 during the years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018. 

Balance, beginning of year 
Purchases 
Unrealized gains (losses) 

4. Charitable Trust Arrangements 

Charitable Remaindm• 1'rust 

2019 

$ 

A charitable remainder trust provides the payment of distributions to the donor or other designated beneficiaries 
over the income beneficiaries' lifetimes. At the end of the trust's terms, the remaining assets are available for the 
Company's use as specified by the donor. 

A charitable remainder trust has named the Company the remainder beneficiary. The trust provides payments out 
of pr!ncipal which prevents the ablUty to measure the interest. No asset Is recorded in relation to the trust. 

Perpetual Trusts 

During 2019, the Company received Information that identified it is the beneficiary of perpetual trusts and 
subsequently recorded an asset for the beneficial interests and a corresponding donoMestricted contribution which 
is reflected on the consolidated statement of operations and changes in net assets, The Company will receive Income 
distributions from the perpetual trusts but will not receive the assets of these trusts. Distributions from the trusts are 
unrestricted. The beneficial interest in these perpetual trusts, recorded as donor-restricted net assets, was 
$1,344,661 at December 31, 2019. 

5. Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment consists of the following at December 31, 2019 and 2018: 

2019 2018 

Land and improvements $ 13,086,142 $ 13,137,119 
Buildings 132,808,489 134,845,190 
Furniture and equipment 10,090,000 11,524,118 
Construction in progress 2,653,799 1,074,280 

158,638,430 160,580,707 
Accumulated depreciation (69,363,098) (69 626 293) 

$ Q~ 2Zfi 332 i 9• 95HH 
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6. Long-Term Debt 

Long-term debt consists of the following at December 31, 2019 and 2018: 

2019 
Construction loan payable to a commercial bank, with total available 
principal of $10,000,000 due July 2025 at a variable rate of 1.15% 
plus the 30-day LJBOR; quarterly principal payments began April 
2017; collateralfzed by real and personal property, Loan was paid 
off in September 2019 In conjunction with debt refinancing. $ 

Taxable loan payable to a commercial bank, with a total available 
principal of $8,450,000 due September 2034 at a variable rate of 
1.15% plus the 30-day LIBOR (2.942% at December 31, 2019); and 
reset monthly with a fixed interest rate swap with a rate of 2.865%, 
monthly principal payments began October 2019; collaterallzed by 
real and personal property. 8,335,907 

Series 2010 Health Care Facllit!es First Mortgage Revenue Bonds at 
variable rate of 79% of one month LIBOR plus 1.0854% in 2019 and 
82.646% of one month LIBOR plus 1.044% in 2018 and reset 
monthly with a fixed interest rate swap with a rate of 3.333% in 2019 
and 3.455% in 2018 on the outstanding principal balance (See Note 
12); monthly payments of $50,000 to $240,000 due January 1, 2038. 

24,700,000 

Series 2016 Health Care Facilities First Mortgage Revenue Bonds at 
variable rate of 79% of one month LIBOR plus 0.948% In 2019 and 
82.646% of one month LIBOR plus 1.027% in 2018 and reset 
monthly with a fixed interest rate swapwlth a rate of 2.914% in 2019 
and 3.045% In 2018 on the outstanding principal balance (See Note 
12); monthly payments of $69,000 to $92,000 due January 1, 2031. 

10,787,000 

43,822,907 
Current maturities (1,922,000) 
Bond issuance costs (703,738) 

s 41 '.19Z 169 

2018 

$ 7,700,000 

25,250,000 

11,61 z,ooo 
44,567,000 
(1,805,000) 

/684 237) 

!Ii 42 QZZ 263 

The Series 201 O and 2016 bonds bear interest payable monthly on the amount of bond proceeds outstanding. The 
bonds are secured by a pledge of future revenues and substantially all of the property and equipment of the 
Company. The trust indentures and loan agreements underlying the Series 2010 and Series 2016 bonds contain 
certain covenants and restrictions. The Company was not in compliance with one covenant as the Company 
exceeded the threshold on certain capital expenditures in 2019. However, the Company has obtained a waiver for 
this covenant for 2019. 

In June 2015, the Company entered Into a construction loan in the emount of $9,000,000 wlth a commercial bank to 
provide financing for the renovation of the skilled nursing facility, Fitzgerald Place. In 2016, the loan was modified to 
allow for up to $10,000,000. The Company Is required to meet certain debt covenants with this note payable. The 
note was paid off in September 2019 in conjunction with debt refinancing, 

In September 2019, the Company entered into a taxable loan in the amount of $8,450,000 with a commercial bank 
to refinance a constructlon loan and finance renovations. The bank made available an interest rate swap for the 
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purpose of hedging the variable interest rate risk. The loan and obligations arising under the swap agreement wl!I be 
secured by the Master Trust Indenture, 

Annual prlncipal maturities of long-term debt are as follows: 

2020 
2021 
2022 
2023 
2024 
Thereafter 

$ 1,922,000 
2,009,000 
2,047,000 
2,143,000 
2,173,000 

33,528,907 

$ 43 822 907 

The Company has a revolving line of credit with a bank in the amount of $3,000,000. lntarast Is payable monthly at 
a rate of one-month UBOR index plus 1.25 percent and is secured by a deed of trust. There was no balance 
outstanding as of December 31, 2019. The line of credit expires in December 2021. 

7. Net Assets w:ith Donor Restrictions 

Net assets with donor restrictions that are temporary in nature consist of the following at December 31, 2019 and 
2018: 

2019 2018 

Financial assistance $ 1,8621808 $ 983,720 
Capital campaign 30,560 266,091 
Other 242.033 276141 

I 2135 401 L_____1 020 902 

Net assets were released from donor restrictions by incurring expenses satisfying the restricted purposes or by 
occurrence of other events specified by donors as follows for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018: 

Financial assistance 
Other 

Net assets released from restrictions-operating 
Net assets released from restrlctlons-capital 

$ 

2019 

1;239,279 
124.919 

1,364,198 
___ 158.518 

$ 1 522 716 

$ 

$ 

2018 

1,201,858 
171 499 

1,373,357 
1 291 200 

2 664 5Jil 
Net assets with donor restrictions that stipulate assets be held in perpetuity consist of the following at December 31, 
2019 and 2018: 

Assistance endowment 
Swimming pool endowment 
Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts 

55 

$ 

$ 

2019 

7,570,807 
500,000 

1.344.661 

9 415.46.ll 

2018 

$ 7,441,457 
500,000 

$ Z 941.457 
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8. Endowment Funds 

The Company's endowment was organized to provide financial assistance to the residents of the Company In the 
event the resldent(s) become unable to pay for services, and to help provide maintenance to the swimming pool. 
The Company's endowment funds include donor-restricted funds and board designated funds classified as net 
assets without restrictions. As required by generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America, 
net assets associated with endowment funds, including funds designated by the Board of Directors to function as 
endowments, are classified and reported based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions. 

lnterp,•etation ofreleuant law 

The Board of Directors of the Company has Interpreted the North Carolina Uniform Prudent Management of 
Institutional Funds Act (the Act) as requiring the preservatlon of the fair value of the original gift as of the gift date of 
the donor-restricted endowment funds absent explicit donor stipulations to the contrary. As a result of this 
interpretation, the Company has classified as perpetually restricted net assets (a) the original value of gifts donated 
to the perpetual endowment, (b} the original value of subsequent gifts to the perpetual endowment, and (c) 
accumulatlons to the perpetual endowment made in accordance with the direction of the applicable donor gift 
Instrument at the time the amount Is added to the fund, The remaining portion of the donor-restricted endowment 
fund that Is not classified in perpetually restricted net assets is classified as with donor restrictions until those amounts 
are appropriated for expenditure by the Company in a manner consistent with the standard of prudence prescribed 
by the Act. In accordance with the Act, the Company considers the following factors in making a determination to 
appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds: 

1. The duration and preservation of the fund 

2. The purposes of the organization and the donor-restricted endowment fund 

3. General economic conditions 

4. The possible effect of Inflation and deflation 

5. The expected total return from income and the appreciation of Jnvestments 

6. The Investment policies of the Company 

Rehtrn objectiues and riskpm•ameters 

The Company has adopted Investment and spending policles for endowment assets that are intended to provide an 
ongoing stream of funding for financial assistance that is supported by the endowment. Endowment assets include 
assets of donor-restricted funds that the organization must hold in perpetuity as well as board~designated funds. 
Under this policy, as approved by the Board, the endowment assets are invested in a manner that is Intended to 
produce a high level of total investment return consistent with a prudent level of portfolio risk. The Company expects 
its endowment funds, over time, to provide an average rate of return of approximately 4.5 percent annually. Actual 
returns in any given year may vary from thls amount. 

Strategies employcdf01· achieving objectiues 

To satisfy its long-term rate-of-return objectlves, the Company relies on a total return strategy in which investment 
returns are achieved through both capital appreciation (realized and unreallzed) and current yield (interest and 
dividends). The Company targets a diversified asset allocation that includes fixed income instruments and equityR 
based investments to achieve its long-term return objectives within prudent risk constraints. Investments are 
rebalanced quarterly in order to maintain the desired asset allocation mix. 
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Spending policy ant1 how tho investment objectives ,·elate to the spending policy 

The Company's policy is to appropriate for distribution the accumulated income and appreciation up to 4.5 percent 
of the trafling three calendar year end average market balance. In establishing this policy, the Company considered 
the long-term expected return on its endowment. Accordingly, over the long term, the Company expects the current 
spending policy to allow its endmvrnent to grow at an average of 4.5 percent annually. The exception to this policy 
would be that if the accumulated income and appreciation of the donor restricted endowment is less than 4,5 percent 
of the trailing three calendar year-end average market balance, the funds necessary to support the annual financial 
assistance would be tal<en from the board designated portion of the endowment fund. In this way, the principal of 
the donor restricted endowment is preserved. This is consistent with the Company objective to maintain the 
purchaslng power of the endowment assets held In perpetuity or for a specified term as well as to provide addition al 
real growth through new gifts and investment return. 

Changes in endowment net assets for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 

Without Donor With Donor 
Restrictions Restrictions Total 

Endowment net assets 
December 31, 2017 $ 6,174,705 $ 9,192,689 $15,367,394 
Contributions 299,878 299,878 
Investment earnings 149,283 235,664 384,947 
Net depreciation (427,814) 
Appropriation of endowment 

(569,171) (996,985) 

assets for expenditure (258,535) 1386 465) (645 000) 

Endowment net assets 
December 31, 2018 5,637,639 8,772,595 14,410,234 

Contributions 129,350 129,350 
Investment earnings 141,719 201,597 343,316 
Net appreciation 799,257 1,132,629 1,931,886 
Appropriation of endowment 
assets for expenditure (230.415) (374,165) (604,580) 

Endowment net assets 
December 31, 2019 l.§.348 200 $ 9 862 006 $16 210 206 

9, Employee Benefits 

The Company's employees may particlpate in the Cumulative Pension and Benefit Fund and the Tax-Deferred 
Annuity Contributions Program defined contribution retirement plans of the General Board of Pensions of The United 
Methodist Church. These plans cover all employees who elect to participate the first of the month following their 
employment, as determined at enrollment dates each month. Following the first of the month after one year of 
employment, the Company conditionally contributes 6 percent of regular earnings for all eligible participating 
employees who contribute at least 3% of regular earning to the plan. Company contributions for the years ended 
December 31, 2019 and 2018 were approximately $475,000 and $454,000, respectively, 
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10. Professional Liability Coverage 

The Company has an insurance policy for possible litigation in the ordinary course of business related to professlonal 
liability clalms. Management believes that claims, If asserted, would be settled within the limits of coverage, which is 
on a claims~made basis. Should the Company not renew Its clalms~made policy, or replace it with equivalent 
insurance, occurrences incurred during its term but asserted after Its expiration would be uninsured, unless the 
Company obtains tail coverage. No claims were outstanding at year~end and the Company has made no accrual for 
unasserted claims, 

11. Fair Value of Financial lnstrun1ents 

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and other assets approximate fair value. 
Investments, assets limited as to use, beneflcial interests In trusts and the interest rate swaps are reported at fair 
va!ue as of the date of the consolidated financial statements. See Note 3 for more information relating to the fair 
value of investments1 assets limited as to use and the Interest rate swaps. 

The carrying amounts of accounts payable1 accrued expenses, accrued interest payable and other accrued and 
long-term liabilities approximate fair value. The carrying amount of the 201 O series and 2016 series bonds and the 
taxable loan payable approximates fair value as they contain variable Interest rates. 

12. Interest Rate Swap Agreements 

In December 2013, the Company entered into an Interest rate swap agreement with an original notional amount of 
$18,500,000. The original swap terminated December 2028 and effectively fixed the variable interest rate of 
approximately 67 percent of the Series 2010 Bonds at 3.36 percent, modified to 2.86 percent in 2016. 

In December 2018, the Company entered into an Interest rate swap agreement with an original notional amount of 
$13,159,000 ('Swap"). The original swap expired January 2031 and effectively fixes the variable interest rate of the 
Series 2016 Bonds at 2.46 percent. 

On February 13, 2018, the Company entered into amendments to the existing swaps described above. The impact 
to the swap covering the Series 201 O Bonds Increased the rate to 3.46 percent and increased the notional from 
approximately 67 percent of the outstanding bonds to 100 percent of the outstanding bonds. The impact to the swap 
covering the Series 2016 Bonds Increased the rate to 3.05 percent. The amendments were entered into after the 
impact of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act lncreased the variable rates of the related bonds and to fix the Interest rate on 
a larger portion of the Company's long-term Indebtedness. The amendments became effective February 1, 2016. 

On June 26, 2019, the Company entered into amendments to the existing swaps described above. The impact to 
the swap covering the Series 2010 Bonds decreased the rate to 3.33 percent and extended the termination date 
through December 1, 2037. The impact to the swap covering the Series 2016 Bonds decreased the rate to 2.91 
percent The amendments became effective July 1, 2019. 

In September 2019, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement with an original notional amount of 
$8,450,000. The swap expires September 2034 and effectively fixes the variable interest rate of the 2019 
construction loan at 2.866 percent. 

The fair value of the Company's Interest rate swaps are reported as a long-term asset or liability in the consolidated 
balance sheets. The change in fair value of the interest rate swaps are included in excess (deficit) of revenues over 
expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and changes !n net assets. 
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Absent an early termination, subsequent changes in the interest rate swaps w/11 continue to be reflected in excess 
{deficit) of revenues over expenses, which has no cash flow impact to the Company. The cash fiow settlements of 
the interest rate swap agreements are reflected annually in interest expense as the Company pays interest to the 
swap counter~party at the rates noted above. 

13. Health Insm·ancc Plan 

In 2019, the Company established a self-funded employee health insurance plan administered by a third party. The 
plan is funded by employee and employer contributions and is available to all full-time staff. The costs of the plan 
are comprised of expected net claims, insurance premiums to acquire apeciflc stop loss coverage and claims 
administration fees. Claims In excess of the stop-loss limit of $100,0000 are funded by insurance coverage. The 
Company has estimated and recorded amounts for the self-Insurance portion of this arrangement. Plan costs 
incurred by the Company were approximately $1,793,000 for the year ended December 31, 2019, which include an 
estimate for claims incurred but not reported of approximately $350,000 as of December 31, 2019. 

14. Liquidity and Availability 

As part of 1ts l!quldity management, the Company has a policy to structure its financial assets to be ava11able as its 
general expenses, liabilities, and other obligations come due. In addition, the Company invests cash in excess of 
daily operating funds in short-term Investments such as treasury bills, certificates of deposit, and money market 
funds, 

The following schedule reflects the Company's financial assets to meet cash needs for general expenses within one 
year. The financial assets were derived from the total assets on the consolidated balance sheets by excluding the 
assets that are unavailable for general expenses in the next 12 months, Board designated amounts for capital 
projects have been included In the schedule be!ow as the board could release these funds for liquidity purposes if 
needed. 

The Company also has the ability to draw down on a $3,000,000 line of credit if needed (as discussed in Note 6), 

The Company seeks to maintain suffident liquid assets to cover 30 to 45 days of operating and capita! expenses. 

Asset Categories 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Accounts receivable 
Investments and assets limited as to use 
Less: operating reserve 
Less: board desfgnated funds for assistance endowment 
Less: bond trustee funds 
Less: donor restricted funds for resident assistance, endowment 

and other purposes 
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$ 

i 

2019 

3,289,587 
638,870 

40,571,440 
(7,281,600) 
(6,348,200) 

(91,343) 

{10,175,648) 

20 603,206 

2018 

$ 3,610,532 
342,371 

33,641,644 
(7,248,639) 
(5,637,639) 

(98,696) 

(9,201,316) 

$ 15408257 
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Cormnunity, Inc. and.Affiliate 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

The following: is a schedule of expenses by both function and nature for the year ended December 31, 2019; 

Program Ser,,ici,,. 

lnaepende11t Assismd Living Skilled Nursing Home care Tota! 

Salaries and Clenellts ' 4,109,507 s 4,510,079 5,858,614 462,776 14,940,S76 
Medic:aJ and peisonal care 304,428 48,160 647,212 27,726 !127,526 
Food servkes 845,976 400,416 320,664 1,687,()56 
Fadities servicas 1,464,264 385,965 432,144 2,2B2)173 
Utilities 581,712 463,045 332,950 1,377,707 
Adminisrraijon 

Marketing and development 

Deprllciation 4,801,905 1,583,980 753,845 7,139,830 
lmerest 349,311 890,307 265,974 1,505,592 

Total e;,cpenses Jnclude.d in 1he 

expenses section on lhe 

conso"daled s!alement of 
operatJans and changes 

in nelassets ' 12,557,103 ' 8,281,952 ' 8,511,503 ' 490,502 ' 29,!41.060 

The following is a schedule of expenses by both function and nature for the year ended December 31, 2018: 

Program Services Administrative 
Independent A!isiali!d Living Skilled Nursing To,,< and General 

Sala~ and benefils s 3,751.08• ' 4,.528,'678 ' 5,8'.!5,547 14,115,305 ' 2,046,138 
Medi,;;:iland personal care 186,91S 173,560 485,796 856,275 
Food services 1,•2B,938 285,103 234,405 1,54B,446 
Facilities servi= 1,444,232. 344,292 442,042 2.230,568 1-4,364 
Uffli!E:s 593,004 459,180 334,185 1.386,341< 
AdminlS!t'alion 1,699,135 
Marlo:eling and development 

Deprecia~0t1 4,523,798 1,492,242 71• ,279 6,726,317 4B.761 
lrtlerast 37B,383 914.812 293,350 1,588.545 

Unrealil:ed loss fram int,.,:r,.,sr. rate swaps 

expenses sectioli on !he 

eonsolidated slatemenl of 
operallo11s and changes 

in net assets 11,918,352 B.197,13'17 • B,335,804- 28,449,803 s S.808,396 

Administrative Markelin,g 

and General and F1mdraislng Total 

2,313,463 s SSS,016 17,850,455 

927,526 
1,667,D56 

14,364 2,296,737 

1,377,707 
1,453,654 1,453,654 

307,880 307,SB.O 
51,758 7,191,588 

1,506,592 

' 3,833,239 ' 903,895 ; 34,578,195 

Milrketing 

and Fundraising Tota! 

568,204 ' 18,729,645 

856,275 

1 .548.446 

2,244,93• 
1,386.349 
1,699,135 

282,0S9 282,039 
6.775,078 

1,588,545 

• 850.243 • 33,108,442 
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Arbor Acres United MethodlstRetb•cment Community, Inc, end Affilil\tc 
Cousolldating Dnlanee Sheet 
Decim1ber 31, 2019 

ASSETS Arbor Acrns Home Caro Ellmlnatrons Total 
Current assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents 3,120,876 • 168,709 • 3,289,587 
lnvestrrwnls 14,154,736 14,15<1,736 
Accounts recolvable 583,368 55,502 636,870 
Current portfon or uncondlllonal promises to give, net 30,560 30,560 
Prepaid expanses 376,378 378,376 
Dua from Home Care 377,846 (377,846) 
Currant portion of assel.9 limltad as to use 91,343 91,343 

Total current assots ___ 18,735111 224,211 (377,848) 1S,581 474 

Non-current assets: 
Assets limited as lo use: 

Board designated for: 
Assistance endowment 6,346,200 6,348,200 
Capital projects 2,520,013 2,520,013 

Donor reslficted for: 
Resident assistance 71,609 71,609 
Assistance endowment 9,362,006 9,362,006 
Other specific: purposas 742,033 742,033 

Operating reserve requirement 7,281,600 7,281,500 
Bond trustee 91,343 91,343 

T o!al assets llmited as to use 26,416,704 28,418,704 
Less: current portion (91,3431. (91,343) 

Total assets limited as to use, Jess current portion 26,325,381 26,325,381 

Benafic!al i11temsl In parpeluaJ tn1sts 1,344,661 1,344,861 
lnvestmenl ln Home Care 111,946 (111,946) 
Other long.term ossets 9,117 111,946 121,063 
Interest rate swap asset 25,869 25,089 
Pruperty and equipment, net 89 275,332 69 275,332 

117092,108 111,946 (111,946) 117,092,106 

Total assets • 135 827 217 • 336,157 ' (489,794) 135!6731580 

(continued) 
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Arbor /\.crcs United M~thodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate 
Co1111otidati11g Dalnnce Sheet 
December 31, 2019 (conlinucd) 

UABILIIIES AND NET ASSETS Arbor Acres Home Care ~lnation9 Tola\ 

Currant liabilil!as: 
Accounts payable $ 1,104,043 ' • $ 1,104,0'13 

Accrued expenses 1,105,133 6,437 1,111,570 

Accrued Interest payable 90,093 96,083 

Estimated refundable entrance rees 379,540 :ml,540 

Due to Arbor Acms 377,848 (377,848) 

Gurfent maturities of long-term debl 1,922,000 1,922,000 

Total current liabilities 4 606 !!09 3!!4,265 j377,648) 4613 246 

Long-term liabilities: 
Refundable deposits 64,360 ll4,360 

Deferred revenue from entranco loes 32,62!!,558 32,628,558 

Long-term dEJbl, less current maturities 41,197,160 41,197,169 

Llablllty for interest rate swaps 2,507,538 2,50'1538 

Total long-term liabilities 76,385,625 78,365,625 

Total llab/litles 80,992,434 384,285 (377,848) 60 996 671 

Net assol5: 
Without donor rostrlctlons 43,283,814 (48,128) (111,846) 43,123,8'10 

With do11or restrictions 11 550,869 11,550,869 

Total netasselS 54,834,783 (48,120) (111.9'16) 54,074,709 

Total llabUnle& and net assets $ 135,827,217 336,157 (469,794) $ 135,673,580 
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Arbor Ae1'e/i United Methodist ReLl~mcntCommuniLY, Inc. und Affiliate 
Consolidating s111tentcnt ofOpct•atlom1 
Ycnr Ended December 31, 2.019 

ArborAcros HomQ Cue 

Revenue, gelns, and other suppcHl: 
Conlfihutlons • 480,455 
Resident foos 26,797,461 
Home Care revenue 366.420 
Entrunca f11us enrned 5,648,279 
Investment lnoorrw, nut 111,766 
Olher 162,925 
Nat assele released from restrlcUDOs ___ 1,364,190 

ro,al revenue, gains, arid olher 
support 35,071,090 366,420 

Expenses: 
MedlCBI and puraonal care 7,563,386 
F(md Sll1Vlc11 5,049,401 
Faclllly se1V)cea 5,369,650 
UUl!0es 1,371,707 
Rnsldeat services 1,386,260 
Admlnlslratlcn 3,170,530 
Human resources 569,"/83 
Home Garo e11penses 526,502 
Marketln11 and developmonl 903,896 
DepreclaUOl'l 7,191,588 
lnlerest 1505592 

Total axpensell 34 087,693 526,502 

Operating Income 983,397 (160.074) 

Non•oporaUng rewnuo (wcpenses): 
Los$ one~tlngulst1ment c:,f debt {42,191) 
loss on disposal of properly (731,488) 
Net niali:md gain on lnveslmanta 1,840,11110 
Unrnallzed loss from lnleresl rate 

swaps {1,912,369} 
Net unrealized gein on fnv11st1nen1s 1,702,383 

EJ1C11ss (doffdl) of rellftnues owr explll'ls11s 1,840,722 {160,074! 

63 

Consolidated 
Eflmlnatlons Tot~J 

480,455 
26,797,467 

368,428 
6,5411,210 

717,766 
{36,000) 126,925 

1,364,1911 

(36,000) 3M01,516 

7,563,386 
li,049,401 
5,369,660 
1,377,707 
1,3116,2.60 
3,170,530 

589,783 
{36,000) 490,502 

903,696 
7,1£11,5118 
1 505,592 

(36,000) 34,578195 

823,323 

(42,191) 
{731,488) 

1,640,990 

(1,1112,36!!1 
1,702,3113 

1,1180,848 
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. 
Consolidated Bala.nee Sheets 

March 31, 2020 and 2019 

ASSETS (Unaudited) (Unaudited) 

2020 2019 
Current Assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,133,871 $ 3,664,998 

Investments 11,570,633 10,839,419 

Accounts receivable, net 625,924 321,903 
Current portion of campaign pledges receivable 30,060 242,942 

Prepaid expenses 186,517 4,985 

Total Current Assets 16,646,005 15,074,247 

Non•current assets: 
Assets llmited as to use: 

Board designated for: 
Assistance endowment 5,518,558 6,027,167 

Capital projects 2,520,013 2,520,013 

Donor restricted for: 
Assistance endowment 8,197,912 8,780,272 

Other specific purposes 743,426 753,045 

State operating reserve requlrement 7,281,500 7,248,63;;;1 

Total assets limited as to use 24,261,409 25,329,136 

Campaign pledges receivable, net of current portion 6,849 

Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts 1,344,661 

other long~term assets 121,063 121,063 

Property and equipment, net 88,571,603 ;;JO 569,812 

Tola! non--current assets 114,290,736 116,026,860 

TOTAL ASSETS $ 130,844,741 $ 131,101,107 

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 

Current liabilities: 
Accounts payable $ 1,246,165 $ 604,739 

Accrued expenses 1,407,446 1,151,431 

Current maturities of long•lerm debt 1,922,000 1,805,000 

Estimated refundable entrance fees 379,540 375,458 

Total current Jiabllitles 4,955,151 3,936,628 

Long-term liabilities: 
Refundable deposits 64,360 51,463 

Deferred revenue from entrance rees 32,734,987 32,068,279 

Long-term debt, less current maturities 40,809,063 41,538,801 

Interest rate swap liability 6,447,257 1,188,946 

Total long term liabilities 79,045,667 74,0~7,489 

Tolal Uablllties 84,800,818 78,784,117 

Net Assets 
Without donor restrictions 36,727,367 42,473,457 

With donor restrictions 1 D,316,556 9,843,533 

Total Net Assets 46,043,923 52,316,990 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS $ 130,844,741 $ 131,101,107 
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes In Net Assets 

For the Three Month, Ended March 31, 2020 with Comparative Totals for 2019 

2020 (Unaudited) 
Without Donor With Donor 2010 

Revenue, gains and other support Restrictions Restrictions Total (Unaudited) 
Contributions $ 45,436 $ 117,314 $ 162,750 $ 123,386 
Resident fees 7,097,077 7,097,077 6,588,538 
Continuing care services without lodging 44,933 44,933 18,185 
Entrance fees earned 1,165,625 1,155,525 1,384,090 
Home care fees 173,653 173-,853 40,508 
Investment Income 126,892 35,875 162,767 135,534 

Olher revenue 42,932 42,932 37,650 
Net assets released from reistrfctlons 279,157 (279,157) 

Total rovenue, gains and other support 8,965,605 (126,968) 8,839,637 8,337,891 

Expanses 
Medlcal and personal care 1,811,773 1,811,773 1,880,298 
Food service 1,267,896 1,287,898 1,167,899 
Facility services 1,356,173 1,356,173 1,331,769 
Utllltles 320,558 320,558 337,326 
Resident services 337,496 337,496 347,871 
Admfnlslralion 891,407 891,407 718,476 
Human resources 92,658 92,658 134,260 
Marketing & development 226,323 226,323 203,327 
Continuing care services without lodglng 
Home care services 180,568 180,668 85,661 
Depreciation 1,834,199 1,834,199 1,769,102 
Interest e;,cpense 359,606 359,606 386,276 

Total expenses 8,678,657 8,678,657 8,362,257 

Operating income (loss) 286,948 (125,968) 160,980 (24,366) 

NonMoperating revenue (oxpensos): 
Gain Qoss) on disposal of property (16,997) (16,997) (107,889) 
Net realized gain (loss) on investments (389,969) (123,665) (613,634) 79,735 
Unrealized gain (loss) from Interest rate swap (3,965,408) (3,965,408) (619,466) 
Net unrealized gain (loss) an investments (3,311,047) (984,TT9) (4,295,826) 2,238,878 

Excess (deficit) of revenues over expenses (7,396,473) (1,234,312) (8,630, 785) 1,564,892 

Other changes in net assets: 

Net assets released from restrictions M capital 

Change in net assets (7,396,473) (1,234,312) (8,830,785) 1,564,892 

Net assets, beginning 43,123,840 11,650,888 64,674,708 50,752,098 

Net assets, ending $ 35,727,367 $ 10,316,556 $ 46,043,923 $ 52,316,990 
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Arbor Acres United Methodist A.otlrement Community, Inc.. 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 

(Unaudited) (Unaudited) 

2020 2019 

Cash flows from oporatlng activities 
Change In net assets $ (8,630,785) $ 1,564,802 

Adjustments to reconcile change in net 
assets to net cash provided by operating activities 

Depreciation 1,834,199 1,769,102 

Loss on disposal of assets 18,997 107,889 

Realized & unrealized (gain) loss on Investments 4,809,360 (2,316,613) 

Contributions restricted for Jong-term Investment (7,316) (33,038) 

Entrance fees received 1,307,680 1,886,123 

Amortization of entrance fees 11,165,525) (1 ,384,090) 

Amortization of deferred costs 11,986 12,037 

Unrealized (gain) loss on interest rate swop 3,966,408 619,466 

Change In operating assets and liabilities 
Accounts receivable 12,947 20,468 

Campaign receivables 500 16,300 

Prepaid expenses and deposits 190,580 312,348 

Accounts payable 142,120 (473,538) 

Accrued expenses 199,764 197,697 

RefundEl.ble Deposils 0 4,000 

Net cash provlded by operating activities 2,697,935 2,302,945 

Cash flows from lnVe9tlng activities 

Acquisition of property and equipment (1,147,966) (1,492,391) 

(Increase) decrease in assets limited as to use 2,165,296 (648,331) 

Purchase of investments, net (2,225,250) 438,033 

Proceeds from disposal of propert'f and equipment 500 
Net cash used In investing activities (1,217,428) !1.702,689) 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Payments for long.term debt (600,092) (550,999) 

Entrance fee refund$ (43,728) (27,826) 

Contributions restricted for long•term investment 7,316 33,006 

Net cash provided by (U9ed In) financing actlvltlee !636,502) !545,789) 

Increase (decrease) In cash and cash equivalents 844,005 54,467 

Beginning balance, cash and ca9h equivalents 3,289,866 3,610,531 

Ending balance, cash and cash equivalents $ 4,133,871 $ 3,664,998 
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ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC. 
AND AFFILIATE 
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DHG 
DIXON HUGHES GOODMAN 1.tr 

Independent Accountnnts' Compilation Report 

Board of Directors 
Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate 
Winston-Salem, North Carolina 

191 Peachtree Streat NE 
Suite 2700 
Atlanta, GA 30303 
P 404.575.8900 
F 404.575.8870 
dhg.com 

Management of Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. (the 
1'Corporation") and Arbor Acres Home Care, LLC (the "Affiliate") is responsible for the 
accompanying forecasted consolidated balance sheets, related statements of operations and 
changes in net assets and statement of cash flows as of and for each of the five years ending 
December 31, 2024, and the related summaries of significant assumptions and rationale in 
accordance with guidelines for the presentation of a financial forecast established by the 
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("AJCPA"). 

The accompanying forecast and this report were prepared to comply with the requirements of 
North Carolina General Statutes, Chapter 58, Article 64. They should not be used for any other 
pwpose. 

We have performed a compilation engagement in accordance with Statements on Standards for 
Accounting and Review Services promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services 
Committee of the AICP A We did not examine or review the consolidated financial forecast 
nor were we required to perform a11y procedures to verify the accuracy or completeness of the 
information provided by management of the Corporation and the Affiliate. Accordingly, we do 
not express an opinion, a conclusion, or provide any fom1 of assurance on this consolidated 
financial forecast. 

There will usually be differences between the forecasted and actual results, because events and 
circumstances frequently do not occur as expected, and those differences may be material. 

We have no responsibility to update this report for events and circumstances occurring after the 
date of this report. 

Atlanta, Georgia 
May 27, 2020 
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ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC. 
AND AFFILIATE 

Forecasted Consolidated Statements of Operations 
For Each of the Five Years Ending December 31, 

(in thousm1ds of dollars) 

2020 2021 2022 2023 

Revenues: 
Indepentlenl living resKlent fees $ J0,591 $ 10,816 $ 11,141 $ 

1-Icalthcore resident fees 18,449 19,005 19,575 

Advantage progmm fees 184 314 451 

Home care revenues 513 944 972 

Enlnmcc foes earned 5,200 5,200 5,200 

Financial assistance (1,675) (1,720) (1,763) 

Conhibulions 330 330 330 

Investment income 745 1,321 1,355 

0~1er 127 Bl 135 

Ncl assets released from restriction - opcrnlins; 806 806 806 

Total revenues, gains, 1md other suppmi 35,270 37,147 38,202 

Expenses: 
Medico\ and personal cure ' 7,921 $ 8,159 8,404 $ 

Food service 5,00I 5,148 5,302 

Ho11sekeep.ing 1,954 2,009 2,069 

Lmmdry 224 231 238 

Maintenance 2,161 2,224 2)90 

Properties devekipmenl 1,054 1,086 1,118 

Utilities 1,437 1,480 1,525 

Resident servi:es 1,458 1,501 1,546 

Advantage program 81 81 

Home care 546 1,123 1,157 

AdJ.nini.9tration 3,477 3,581 3,689 

HU1111n resources 549 565 582 

Marketing ;m<l development 1,071 1,104 1,137 

Amortiz.ation 48 4' 48 

Depreciation 7,500 7,769 8,051 

Interest 1,368 1,323 1)60 

Totctl cxpc11~es 35,772 37,432 38,499 

Operating income $ (502) $ (285) $ (297) $ 

Guin (loos) on disE!:!snl of l.?!O~e!!l'. (400) (40!!) (4~)) 

Chauge in net assets without donor rcstrictio!l!i $ (902) $ (685)$ (697) $ 

See accompanying Independent Accountants' Compilation Report and 
Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions and Rationale 
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11,475 $ 

20,162 
525 

1,001 
5,200 

(1,808) 
330 

l,379 
139 
806 

39,209 

8,656 $ 
5,461 
2,131 

245 
2,359 
1,152 
1,570 
1,593 

85 
1,191 
3,799 

600 
1,171 

48 
8,351 
1,196 

39,(-08 
(399) $ 

(400) 
(799) $ 

2024 

11,819 
21.l,767 

54{) 

1,m1 
5,200 

(1,855) 
330 

1,409 
143 
806 

40,190 

8,915 
5,625 
2,195 

252 
2,430 
1,[86 
1,617 
1,641 

88 
l,227 
3,913 

618 
1)06 

48 
8,667 
1,132 

40,760 
(570) 
{400} 
(970) 



ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC. 
AND AFFILIATE 

Forecasted Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets 
For Each of the Five Years Ending December 31, 

(in thousands of dollars) 

2020 2021 2022 

Net nsscts without donor l't"stlictions: 

Opernting income $ (502) $ (285) $ (297) $ 

Guin (loss) on cfa~sal of Eroperll (4'l0) (400) (400) 
Chans;e in net assets wililrnv donor restrictions (902) (68~ (697) 

Net assets with donor nsbictions: 
Contnbutions - J:immcinl assistance 806 806 806 
Contributions - endowment 150 150 150 
Net assets released from restdction - op::rnting (806) {806) (806} 

Change in net assets with donor restrictions 150 150 150 

Change in net assets (752) (535) (547) 
Net ossels, beginniag of year 54,675 53,923 53,388 
Net assets, end of_X~~ $ 53,923 $ 53,388 $ 52,841 $ 

See accompanying Independent Accountants' Compilation Report and 
Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions and Rationale 
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2023 21124 

(399) $ (570) 
(400) (400) 
{7992 (970) 

806 806 
150 150 

{806) (806) 
150 150 

(649) (820) 
52,841 52,192 
52,192 $ 51,372 



ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC. 
AND AFFILIATE 

Forecasted Consolidated Stateme11ts of Cash Flows 
For Each of the Five Years Ending December 31, 

(in thousands of dollars) 

2020 2021 2022 

Cnsh nm-"VS from operating nctivitics: 

2023 2024 

Change in net assets $ (752) $ (535) $ (547) $ (649) $ (820) 

Adjustments lo reconcile change in net assets (deficits) 
Lo net cash provided by (used in) opernting activities: 

Depreciation 
Loss on di.~posal of assets 
Entrnnce fees and tlepooits received 
Amortization of enlmnce fees 
Am01.tization of deferred costs 
Changes in operating assets & ]~1bilities: 

Receivables 
Prepaid expen.'les & deposits 
Accollllts payable 
Accmed expenses 
Accrued interest 

Net cash. provided by operoling activities 

Cush llon'S from Investing activities: 
Ongoing capital additiarui 
Increase in inve8tn1enL~ 
Change in assets limited as to use 

Net cash used in investing activities 

CU!ih Uon,i; from financing activities: 
Decrease in bonds payable - Series 2010 Bonds 
Decrease in boruls paynble - Series 2016 nonds 
Dccrense in loun payuble - 2019 Bank Loan 
Refunds of entnmce fees 

Net cash used in financing activitx:s 

Change in cash and cash equivalents 
Cash imd cash equivalmts, beginning ofy~r 
Cash and_ cash equivalen_ts, ~nd of year 

7,500 7,769 8,051 8,351 8,667 
400 400 400 400 400 

6,601 
(5,200) 

48 

246 
(47) 
249 
(76) 
127 

9,(J)6 

((~242) 

(1,109) 

(177) 
(7,528) 

(600) 
(862) 

(460) 
(449) 

(2~71) 

(803) 

3,290 
$ 2,487 $ 

6,820 
(5~00) 

48 

(19) 
(22) 
73 
54 
15 

9,403 

(6,242) 
(161) 

(375) 
(6,778) 

(660) 
(876) 
(473) 
(491) 

125 
2,487 
2,612 $ 

7,046 
(5)00) 

48 

(14) 

(13) 

46 
34 

14 

9,865 

(6,242) 
(620) 
(348) 

(7)10) 

(660) 
(900) 

(487) 

(530) 
(2~77) 

78 
2,612 
2,690 

6,928 
(5~00) 

48 

(14) 

(14) 

47 
35 

15 
9,947 

((>242) 
(555) 
(367) 

(7,164) 

(720) 

(922) 

(501) 

(559) 
(2,702) 

81 
2,690 
2,771 $ 

7,136 
(5,200) 

48 

(13) 

(14) 

49 
36 
15 

10)04 

(6,242) 
(87)) 
(358) 

(7,473) 

(720) 

(937) 
(516) 
(575) 

(2,748) 

83 
2,771 
2,854 

See accompanying Independent Accountants' Compilation Report and 
Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions and Rationale 
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ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC. 
AND AFFILIATE 

Forecasted Consolidated Balance Sheets 
At December 31, 

(in thousands of dollars) 

2020 2021 2022 2023 

AllJCh 
C'w'rent nssets: 

Cash oral cash equivalents $ 2,487 ,I 2,612 $ 2,690 $ 2,771 
Investments 15,287 15,448 16,068 16,623 
Accounts receivable 393 412 426 440 
Contribullllns receivable 31 JI 31 31 
Prel!!!id cxecnses 423 445 458 472 

Tola! current assets 18!621 18,948 191673 20,.137 

Non-current assets: 
Assets limited us louse: 

Boord designated for: 
Assfltance endowment 6,348 6,148 6,348 6,348 
Capital prqjects 2,520 2J20 2,520 2,520 

Donor reslrk:ted for: 
Resident ussisflluce 72 72 72 72 
Assistance endowment 9,512 9,662 9,812 9,%2 
Other specific plUJ-lOSCS 719 719 719 719 

OEcrating reserve reguiremcnl 7,400 7,625 7,823 8,040 
Assets limited as touse 26,571 26,946 27,294 27,661 
Donated prope1iy hell for resnle 121 121 121 121 
Prope1iy and equipment, net 87,617 85,690 83,481 80,972 
Benetllial interest in EC!]>etunl trusts 1,345 l,345 1,345 1,345 

Toi.al non-current assets 115,654 114,102 112,241 110,@9 
Total assets $ 134,275 .I 133,050 $ 131,914 $ 130,436 

See accompanying Independent Accountanls • Compilation Rcporl and 
Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions. and Rationale 

5 

73 

2024 

$ 2,854 
17,496 

453 
JI 

486 
21,320 

6,348 
2,520 

72 
10,112 

719 
8,248 

28,019 
121 

78,147 
l,345 

107,632 
$ 128,952 



ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC. 
AND AFFILIATE 

Forecasted Consolidated Balance Sheets (continued) 
At December 31, 

(in thousands of dollars) 

2020 2021 2022 2023 

Li11hllltJcs and Net A.~scts 
Current liabilili!s: 

Accoun!s payable $ 1,455 $ 1,528 $ 1,574 $ 

Accrued expenses 1,080 1,134 1,168 

Accrued interest 127 142 156 
fatirnatcd n:fimdable entrance lees 491 530 559 

Clll"JCnl maturities ofbond!:I payuble - Series 2010Doml~ 660 660 720 

Current maturities of bonds pay.1blc • Se des 2016 Homl~ 876 900 922 

Current maturities of loan payable - 2019 Bank loon 473 487 501 

Total current Jiabililli!s 5,162 5~181 5,600 

T ,ong-lcnn liabilities: 
Reflllldabk: de_[)Osils 54 54 54 

Rcfwidable entrance fees 10,332 9,802 9,243 

Deferred revenue from entrance fees 23,136 24,756 26,602. 

Bonds payabk:, less current maturities - SelieS 2010 Bonds 23,390 22,730 22,010 

Bonds _payable, less current maturities - Series 2016 Bonds 9,049 8,149 7)27 

Loan payable, less current maturities - 2019 Bank.Loon 7,403 6,916 6,415 

Bond issuance costs (656) (608) (560) 

Interest mte swae liabmtr 2,482 2,482 2.482 

Toto! long-tenn liabilities 75,190 74,281 73,473 

Total liabilities 80,352 79,(j(j2 79073 

Net assets: 
Without donor restrictions 42,222 41,537 40,840 

With donor resh·ictions 11,701 11,851 12,001 

Total oot assets 53,923 53,388 52,841 

Tola! linlJilities and net assets $ 134,275 $ 133,050 $ 131,914 $ 

See accompanying Independent Accountants' Compilation Report and 
Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions and Rationale 
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1,621 
1,203 

171 
575 
720 
937 
516 

5,743 

54 
8,668 

28,330 
21,290 

6,290 
S,899 
(512) 

2,482 
72,501 
?S,244 

40,Ml 
12,151 
52,192 

130,436 

2024 

$ 1,670 

1,239 

186 
589 
775 
970 
531 

5,960 

54 
8,079 

30,266 
20,515 

S,320 
5,368 
(464) 

2,482 
71,620 
77,580 

39,071 
12,301 
51,372 

I 128,952 



ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC. 
AND AFFILIATE 

Summary of Significant Forecnst Assumptions and Rationale 

Basis of Presentation 

The accompanying financial forecast presents, to the best of the knowledge and belief of Arbor Acres 
TJnited Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. (the "Corporation") the expected financial position, 
results of operations, and cash flows of the Corporation and Arbor Acres Home Care, LLC (the 
"Affiliate") of and for each of the five years ending December 31, 2024. Accordingly, the consolidated 
financial forecast reflects management of the Corporation's ("Management")judgment as of May 27, 
2020 the date of this forecast, of the expected conditions and its expected course of action during the 
forecast period. 

Background of the Corporation 

The Corporation, incorporated in 1975, is a not-for-profit corporation under Internal Revenue Code 
Section 50l(c)(3) and is, therefore, exempt from federal and state income taxes. The Corporation 
currently owns and operates a continuing care retirement community ("CCRC") known as Arbor Acres 
(the "Community") in Winston-Salem, North Carolina. 

The Corporation was organized under the sponsorship of the Western N01th Carolina Annual 
Conference of the United Methodist Church (the "Conference"). The Conference is not responsible 
for the financial and contract obligations of the Corporation. The Commwtlty operates under the 
supervision of a volunteer Board of Directors (the "Board"), whose members are elected by the Board 
and approved by the Conference. The Board is responsible for the establishment of operational policy 
and consists of not less than 18 or more than 30 members. Board members are elected for a three-year 
term and are eligible for one additional successive three-year term. After serving six successive years, 
a Board member must be off the Board for one year before becoming eligible again. 

COVID-19 Pandemic 

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the highly contagious respiratory disease 
named "coronavirus disease 2019" ("COVID-19'') to be a pandemic, and on March 13, 2020, a 
national emergency was declared in the United States. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 
has confirmed the spread of COVID-19 to the United States, including North Carolina. In response, 
the federal government and a large number of state governments, including North Carolina, have 
imposed strict measures to curtail certain aspects of public life in an effort to contain COVID-19. 

In addition to the direct impact to the health care industry, global investment and financial markets 
(including in the United States) have experienced substantial volatility, with significant declines 
attributed to COVID-19 concerns and associated economic hnpacts of the curtailment of public life 
described above. As with nearly all industries and companies operating through the COVID-19 
pandemic, the Corporation expects to encounter further volatility and disruption in its operations and 
in the local, national and global economies. 

See accompanying Independent Accountants' Compilation Report 
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Arbor Acres United Methodist 
Retirement Community, [nc. and Affiliate 

Summary of Significant Forecast A5sumpl1ons 
1md Rntionnle, Continued 

An outbreak of an infectious disease, including the growth in the magnitude or severity of COVID-
19 cases in the Corporation's service area, could result in an abnormally high demand for health care 
services. Further, the changing global economic conditions or global health concerns surrounding the 
COVID-19 pandemic may also affect the Corporation's partners, suppliers, distributors and payors, 
potentially disrupting or delaying the Corporation's supply chain, project construction progress and 
reimbursement by private payors. 

The extent of COVID-19's effect on the Corporation's operational and financial performance will 
depend on future developments, including the duration, spread and intensity of the pandemic, all of 
which are uncertain and difficult to predict considering the rapidly evolving landscape. As a result, 
the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic could materially adversely impact the Company's 
financial condition, liquidity and results of operations, as well as national and local economies. 
Management has not estimated the potential impact of COVID-19 on the Corporation in its forecast. 

BRckgl'ound of the Community 

The Community is located on approximately 82 acres in Winston-Salem, Forsyth County, North 
Carolina at 1240 Arbor Road and provides a continuum of residential accommodations that currently 
include 122 independent living apartments (the "Independent Living Apartments"), 138 independent 
living homes (the "Independent Living Homes"), 65 assisted living units (the "Assisted Living Units"), 
30 assisted living memory care units (the "Memory Care Units"), and 83 skilled nursing beds (the 
"Nursing Beds"). In 2018 the Community added a membership program known as the "Advantage 
Program'', offered to prospective residents living the surrounding area. Advantage Program members 
would be provided access to Community amenities and health care services while remaining in their 
current homes. The Affiliate was formed in 2018, which offers skilled nursing, sitter and home care 
aide services to residents of the Community in the comfort of the residents' homes. 

The Independent Living Apartments are located in three mid-rise residential buildings that also include 
the following support facilities: business offices, fellowship hall, chapel, recreational areas, dining 
room, bistro, beauty shop, several parlors, kitchen, housekeeping, laundry, and maintenance service 
areas. The Independent Living Apat1ments and the Independent Living Homes are collectively 
referred to as the "Independent Living Units." 

See accompanying Independent Accountants' Compilation Report 
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Arbor Acres United Mctlmdht 
Retirement Community, Inc. ond Affilh,tc 

Snmmnry of Significant Forecnst Assnmptlons 
nntl Rntionnle, Conthmcd 

The following table summarizes the type, number, approximate square footage, monthly fees 
("Monthly Fees") and entrance fees ("Entrance Fees") for the Independent Living Units. 

TRble 1 
Independent Living Unit Configuration 

T)_'.(!e of Unit Units Sgunre Footage Enh·ance FeesC1>c1> Monthl;,:: Fees<1l 
Studios 
Studio 12 315 $51,975 $1,870 
Studio w/stud)_'. 6 315 51,975 1,938 
Total/weis;hted nverng~s 18 .315 $51,975 $1,893 

Studio Suites 
Connecling Room Suite 40 630 $107,100 $2,728 
1 BR - CoEEenin~ Aet. 20 630 110,250 2,780 
Tolal/wei~hted averases 60 630 $108,150 $2,745: 

Homes 
I BR- I Bath 4 1,150 $224,250 $2,523 
2 BR-2Bath 34 1,300 253,500 3,100 
2BR-2Bath 31 1,500 292,500 3,319 
2BR-2Bath 12 1,700 331,500 3,718 
2BR-2Bath 19 1,900 370,500 4,151 
2 BR-2 Bath 8 2,100 420,000 4,389 
2BR 2Bath 18 2,300 460,000 4,771 
Total/weis:.!!tcd .averages 126 1,667 $327,3IO $3,673 

Coul'tyal'd Homes 
I BR- I Bath 6 1,060 $206,700 $2,905 
2 BR-2Bath 6 1,187 231,465 3,086 
To{al/welB;hted nverases 12 1,124 $219,083 $2,996: 

Apartments 
I BR- I Bath-Type A 2 991 $178,380 $2,672 
I BR- 1.5 Bath -Type B 6 1,160 208,800 2,957 
2 BR-2 Bath-Type C-1 6 1,217 219,060 3,141 
2 BR- 2 Bath-Type C-2 6 1,397 251,460 3,332 
2 BR- 2 Bath- Type C-3 6 1,500 270,000 3,522 
2 BR-2 Bath-Type D-1 6 1,592 286,560 3,806 
2 BR- 2 Bath - Type D-2 8 1,602 288,360 3,850 
2 BR-2 Bath-Type D-3 3 1,728 311,040 4,096 
2 BR-2 Bath-Tree E-1 I 1,982 356,760 4,252 
Tota1/wci~ted avera~es 44 1,435 $258,382 $3,483 

Tot,tl IL Us /weighted aver.ages· 260 1,270 $241,013 $3,272, 
Second ~erson fees $10,000 $985 

Source: Management 
(I) The Entrnnce Fee and Monlhly Fee pricing is effective as of JanlJary 1, 2020. 
(2) The Commtmity offers l:l declining refundable Entronce Fee plan (the ''Traditional Amortizing Phm"). 

The Memory Care Units and the Nursing Beds are located in Fitzgerald Health Center ("Fitzgerald)'). 
Tue Assisted Living Units are located in a mid-rise residential building (the "Assisted Living 
Building"). The Memory Care Units, the Nursing Beds, and the Assisted Living Units are collectively 

See accompanying Independent Accountants' Compilation Report 
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Arbor Acres Unite1l Methodist 
Retirement Community, Inc. mid Affi1iate 

Summary of Signilicunt Forecast Assum[Jtions 
nnd Rationale, Continued 

referred to as the "Healthcare Units." Support facilities in Fitzgerald include offices, family rooms, 
dining rooms, activity areas, physical therapy room, special bathing unit, and beauty shop. 

The Assisted Living Units and the Memory Care Units are classified as "Adult Care Homes," which 
are licensed and regulated by the North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services 
("DHHS"). The Community is licensed for 106 Adult Care Home beds. Including the Assisted Living 
Units and the Memory Care Units, the Community is currently operating 102 licensed Adult Care 

Home beds. 

The following table summarizes the type, number, approximate square footage, and the monthly/daily 
fees of the Healthcare Units, effective January 1, 2020. 

Type of Unit 

Assisted Living Units 

Studio 

1 BR<4J 

2BR 

Memory Care Units 

Level III Memory Care 

Total/weighted averages: 

Nursing Beds 

Private Room 

Total/weighted Rverages 

Somcc: Management 

Table 2 
Healthcare Unit Configuration 

Number of 
Units 

22 

42 

1 

30 

95 

83 

178 

Number of 
Beds<1><2) 

24 

46 

2 

30 

102 

83 

185 

Approximate 
Square Footage 

453 

541 

904 

450 

496 

314 

411 

Monthly/ Daily 
Fees (3> 

$6,296 

7,330 

8,699 

9,673 

$7,845 

$3411 day 

$9,023 / month 

(1) The Community is licensed by DHHS for 106 Adult Care Home beds. 
(2) The Community is licensed by DHHS for 83 skilled nursing beds, The Community does not participate in Medicnid 

nnd is licensed for 6 Medicare skilled nursing beds. 
(3) There is a $2,800 non~refundable admission fee for direct admits into lhe Healthcare Units, 
(4) Four units include double occupancy. 

See accompanying Independent Accountants' Compilation Report 
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Arbor Acres United Methodist 
Retirement Community, Inc. and AJflJlnte 

Residency Agl'eement 

Services and Amenities 

Summory of Significant Forecast Assumptions 
and Rationale, Conth1ued 

The residency agreement ("Residency Agreement") is a contract under which the Corporation is 
obligated, upm1 payment by the resident (the '"Resident" or "Residents") of an Entrance Fee and ongoing 
payment of the Monthly Fee, to provide certain services to the Resident. While the Resident occupies an 
Independent Living Unit, services provided include: 

• Maintenance of the Community's buildings and common grounds; 
• Heat, air conditioning, electricity, gas, water and sewer; telephone jack, but no personal 

telephone handset or telephone service; 
• Basic cable television and internet service; 
• Emergency call system, 1mrsing assessments and assistance in emergencies; 
• Routine consultation regarding health concerns; 
• R€:creational, educational, cultural, wellness and spiritual life programs; 
• Routine transportation to non-emergency medical appointments; 
• hi-patient care in the Health Center with limited days at no additional charge; 
• Weekly housekeeping service and annual deep cleaning; 
• Laundering of bed and bath linens furnished by the Community; 
• 24-7 security personnel on the grounds of the Community; 
• Dining services with meals or meal allowance. 

Admittance Standards 

To be accepted for residency to a selected Independent Living Unit, the Resident will execute a 
Residency Agreement. The terms of the Residency Agreement require the Coiporation accept persons 
who exhibit the ability to live independently, and meet the :financial obligation as a Resident. Upon 
execution of the Residency Agreement, the Resident has the following payment options: (i) pay the 
Entrance Fee in full, or (ii) pay twenty-five percent of the total Entrance Fee, with the balance to be paid 
no later than five days prior to the date of occupancy. 

Additional Services or Care 

Pursuant to the Residency Agreement, the Resident may reside in the Independent Living Unit for as 
long as he or she is capable of meeting the requirements of occupancy. If the Resident is no longer able 
to meet the requirements of residing in the Independent Living Units, the Resident may be transferred 
temporarily or pennanently to a Healthcare Unit 

See accompanying Independent Accountants' Compilation Report 
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Arbor Acre.~ United Methodist 
Retirement Community, Inc. and Affilfate 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

(a) Basis of Accounting 

Summary ofSig11ificunt Forecast Assumptions 
1111d Rationale, Continued 

The Corporation and Affiliate maintains its accounting and financial records according to the 
accrual basis of accounting. 

(b) Principles of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Corporation and the Affiliate. 
All material intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 

(c) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents, excluding those classified as investment.c; and assets whose use is 
limited, include cash in banks, cash on hand and investments in highly liquid debt instmments with 
an original maturity of three months or less when purchased. The Corporation maintains its cash 
in bank accounts which, at times, may exceed federally depository insurance (FDIC) limits. 
Management believes the credit risk associated with these deposits is minimal due to the strong 
credit rating of the financial institutions. 

( d) Investments 

Investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair values and all investments in debt 
securities are measured at fair value based on quoted market prices in the forecasted balance sheets. 
Investment in certain alternative investments are recorded at net asset value. Investment income 
(including realized gains and losses on investments, interest, and dividends) is included in 
operating income unless restricted by donor or law. The Corporation elected the fair value option 
for investments and assets limited as to use, and as such these securities are treated as trading 
securities. Unrealized gains or losses are reported within the perfortmmce indicator, excess 
(deficit) of revenues over expenses. Management assumes no realized or unrealized gains and 
losses in the forecast period. 

(e) Assets Limited as to Use 

Assets limited as to use primarily include assets designated by the Board, over which the Board 
retains control and may at its discretion subsequently use for other purposes, or restricted by donors 
or trustee agreements for future capital improvements, operating reserves, and resident assistance. 

North Carolina General Statute Section 58-64-33 requires CCRC's to maintain an operating 
reserve equal to 50 percent of total operating expenses (adjusted for non-cash items) in a given 
year, or 25 percent of such total operating expenses (adjusted for non-cash items) if independent 
living occupancy exceeds 90 percent. 

Assistance endowment funds include donor restricted funds and amounts designated by the Board. 
The Corporation uses certain board designated net assets and the earnings from certain 
permanently restricted net assets for assistance to residents. 

See accompanying Independent Accountants' Compilation Report 
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Arbor Acres United Methodist 
Retirement Commu.nity, Inc. 11nd Affillnte 

(t) Property and Equipment 

Summnry of Signilicnnt Forecast Assumptions 
11nd Rlltionnle, Continued 

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Donated property is 
recorded at its estimated fair value at the time of receipt. Depreciation is computed using the 
straight-line method based on the following estimated useful lives: 

Land improvement 
Buildings 
Furniture and equipment 

(g) Debt Issuance Costs 

20 years 
10-40 years 
3-10 years 

Debt issuance costs Illclude w1derwriter fees, feasibility studies, modification fees, and other 
professional fees. Debt issuance costs have been recorded as n deduction against the related debt 
and are being amortized using the straight-tine method over the lives of the various debt 
instruments, which approximate amortization computed using the effective interest method. 

01) Refundable Deposits 

Refundable deposits represent the portion of the payment of parking fees that will be refunded to 
the resident when parking is no longer required. 

(i) Obligation to Provide Future Services 

As of December 31, 2019, the obligation calculated resulted in the Corporation's net present value 
of future cash inflows exceeding the net present value of future expenditures, less the balance of 
unan1011ized deferred revenue, plus depreciation of facilities to be charged related to resident 
contracts. Therefore, no liability was reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 
31, 2019. For purposes of the forecast, no provision for future service obligations is assumed to be 
required during the forecast period. 

U) Interest Rate Swap 

The Corporation utilizes interest rate swaps to manage the variability in interest rates on its bonds. 
The Corporation accounts for its interest rate swaps under accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States, which requires companies to recognize all derivative instruments as either 
assets or liabilities in the balance sheet at fair value. The accounting for changes in the fair value 
(i.e., gains or losses) of a derivative instrument depends on whether it has been designated and 
qualifies as part of a hedging relationship and, further, on the type of hedging relationship. For 
those derivative instrnments that are designated and qualify as hedging instmments, a company 
must designate the hedging instrument, based upon the exposure being hedged, as a fair value 
hedge, cash flow hedge, or a hedge of the foreign currency exposure of a net investment in a 
foreign operation. For derivative instmments not designated as hedging instruments, the changes 
in fair value are recognized in excess revenue over expenses. The Corpomtion 's interest rate swaps 
are not designated as hedging instruments and the changes in fair value are included in changes in 
net assets without donor restrictions. For purposes of the forecast, no changes in the fair value of 
interest rate swaps are assumed during the forecast period. 

See accompanying Independent Accountants' Compilation Report 
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Arbor Acres United Methodist 
Retirement Community, Inc. and Affilintc 

(k) Income Taxes 

Sunum1ry of Significnut Forecast Assumptions 
and R.'ltlonnlc, Continued 

The Corporation has been recognized by the Internal Revenue Service as a not-for-profit 
corporation as described in Sec. 50l(c)(3) of the futemal Revenue Code (the "!RC"), and is exempt 
from federal income taxes pursuant to Sec. 50 l(a). The Affiliate is a limited liability company that 
has not elected to be taxed as a corporation under IRC regulations. The Affiliate is wholly owned 
by the Corporation, As such, the Affiliate is considered a disregarded entity under current IRC 
regulations. 

(l) Deferred Revenue from Entrance Fees 

The non-refundable portion of Entrance Fees received are recorded as deferred revenue and are 
recognized as operating income using the straight-line method over the estimated remaining life 
expectancy of the residents in the Independent Living Units, adjusted annually as determined by 
actuarial life expectancy tables. 

(m) Refundable Entrance Fees 

Refundable entrance fees represent the total contractual refund obligations under existing contracts 
(that is if all residents with a refundable balance were to have withdrawn). 

(n) Functional Expense Classification 

All expenses in the accompanying statement of operations were incurred for or related to the 
provision of services by the Community and the Affiliate. 

(o) Resident Fees 

Resident fees represent the estimated net realizable amounts from patients, third-party payors, and 
others for services rendered. Resident fees are recorded as revenue when earned. 

(p) Financial Assistance 

The Corporation currently maintains a financial assistance program and policy for residents 
holding continuing care residency agreements in the event the resident(s) should become unable 
to pay for services. The Corporation reserves the right to change the program and policy and does 
not b'ltarantee future financial assistance. The Corporation does not expect to collect the normal 
charges for services provided for those residents who meet the financial assistance provisions so 
estimated charges for such assistance are not included in revenue. The Corporation uses both 
temporarily restricted and board-restricted funds to provide financial assistance. The Corporation 
receives contributions in three primary ways: through annual fundraising efforts, annual requests 
of outreach ministries, and estate donations. 

( q) Revenue Recognition 

Management has implemeuted ASUNo. 2014-09 "Revenue from Contracts with Customers" and 
recognizes revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount 
that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods 
or services. The guidance in ASU 2014-09 supersedes the FASB's prior revenue recognition 
requirements and most industry~specific guidance. For purposes of the forecast, Management has 
implemented ASU 2014-09. 

See accompanying Independent Accountants' Compilation Report 
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Arbor ACl'rS Unitetl Metliodist 
Retirement Community, Inc. und Affilintc 

Summary of Significant Foi-ccnst Assumptions 
and Rnttonnle, Continued 

(r) Use of Estimates 

The preparation of the forecasted financial statements in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America requires Management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the forecasted financial statements. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates. 

(s) Net Assets 

The Corporation classifies its net assets as net assets with or without donor restrictions: 

• Net assets without donor restrictions - resources of the Co1poration that are not restricted by 
donors or grantors as to use or purpose. These resources include amounts generated from 
operations, undesignated gifts, and the investment in property and equipment. 

e Net assets with donor restrictions - resources that are subject to donor-imposed restrictions. 
Some donor imposed restrictions are temporary in nature, such as those satisfied by the 
passage of time or actions of the Corporation. Other donor imposed restrictions stipulate 
that donated assets be maintained in perpetuity, but may permit the Corporation to use or 
expend prut or all of the income derived from the donated assets. 

Summary of Revenue and Entrance Fee Assumptions 

Independent Dving Units 

Resident service revenue for residents living in the Independent Living Units is bm~ed upon the 
assumed occupancy and the Monthly Fees of the respective units. The Independent Living Units' 
Monthly Fees are assumed to increase 3.0 percent beginning January 1, 2021 and annually thereafter. 

The Independent Living Units are assumed to achieve and maintain a 92.5 percent occupancy level by 
October 2020 and remain at that level throughout the forecast period. The following table summarizes 
the assumed utilization of the Independent Living Units, 

Years ended 
December 31, 

Forecasted: 

2020 

2021 

2022 

2023 

2024 

Source: M!magement 

Table3 
Utilization of the Independent Living Units 

Occupied Available 

243.3 260,0 

240.4 260.0 

240.4 260.0 

240.4 260.0 

240.4 260,0 

See accompanying Independent Accountants' Compilation Report 
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Arbor Acre.'l United Methodist 
Retirement Community, Inc. mul Affilla(e 

Summary of Slg11ilic1mt Forecast Assumptious 
nml Rlltionnlc, Continued 

Double occupancy percentages in the Independent Living Units are assumed to be 28 percent of the 
occupied units throughout the forecast period. 

Ass1£med Independent Living Turnover 

The assumed tu mover for the Independent Living Units due to death, withdrawal or trausfer to assisted 
living, memory care, or nursing accommodations, and double occupancy of the Independent Living 
Units has been based, in part, on historical experience of the Corporation. 

Refunds of Entrance Fees are generated upon tennination of the residency agreement (the "Residency 
Agreement") and withdrawal from the Community, subject to the re-occupancy of the vacated 
Independeut Living Units. Entrance Fees may be generated from Independent Living Units turning 
over without a corresponding refund because the resident has not withdrawn from the Community, but 
has permanently transferred to assisted living, memory care, or nursing accommodations. The assumed 
number of refunds on the Independent Living Units is provided by Management. 

The following table presents the assumed initial and attrition Entrance Fees received and the total 
Entrance Fee refunds. 

Table 4 
Initial and Attrition Entrance Fee Receipts :md Total Entrance Fee Refunds 

(In Tltousandsl 

Fiscal Year Ending December 31, 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 

Number of Entt·ance Fees Receh,ed 

Independent Living Units 25.0 25.0 25.0 25.0 25.0 

Entrance Fees Received 

Independent Living Units $6,126 $6,302 $6,483 $6,670 $6,862 

Assisted Living Units & Nursing Beds<1l 112 112 112 112 112 

Advantage Program l2l 363 406 451 146 162 

EntYfmce Fees Refunded(3) 

Independent Living Units (400) (412) (425) (437) (450) 

Advantage Program <4) (49) (79) (105) (122) (125) 

Entrance Fees Received, Net of Refunds $6,152 $6,329 $6,516 $6,369 $6,561 

Source: Management 
(1) There is a $2,800 non-refundable Entrance Fee for Residents directly admitted into the Assisted Living Units and the 

Nursing Beds. 
(2) There is a $12,500Entrance Fee for Advantage Program members, which is refundable over 50 months minus a$1,000 

non-refundable fee. 
(3) The Community offers n Traditional Amortizing Plan. Entrance Fee refunds for tl1e Independent Living Units are 

based on the experience of Management 
(4) Entrance Fees already paid for Advantage Program membership are lransfemible to the Entrance Fee required to move 

into n residential unit at the Collllllunity. 

See accompanying Independent Accountants' Compilation Report 
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Arbor Acres United Methodist 
Retlrement Community, Inc. ond Amll11te 

Summnry of Significont Forecasl Assumptions 
nnd Raliom1le, Conth1ued 

Entrance Fees for the Independent Living Units are assumed to increase 3.0 percent beginning January 
I, 2021 and annually thereafter. 

Assisted Living Units 

The Community currently bas accommodations, equipment, staffing, programs, services, and 
supervision necessary for the Assisted Living Units, with these accommodations available to residents 
on a priority basis. However, the Corporation cannot guarantee access to these areas. 

The Monthly Fees are generated from assisted living services provided to residents transfenfog from 
the Independent Living Units as well as direct admissions from the surrounding area to the Assisted 
Living Units. Residents permanently transferring from the Independent Living Units to the Assisted 
Living Units are assumed to pay the then current Monthly Fee. Assisted Living Monthly Fees are 
assumed to increase 3.0 percent beginning Janua1y I, 2021 and annually thereafter. 

The Assisted Living Units are assumed to maintain a 94.6 percent occupancy level throughout the 
forecast period. The following table summarizes the assumed utilization of the Assisted Living Units. 

Years ended 
December 31, 

Forecasted: 

2020 

2021 

2022 

2022 

2023 

2024 

Source: Managcmenl 

Table 5 

Utilization of the Assisted Living Units 

Occupied Available 

63.4 67.0 

63.4 67.0 

63.4 67.0 

63.4 67.0 

63.4 67.0 

63.4 67.0 

See accompanying Independent Accountants' Compilation Report 
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Arbor Acres United Methodist 
Retirement Community, Inc. and Affillntc 

Summary of Significm1t Fnrecut Assumptions 
anti Rationufo, Continued 

Memory Care Units 

The Community currently has accommodations, equipment, staffing, programs, services, and 
supervision necessary for the Memory Care Units, with these accommodations available to residents 
on a priority basis. However, the Corporation cannot guarantee access to these areas. 

The Monthly Fees are generated from memory care services provided to residents trnnsfening from 
the Independent Living Units, Assisted Living Unit.o;, as well as direct admissions from the surrounding 
area to the Memory Care Units. Residents permanently transferring from the Independent Living Units 
or Assisted Living Units to the Memory Care Units are assumed to pay the then cutTent Monthly Fee. 
Memory Care Monthly Fees are assumed to increase 3.0 percent beginning January 1, 2021 and 
annually thereafter. 

The Memory Care Units are assumed to maintain a 94.6 percent occupancy level throughout the 
forecast period. The following table summarizes the assumed utilization of the Mem01y Care Units. 

Years ended 
December31 

Forecasted: 

2020 

2021 

2022 

2022 

2023 

2024 

Source: Mam1gement 

Table 6 

Utilization of the Memory Care Units 

Occupied Available 

28.4 30.0 

28.4 30.0 

28.4 30.0 

28.4 30.0 

28.4 30.0 

28.4 30.0 

See accompanying Independent Accountants' Compilation Report 
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Arbor Acl'cs Unitetl Metlrntlist 
Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate 

Summnry ofSig11ific11ntForecnst Assumptlons 
nnd Rationale, Continued 

Nursing Beds 

The Community currently has accommodations, equipment, staffing, programs, services, and 
supervision necessary for the Nursing Beds, with these accommodations available to residents on a 
priority basis. However, the Corporation cannot guarantee access to these areas. 

The Daily Fees are generated from services provided to residents transferring from the Independent 
Living Units, the Assisted Living Units, the Memory Care Units, or as direct admissions from the 
surrounding area to the Nursing Beds. Residents permanently transferring from the Independent 
Living Units, the Assisted Living Units, or the Mem01y Care Units would pay the then current daily 
rate. Nursing Bed daily fees are assumed to increase 3.0 percent beginning Janunry 1, 2021 and 
annually thereafter. 

In addition, resident revenues for the Independent Living Units, Assisted Living Units, Memory Care 
Units and Nursing Beds also include revenues from additional resident meals, barber and beauty 
senrices, and gift shop sales, which are assumed to increase 3.0 percent beginning January 1, 2021 and 
annually thereafter. 

The Nursing Beds are assumed to achieve and maintain a 91.6 percent occupancy ]eve! throughout the 
forecast period. The following table summarizes the assumed utilization of the Nursing Beds. 

Table 7 

Utilization of Nursing Beds 

Years ended 
Private Pay Medicare Occunied Available Ct) % Occn)!ied 

December 31, 

Forecasted: 

2020 72.0 4.0 76.0 83.0 91.6% 

2021 72.0 4.0 76.0 83.0 91.6% 

2022 72.0 4.0 76.0 83.0 91.6% 

2022 72.0 4.0 76.0 83.0 91.6% 

2023 72.0 4.0 76.0 83.0 91.6% 

2024 72.0 4.0 76.0 83.0 91.6% 

Source; Management 
(1) The Community if; licensed by DHHS for 83 nursing beds. The Communily does notpnrticipatc in Medicaid and 

is licensed for 6 Medicare skilled nursing beds. 

See accompanying Independent Accountants' Compilation Report 
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Arhor Acres United Methmlist 
Rcth·ement Community, Inc, and M@iate 

Advantage Program 

Summary of Significant Forcc!lst Assumptions 
nnd Ratiounle, Continued 

Advantage Program revenue is based upon the assumed utilization and an assumed monthly fee of 
$400 per individual member, which is assumed to increase 3.0 percent annually throughout the 
forecast period. 

Table 8 
Advnntage Program Members 

Fiscal Year Ending December 31, 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 

Average number of members 38.3 63.5 88.5 100.0 100.0 

Source: Management 

Home Care 

Home care revenue is based upon the assumed utilization and an assumed hourly fee of $20 per hour 
for home health aide and sitter services. Hourly fees are assumed to increase 3.0 percent annually 
throughout the forecast period. 

Table 9 
Home Cm·e Utilization 

Fiscal Year Ending December 31, 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 

Home Health Aide/ Sitter Hours 18,240 38,400 38,400 38,400 38,400 

Source: Management 

Other Income 

Other revenue consists of revenues from catering meals, guest apartment rentals, application fees, gift 
shop sales, and other miscellaneous sources. Other revenue is assumed to increase 3.0 percent annually 
throughout the forecast period. 

Interest Income 

The average annual rate of return on the Corporation's unrestricted cash and investments is assumed 
to be 3.0 percent. 

Contributions 

Contributions include endowment income and unrestricted gifts. Management assumes that no 
contributions receivable assumed to be collected during the forecast period. 

See accompanying Independent AccoUlltants' Compilation RepOL1 
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Arbor Acres Unltetl Methodist 
Retirement Community, Inc. and Affi1inte 

Operating Ex1>enses 

Summary of Signiticnnt Forecn.~t Assumptions 
and Rntlonnle, Contbtued 

Operating expenses are estimated by Management based on its historical experience and expectations 
for the forecast period. Staff salaries and benefits are based on prevailing local salary and wage rates 
and are assumed to increase 3.0 percent annually throughout the forecast period, The costs of 
employee fringe benefits are assumed to approximate 28.5 percent of salaries and wages. 

Other non-salary operating expenses are assumed to include ongoing marketing costs, raw food costs, 
utilities, supplies, maintenance and security contracts, building and general liability insurance, legal 
and accounting fees, and other miscellaneous expenses and are assumed to increase 3.0 percent 
ruinually throughout the forecast period. 

Assets Limited as to Use 

Assets Limited as to Use include donor restricted ftmds for residence assistance, assistance 
endowment, and for other specific purposes. 

Operating Reserve Requirement 

North Carolina General Statute § 58-64-33 requires CCRC's to maintain an operating reserve (the 
"Statutory Operating Reserve") equal to 50 percent of the total operating costs in a given year, or 25 
percent of such total operating costs if occupancy as of a certain date exceeds 90 percent of the 
independent living unit capacity. This law provides security to residents that the Community is able 
to meet its contractual obligations to provide continuing care. Management's forecast shows sufficient 
cash and investment balances to comply with the Statutory Operating Reserve requirement throughout 
the forecast period. 

Long-Term Debt and Interest Expense 

Series 2010 Bank Bonds 

In June 2010, the Corporation obtained debt ("Series 2010 Bartle Bonds") to pay for the constmction 
of the Assisted Living Building. The Series 2010 Bank Bonds consist of $28,845,000 with a variable 
interest rate of 68 percent of LIBOR plus 0.859 percent. The Series 2010 Bank Bonds are covered by 
an interest rate swap that effectively fixes the variable interest rate bonds at 3.333 percent and expires 
in December 2037. Interest on the Series 2010 Bank Bonds is payable monthly. Principal on the Series 
2010 Bank Bonds is paid monthly with a final maturity on January 1, 2038. 

Series 2016Bonds 

In December 2016, $13,159,000 of North Carolina Medical Care Commission Retirement Facilities 
First Mortgage Revenue Refunding Bonds (Arbor Acres Methodist Retirement Community) Series 
2016 (the "Series 2016 Bonds") were issued to refund the then outstanding North Carolina Medical 
Care Commission Health Care Facilities First Mortgage Revenue Reftmding Bonds (Arbor Acres 
Methodist Retirement Community) Series 2007 (the "Series 2007 Bonds"). The Series 2016 Bonds 
consist of variable rate tax-exempt bonds, with a fixed interest rnte swap at 2.914 percent per annum. 
Interest on the Series 2016 Bonds is payable monthly. Principal 011 the Series 2016 Bonds is paid 
monthly with a final maturity on January l, 2031. 

See accompanying Independent Accountants' Compilation Report 
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Arbor Acres United Methodist 
Retlremeut Comm1111lty, Inc, and Affiliate 

2019 Hank Loan 

Summary of Significnnt Forecast Assumptions 
1md Rntiounle, Contiuucd 

In September 2019, the Corporation entered into a loan agreement with a commercial bank (the "2019 
Bank Loan") to refinance the 2016 loan agreement (the "2016 Bank Loan'') and finance Community 
renovations. The 2019 Bank Loan consists ofa $8,450,000 taxable loan amortized over 15 years und 
a variable interest rate of LIBORplus 1.15 percent. The 2019 Bank Loan is covered by an interest rate 
swap that effectively fixes the variable interest rate loan at 2.865 percent and expires in September 
2034. Interest on the 2019 Bank Loan is payable monthly. Principal on the 2019 Bank Loan is paid 
monthly with a final maturity on September 1, 2034. 

The following table presents tbe assumed annual debt service during the forecast period. 

Table 10 
Annual Debt Service 

{In Thousands} 

Year Ending Series 2010 Bank Bonds Series 2016 Bonds 2019 Bank Loan Total 

December 31, PrinciJ>al Interest PrinciJ>al Interest Princi~al Interest Debt Service 

2020 $ 600 $ 828 $ 862 $ 308 $ 460 $ 237 $ 3,295 

2021 660 804 876 281 473 223 3,317 

2022 660 782 900 255 487 209 3,293 

2023 720 759 922 228 501 194 3,324 

2024 720 736 937 201 516 180 3,290 

Source: Management 

Current Assets and Current Liabilities 

Operating expenses exclude amortization, depreciation, other non-cash expenses and interest expense. 
Operating revenues include service fees. Working capital components have been estimated based on 
industry standards and Management's historical experience as follows: 

Accounts receivable 

Prepaid expenses 

Accounts payable 

Accrued expenses 

Source: Management 

Table 11 
Working Capital -Days on Hand 

5 

6 

20 

15 

days operating revenues 

days operating expenses 

days operating expenses 

days operating expenses 

See accompanying Independent Accountants' Compilation Report 
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ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INO. 
COMPARISON OF AUDIT TO FORECAST BALANCE SHEET 

December 31, 2019 
(In thouunds of dollar$) 

ASSETS Audit' Forecast" 
2019 2019 

Cu,renlAsse\&: 
.£..Variance ~ 

Cash end cesh equivalents 1,290 2,281} 1,001 ... 
ltwest1nents 14,155 12,253 1,902 10% 
A,;:counts racalvable, net 639 356 '" 79% 
Cu1Tent portion of campaign pledges recel'l'ab!e " 45 {14) -31% 
Prepaid expenses 376 428 (52) -12% 
Cumml portion of assets llmlll!d as to use 91 01 #DIVA)I 

Total currenl A$M(8 18,582 H,,371 

Non--cu1re11t essets: 
Assets limited as to use: 

Doard OOslgnated ror: 
Asslsl,mce endowment 6,.148 5,638 710 13% 
capital proJect9 2,520 2,520 0% 

Donor restricted foe 
Resident assistance 72 117 (45) -38% 
Asslslllnca andowmen! 9,362 0.445 817 11% 
01hor specific purposos "' "' (47) 

_,. 
Slate operating reserve requirement 7,282 7,965 (683} ·9% 
Bond lrustee " 91 #DIV/01 

Total assets llm~ed as to use 28,417 25,474 
Less: current p0111cn {91) (91) #DIVl(JI 

Campaign pledges recelvabla, net of currant porl!on I/DIV/OJ 
O!her long-la rm essels 121 114 7 6% 
Prope1\y and eoiulpment, net 69,275 67,679 1,698 "· Ele11ellelal lntemst kl perpetual 1rust 1,345 1,345 lfDIV/01 
lnlen,sl mle swap ussel " 43 (17) SO¾ 

Tolol non..:urMnl aaeets 117,09;1 113,210 

TOTAL AS$E.TS 135 675 128581 

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 

cmtent IJablllUee: 
Accounts p(l)ll.lble 1,104 1,497 (393) -26% 
Accrued expenses 1,112 1,050 62 6% 
Aoorued Interest payable " 214 (118) -65% 
current maturl11es of long-term debt 1,922 1,962 (40) -2% 
Estlmot.ed refundable en1rance fees 380 491 (111) ·23% 

Tolol current ~ab!llles 4,614 6,214 

Long-!Brm lleblllties: 
Refu11dable depostt~ 54 47 7 16% 
Defe1Ted revenue from entrnnce fe!ffi 32,627 32,281 340 1% 
Long-1ertn debt, less ourrent matu11tles 41,197 41),0~ll 1,158 3% 
Llablily fer Interest rnle 11waps 2,508 612 1,80G 310% 

Telal Ieng l<!ITTI llabilltlea 76,386 72,979 

Total LlablllUes 81 000 78,193 

Net Assets 
Without donor reslfio11tin11 43,124 40,992 2,132 5% 
With d~r rnstrlciions 11,551 9,396 2,156 23% 

Total Net Assets 541175 50,388 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 135675 128,581 

Maler!alilYfOf purposes of lhls dioolosure are dilfuren,:;es grea1erlhan $150,000 and 153/• variance lrom the previous year. 

A - See Sla!ement ofca~hllows for reaso11s for tlie dllferenco In lho on(llng cash balance. 

B -Arbor Acres budgets lnvoolment f(llunis o:inserva11vely, actual returns In 2019 were sl911irlcant, resulUng In l1lgllerendlng balances 

c - Endowment donations were budgeltid conservallvely f,:,r the rwecasl, 11ctua1 endowment donation$ have slgnllicanlly exceed<!d loreCE'l~l 

0- Slu11!lcanl recelllabkls 1eleled lo Home ome were nnt cootemplaledwhen lhe fmecast was cceated. T11erefere 11ctu11I amau111s drrer 

E- There 1vere variaUonsln payablf.1$ at 1h1;1 end Qf 2019 11$ oompared to lhe bt1dD1Z1t due to the tlmln(f of payments made al year-end. 

F. Arbor Ac:res was the recipient of a perpetual lrnsl In 2019. lheorlglnal forecast did notlncklde any such contrlt>uUOns. 

0 - Arbor AcreG doe,s nol roreoasl any llh1m11eo fn the value of Interest rate swaJ}ll, lhe actual clianye was s!yniHcanl 

• Amounts are de rt.I.Id lrom the audRed Rnanolal s1,1tamenl$ and presenled in 1housands of dollars. 

•• Amounts ara derived lrom !he December 31, 2019 -2023 flnanc!al proJecUon. Amounl~ are presented In a fom1al shlllar lo the 
audit presenla11on. 
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ARBOR ACRES UNITED METH001ST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC, 
COMPI\RISON OF AUD!T TO FORECAST STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND CHI\NGES IN NET ASSETS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 20111 
(In thom1;:inds of dollars) 

Audit* Forecast" 

Revenue, gains and other support 2019 2019 $ V11rltllloo %Varlam:e Explanalion 

Conlribulions 2,687 1,262 • 1,326 105.0% C,F 

Reslclanl fees 26,797 27,415 (li10) ·2.3% 

Home Care- reve-nue ... 1,032 (666) -04.5% 

Entrante lees earned 5,548 4,800 748 15.6% 

Investment lneome '42 460 '" 104.8% 

Other revenue 127 128 (1) ,0.8% 

Total revenue, ga.fn,; nntl other support 36,367 36,097 

Expem>es 
Med!cal arid personal core 7,563 7,707 (!44) -1.9% 

Food service S,048 4,900 58 1.2% 

Facility servlcas 6,370 5,424 (64) •1.0% 

Utilities 1,378 1,438 (60) -4.2% 

Resident services 1,386 1,455 (69) -4.7% 
AdmfnlstraUon S,110 3,290 {128) ·3.9% 

H11m11n resources 610 502 66 13.5% 

Home Care exrienses 491 1,017 (526) -51.7% 

Marketing & develoriment 904 '" 22 2.6% 

Derireclo1tlon 7,192 6,600 392 5.6% 

Interest expense 1,606 1,548 (42) -2.7% 

Total expenses 34,676 35,061 

Operating Income 1,789 36 

Non-operating raven Ile (expensas): 
Less on exUrigulshment of debt (42) (42) #DIV/OJ 

Loss on disposal of property (731) (400) (331) 82.8% 

Unrealized I00s from Interest rate swap (1,912) (1,012) #DIV/0I 

Change In v11lua - parpetu,tl t11Jsts 143 "' #DIV/0I 

Nat realized gain on in'<'ostmenls 2,664 2,564 #DIV/DI 3 

Net unrealized galn on Investments 2,112 2,112 #DIV/01 3 

Excess of revenues over el(penses 3,923 (304) 

Change In net a, 3,923 (364) 

Net asselll, beglnr1lng 60 762 50,752 

Nat assets, ending .J -54,675 '- 50388 

Materlallly for purposes of this disclosure era dlfl8rences greeter than $150,000 end 15% variance from lhe previous year. 

1. Afbor Acre~ budgeted investment inQO/ne much mora consarvatlvely than ijctual parformImce for the yaar. 

2. Unit lumovar exceeded budgeted levels resul1in1J in morn revenue rac:ognWan than an~cpated. 

3. Afbor Acres does not typlcally for&east realized and unrealized gains or louas en Interest rate swaps or lrrvestrnenta. 

4. Afrnlr Acres lnC\Jrnid disposal lasses associeled with with independent unit turnovers. These amounlll 
were forecasled. Howa~ar, the actual number or turnovers and related disposals outpaced axpeclaUons for the yoar. 

5. Afllor Anras launched 1;1 HQmo Cara bU!!lnoss In March 2019. Budgaled Ro~eJ1uea and EJqJ\lnsas weri:1 well undar budgal 
for the first year dua to t~nlng of the launch and the volUmes of business. 

• Amounts ara derived from the aud~ad financial statementa totals, and presentad fn thousands of !lollara, 

"Arriounl.Ei am dariYad from lhe Dac:embar 31, 2019 - 2023 linanclal projection. Amounts ara pn:isen!ad 111 a formatslmllar tu 
the evdil presentation. 
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ARBOR ACRES UNJTED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC, 
COMPARISON OF AUDIT TO FORECAST STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 
(In thousands of dollar.i) 

AUdlt' FMOOSI'" 
2019 2019 $Variance % Varlan,;e 

cash flows froM op&rat!ng activities 
Charige In netanets 3,923 (364J 4,287 

AdJuslmenls to reconcile change n net 
assets to net cash provkled by opernting aef1vltles 

Depreclallon 7,192 MOO 392 
Loss on dlsposal ofassels 731 400 331 
Reall:z;ed & unrealized gain on hweslmenls (4,676) (4,675) 
Perpetual lrust conlrlbuflons (1,2021 (1,202) 
Change In value perp,atual lrii$ts (143) (143) 
Conlributlons restrloled for k,ng.term lnvestmenl [250) (250) 
Entranco fees received 6,673 6,051 822 
AmorUzatlon of entran<;e fees (5,548) (4,8()0) (746) 
AmorllzoUon of deferred cosls 49 49 1 
Amorllzaijon ol original Issue premium 0 
Loss on extlngulshmtmlof debt " 42 
Unreaired {{lain) loss on interest rate swa1> 1,912 1,912 

Chang a In <:1p<m1tlng assels and llabJlltles 
Aocounls recet,,abte (297) (14) (283) 
Campa Ion receivables '" 221 1' 
Prepaid e~penses an<I deposits (7ZJ (116) 44 
Accmmls peyabie 369 419 (60) 
AQcrued e:qi,mses 254 310 {56) 

Relund~ble depoalrn ' Net cash provided by operating activities !i,400 a,955 

Cash flows from Investing oclMUes 
AC(Julslfion ofp;operty 1111d equipment (6,588) (3,825) {2,763) 
Procemfa flom dfepasal of properly & equipment (1) (1) 
(Increase) de~aae In assels imlted a$ to use (1,710) (1151) (943) 
P11rdiase of lnvestmenls, nel (530! !3,305! 2,776 

Net cash used In lnvestlnq actlvlt!es __ JM~~t _ _@fil 

Cash flow$ from financing 11cm'ltflei; 
Proceeds fr,;,m i,;,an 8,700 8,700 

Paymenl on long-lerm debt (9,444) (1,930) (7,514) 
E:ntmnoe fae refunds [;?:88) (449) 161 
Conlributlal\5 reslrlcted far 1ong-te1m Investment '" 250 
Payruenl for defeired loan oos!s _--.J!!Q!. (110) 

Net cash provfdllll by flna11clng activities (692) (2,379) 

lncreuo (~crease) 111 c:i.sh and cash <iqulva!enl$ {3.21) (1,321) 

Eleglnnlng balance, cash and cash equfvalents :i,611 3,610 

E11ll(11g balance, cash 1111d cash eq11l11Qlenls J,290 2,289 

Ma,ertallty for plJrJ)OSl!I! of this disclosure, Are dilferonces greater than $150,000 and 15% variance lroin Ille previous year. 
sei:, lhe balanc::e sheel and statement of operauons al\d changes In net asse\s for selected e)(llla.f'll!UOM, 

Z. Al'llor Acres did 001 !Qreeast tlils line Hem. 

Y. L118a ~nds were transl'eired Lo 1he lnveslmentportrolb than was forecesl 

6.6% 
82.!1% 

#D11//0) 
I/OIV/01 
IIDIV/01 
IIDIVIOI 

13.6% 
15.6% 
2.1% 

ilDJVIOI 
#DIVIO! 
#DIV/0! 

2021.4ft 
6.8% 

-37.9o/t 
-11.9% 
-18.1% 

72.2% 
#DIV/0! 

1Zl.9% 
•84.0% 

"#OIV/01 
389.3% 
-35.9% 

#OIV/01 
J'IDIV/01 

W. Hlr,her than forecasled unit turnover as well es a nBWdlnlnll venue Investment drnvo lhe addlllonal lnveslment In property & equ~ment 

T, Arbor Acres refinanced oulslandlng debtwlth an addftlonal la:<able loan In 2019. This rasulted In a rupayment arid new loan. 

5. Actual entrance fees reoelved were greater, prlmMly bec,iusefumaverofunilli was .irealer lhan fo,ecast. 

R. Tllerewere less ref@ds acillally p!lld out than had been foreoasl for lhe period, 

• Ar11oontl! are deri~~ frDl'lt the aud1led f!naMlal !'IIBt,unenls tol:l]s, and presenled In thousands of dollars . 

.. Amounls are derived lrom t11e December 31, 2019 • 2023 financial pr<1Jeotlon. Amounts arn presented In a formatshlllar lo the 
audit presenlB!ion. 
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ESCROW AGREEMENT 

THlS ESCROW AGREEMENT (this 'A(ll<oment") is made this Jl..day of·:..,,_,_,, 2020 by and 
between Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc., a North Carolina nonprofit 
corporotion ("Sponsor"), and Truist Bank, a North Carolina banking corporation ("Escrow Agent"), 

RECITALS 

A. Sponsor is tho intended operator of certain property located in Win,ton·Salem, NOl1h Carolina as 
a continuing-care retirement community known as Arbor Ac:008 (the 11 Con1munityl1

). As the operator1 

SponsotwiH from time to Hine enter into non .. binding priority Hst·reserva:tion agrccffients with persons 
desiring to reside at Arbor Acre, and into binding reservation agreements and/or resident agreemen~s 
with persons contnicting for residences at the Community; and 

B. Pm-su~nt to such non-binding priority list r.eservation agreemen.ts_, peri;011s desiring to reside ut 
Arbor Acres deposit funds ("Deposits'') with Sponsor R11d, pursuant to such bfoding reservation 
agl'eements and/or resid<,nt agreements, the prospective resldent(s) ("Depositing Person(s)") contracting 
fur a rosldence aro required to p•y all or a portion of ce1tain entrance fees ("Entrance Fees") prior to 
occupancy b?' them; and 

C, Pursuant to Article 64 of Chapter 5& of the North Carolina General Statutes, as amended (the 
"Act"), and Title 1 l, Chapter 11, Subchaptcr !I, Section ,0l02(l)(bXil) of the North Cai-olina 
Administrative Code, the Deposits 'received in connection With non;blnding priority list reservation 
agrcome.nts and certain-Entrance Fee$ received in connection with binding l'escrvation agreements 
and/or resident agrcemcnb~ mm1t be escrowed; and 

D, Sul;Ject to tho terms of the Act_, Sponsor heteby agrtcs to deposit in an escrow fund established 
a11d maintained by the Escrow Agent (the "Escrow Account") the Deposits and the l':!1tt•ance Foos that 
are required to be deposited into an escrow fund pursuant to the Act.; and 

E. The parties hereto now desire and intend to provide for U1e oafokeeping of the Deposits and such 
Entrance Fees and for tho procedures in disbursing the Deposit, and such Entrance Fees.; 

WITNESSETH: 
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises set forth above, the mutual wvenants set furth 
below, and other good artd valuable corurideration, the receipt, and sl!fficiency of which are hereby 
acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

1. The Escrow Agent shall Open the Escrow Account, and the Sponsor shall deposit with the 
Escrow Age11t,, (•) arty and all Deposits made by Depositing Persons purswmt to their specific non­
binding priority list reservatio·u agreements, and (b J all Eh!rartcc Fee,, received or Deposits recast a, 
Entrance Fees pursuant to paragraph 4 hereafter, except (i) if the conditions setfoith in paragr!lph. 6 
hereafter h'1Ve beenmet, only 75% ofEnJrance Fees receivi,d or Depooits rccastllS Rntr-ance Fees shall 
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be dejl<lSited or retained, rospectlve!y, alld (ii) if tbe conditions set forth in J)Jlffigraph 7 hereafter have 
been met, no such 1,ntranoe Fees received or Depollits recast as llntranee Fe,;o shall be dep<islt<ld or 
rem!ned, respectively. 

2. '!'be Esorow Agent hm-by alJli;e< to nilliutam the Deposits aiid µnfrll1}cc Fee amo,mls separate 
and apllti li'Om its other limds, and shall.hold and disbursMho Depolito and Entrance Fee amounts in 
aceordllnc.e wi1h this A~nt. On oi, l/efot';} each delivery to \he EfillmW Agent of any Deposits and 
Enlra;1cc Fee., Sponsor shall furnish to fue Bserow A/jtnt the l)l\!,w and adrl,ress of~h D~tlng 
Person providing such Deposits an<! Entrance F~, lu8ether wlth such other lnfom,auon concerning 
•~ch 5(lclt Depoolting Person ruJ th¢ Escrow Agent shall rellS!lnably request, The Eacrow Agent shall 
maintain records as to the Deposits. iind Enttan(}e ttees with_ TUpc.ct to ~h s~ch Depositing:_ Person and 
shall report suc.h infornwtio11c monthly to SjlO!lsor, 

The l'lscl'!>w Ag,;n\ sluill lnwst all i\,mds held pursuant to thls Escrow Ajj!i:emenl in !he SUnTrust 
Iostimllonal PrefeJTed Deposit Clption. The lnvestme11ts Ji1 the Sun Trost In.<rtltutional !'referred Deposit 
Option lite insured, subj<:ct to the applicable 11,des.1111d regulallolill. of the Federal Deposit lnsuia~ce 
Corporation (the "FDIC"), in the slam!ard FDIC iosul'llt>:e anwunt of$250,000, including priuoipnl and 
accrued inwrest, '1Jld ore !WI ,ecuted, The SunTrust ltiStlturiolllU J'refertcd Dep(jsit Option. is more fully 
da,cribedfo matarirus which have been furriis~ to the Sponsor by tlie Escrow Agent, and the Sponsor 
ecknow!«lges receipt of such ma(erl;1ls from th<l Escrow Agent, lnsttuclion., lo mllke any other 
ln\'<liltment must ho ln ,;,r1Ulll! and >lgncd \,y too $p0lllll)<, n,o Sponsor recc,gnfacs and O!!l'eCS that the 
Escrow Agent will not ptovkle :iµpll!'Vision, t:ecommendations or advice relating lo the investment of 
moneys held hetetmder or the. pm chase, ,ale, retention or otber disposition of any ln¥ealment, and the 
llllcrow Agent shall not be lial?te to the Sponsor or any other P!'fSO!\ or entity fur uny loss incurred in 
eonnec!ion witb any such invo,lnlent, The &orow Agent is hereby authorited to execute purchases and 
sales of lnvestrne!lls through the fucilitie; of its own Jradin)!'or capital mari<t,ts operations or tbQS<> of auy 
~ffi!inn;d entity. The Bsomw Agent or any of its !lffliiates may receive compensation with respect to any 
investment direered hereunder inc]µding withou.t limiratfon charging ll!l}' applicable agcllcy fee in 
eo(lllection with each transaction, The Escrow Agont $ball us,: its best cffurts to invost funds on a timely 
basis "l'0n rocejpt of sueh )'uhds; 1"'Qvid<>d, however, lltot tho Bsorow Agent shall ln no event be "liable 
for comw,satiorr to the Spon,;,,r or other person or entity related jo foods tvhich.!!N hel<I un-illves!od or 
funds which are not invested time!)'. 1he !JSQrow AJicnt is auth<llized and <lirectcd to sell or redeem any 
Investments as it deems n=ary to make any poyments 01· distributions required under this ll.scrow 
Ag1·eement. 
3, The SpollSor ~ that all lnterest and income from the fovesim<nt of the funili, shall be 
repo(led as having been eatned by the $p-0nsor as of tho""" of each oalendar year whethet or not such 
income was disbursed during such cale!IWI!')'<"'' and to tiw exlentr,:quit<:d. l,y the Internal Rm,cnuo 
Servli;e. Oil or before the execution ,md dell\'ilry of this Esorow Agrecmon~ tl)e Spon,;,,r shallprov!de 
to the ll!Jcrow Ag,mt • co"""', duly completed, dared •nd executcd cun:ent United Stntos lntcmul 
Revenue Service Form W,9 o, Form W-8, whichever is •Jl1'1'0prlate (>r MY .uccessor fum,s thereto, in~ 
fonn and substance :mtlllfactm:y to lhe Escrow A,genl including appropriate supporting document111ion 
nod/or any otbor fon:n, docunlcl)t, and/or cei!l:f!¢a!c.roqulred or 110!1!0Ilably .requested by the Esc.mw 
Agent to validate the furul p!'(lvided. NQMithsta!ldil)g anylhU!I! to the C1J11lrary herein provided, exeept 
for th$ doliv,,ry and ,filing of tox Information ro]l<)l'i!ng forms re<jltlred pursuant to the l.n!enuil Revenue 
Code of 1986, as runonded, to be delivered arid filcd with ·tin,\ Jni,,,moi Revenue Service by tho Escrow 
_Agent, as e_scrow~pnt hctc~7 1he Bs!ll,V:W Agent slu1.ll have no duty to ~ or t'UJJ any Federal or 
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i.tato tax report or. tetm:n with respect to any fun CW held pursuant to t~is Rscrow Agi·eeme_ht or any 
income eamed thereon. With respect to the preparation, delivery and filing ofsuch required tax 
information rcportil1g forms at1d all matte.rs pertaining to the reporting of ~an'Ungs on fu11ds 4eJd. under 
this Escrow Agreement, the Escrow Agent shall be entitled to request wd receive written illstntctions 
from the Sponsor, and the Escrow Agent shall be entitled to rely conclusively and without !'tuther 
inquiry on such written insh·ucti.ons. The Sponsor agree, to indemnify, defund and hold the Escrow 
Agent harmless from and against any tax, late paynieru, interest, penalty or other cost or e'-'J)ense lhat 
l'J'ia.y be B5Scssed against the Escrow _Agent on or with respect to the F..scrow Fund or any earnh1gs or 
jnterest thereon unless such tax, late payment1 intere~t. _pfil"!alty 9r oth~_r- cost or._ ex:pen~e wa.s- finally 
adjudicated by• court ofcompetent jud,dictioo to have been directly caused by the gross negligence or 
willful misconduct of tl1e Escrow Agenl '!he indemnification provid~d in this sooti<>n is in nddition to 
lhe indemnification provided to the E,crow Agent elsewhere in lhis Escrow Agreement and shall survive 
the resignation or re~oval of the Escrow Agent and the termination ofthls Escrow Agreement. 

4. Upon written 11•tificatlon to the Escrow Agent by the Spoosor stating that~ Depositing Person 
has. entered: into a binding reservation ngreement a11d/or restde11t agreement with the Sponsor, the 
Escrow Agent shall forthwith recast such Depositing l'erson's Deposit in the Escrow Account as 
Enttartce Fees_. Thereafter, if the Spcu1s.or nori1i.es_the Escrow Agent in writing that either ofthe 
_conditions described in Sectfon 6 or Se.;.tion 7 below= have been :m.tisfitd, the Escrow Agent 1:ihall 
promptly disburse to the Sponsor the amonn.ts iet forfu in said S,:ction 6 or Section 7 pursuant to the 
Spo_nsor1s written re.ques_t. 

S, Upon written notification to the Escrow Agent by the Sponsor that a Depositing Person wishes to 
terminate or withdraw his or her non-binding priority list reservation ogJ'eemcnt or that such Depositing 
Person's Deposit iii otherwise required to be returned to such D¢prisiting Per.son,:,- th~ Escrow Agent shall 
forthwith disbutse such Depositing Person's nioney on deposit in U,e Escrow Accowit ln aceordonce 
with such written iwtroctiono within live (5) business days of receipt of such written notice. All interest 
earnings shall~• allocable to the Sponsor. Upon written notification to the Escrow Agenl by the Sponsor 
stating thatEnt!Wlce Fees are to be returned to any Depositiu11 Person, tho Escrow Agent shall forthwith 
disburse sllch Depositing Person's nioney or deposit in the Escrow Account to such Depositing Person in 
accordance with the Sponsor's written instructions within five (5) business days of 1eceipt of such 
Written notice. All interest earnings shall be allocable to lhe Sponsor, 

6, Upon receipt by the Escrow Agent of written notice from tho Sponsor stating that the 
requirement set furth in Section 58-64-3S(a)(l) of the Act has been met for any Phase of the project (a 
"Phase" wlll be defined and agreed upon b.etween the Spoosor the North Carolina Department of 
lnsuraoco, l'inanoial llvaluation Division, Special Entities Section), 25% of the Entrance Fees for thar. 
Phase, together with the earnit1gs lhereon shall be disbursed to the Spo!lllor within five (5) business days. 

7. Upon receipt by the EscrowAgeut of written nqtjce.ftom ihe Sponsor slating thllt the 
reqllirement set forlh in Section S8-64•3S(a)(2) ofthe Act has been met f?t any Phase of the project (a 
"Phase" will be deliued and agreed upon between the S.ponsor the North Carnlina Department of 
Insurance, Alternative Markets Division, Special Entities Section), a!i remaining Entrance Pees for that 
PhllSe and all earnings thereon shall be disbursed tQ the Sponsor within live (5) ·business days. 
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8.. This Agreement shall tenninate when all disbursements of tho Deposits nrtd Entrance Fees 
required to be m.ade wilh respect to the Escrow Accottnt by the Escr,,w Agent under the provisions 
hereof shall be made. 

9. In perfo1n1ing its duti~s under this Agreement~ or upon the clahncd failure_ to perform lt.ci d\.1tics., 
the Escrow Agent shall have no liability excep!Jor tl,e Escrow Agent's willful misconduct or 
negligence. In no event shall the Escrow Agent be liable fur incidental, Indirect, special., and 
_consequential or punitive dama.g_l;}.a. The E~Cl'ow Age1it Slla1l lw.Ve no irnpJied duties Ol' obHgatJons under 
die terms of this Agreement or otherwise, The Escrow Agent shall not be charged with or be deemed to 
have any knowledge or notice of any notice, fact, or cireomsiance not speoi:ilcally sci forth in this 
Agreement or fl\l'llishcd to the Escrow Agent in notices provided lo the Bscrow Agent in writing ancl 
stricllyfaacconlance with the notice provisions of this Agt().emem. The Escrow Agent shall not be 
required to take notice of llllY agreement or undotstanding; inoluding but not lhnitcd to any binding 
i:esident.s1 agreementsi other than tbjs A,_gr~e.ment ~11d shall have no duty Or :t·espotlsibiHty-to take a11r 
action pursuant to the tmms thereof. The Escrow Agent shall have no liability J.\itl1 respect to the translbt 
or distribution Of al'iy ~ds affected by the 'E{scrow Agent pursuant to w1rlng or transfer 'instructions 
provided to the E,mrow Agent by any party to this Agreement. The Escrow Agent shall be entitle"<! to 
seek the advice oflegal counsel with re.pect to any mallet arising under this Agreement. The Escrow 
Agent shall not be obligated to take any legal actiOll or lo commence any proceedings in connection. With 
this Agreement o,· any funds hel.d hereunder or to appear in, prosecute or defund in any such legal action 
or proceedillgs, The Esorow Agent shall !,e entitled to rely upon and shall be fully protected in acting on 
ap.y request~ inst111cti._on, statement ot .Qther: iustrument, not only as to its due execution, validity and · 
effoctivoness., but also as to the truth .and accuracy of any information set forth the-rein, which the 
Escrow Agent shall in good faith beifove to be genuine, 10 have been signed or presented by the person 
or parties purporting to sign the same and to conlorrt1 to the provisions of this Agreement. The Escl'Ow 
Agent shall have no duty 01· obUga.tlon to _collect or otherwise- require payment of any check or •ther 
in$b'ument delivered in payment of deposits hercun<ler, other than, submission of such instruments fur 
pa)lll'.lent in the ordinary course of business. Jn no event shall the Escrow Agent have any obligation to 
invest or disburse funds under this Agreement other thatt with respect to collected fund, and any 
eamings the:reon. _ _The Escrow Agertt shall rely e..xclusiveJy on noti'ces,. tequests_, and communications 
from Spousor and llsauthorized representativ.o, lll)d agents and shall have no duty or obligation to take 
notice of-Otto take. action pu.l;'suant to auy notice, 'requC'St. or other communication famished to the 
Ilse row Agent from ar)y other parl.y. 

10. A• an additional consideration for and a, an.inducement for Escrow .Agent to serve a,; Escrow 
Agenthereuuder, it is 1mderstood and •greed that ln the eveot of any disagreement between lhe parties ta 
this Agi·ee1uent or amon~ any of them and ony other persons resulting in adverse elaims or demands 
being innde.in connection with or for.any funds or other property held pursuant to thls Agreomant, tho 
Escrow Agent shall be entitled, at the eloctionofthe Escrow Agent, to refu•• to comply with the 
demands of such parties, or any of such parties, so long as such disagreeme!lt shall continue. Ju such 
event, the Escrow Agent shall make no defrvezy or other disposition of any funds or property held 
pursuant to tbe lerrns of this Agreement or any part thereof. Anything herein to lhe contrary 
notwithstanding, the Escrow Agent sha!! not be or hccome liable to such pnrtles or any of them for the 
failure of the Escrow Agent to comply with conflicting or adverse demands of such parties or any of 
s~l! pllrties. In tho event of any dispute or disagreement as described above, the Escrow Agent shnll 
have tho right, in addition to the rights describcq above and at the election of the Escrow Agent, to 
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tondot into the registry o,: custody of ony ,ourt havingjurisdiotion, all money and ptoporty held under 
th!. Agreement tmd may take such.other legal action•• may be appropriate or 11ecessary, in the opinion 
of tbe llscrow Agent Upon such tender, (he parties hereto agree that the fact'6W Ae;ent shall bo 
discharged Jrom all 1jmher dutl•s under this Agreom.ont; provided, however, that the.filing of any such 
legal proceedings shall not deprive the Escrow Agt111t ofil:ll O\')mpensarion hereunder earned prior to such 
filing and dischilrge of the Escrow Agent of its duties hereunder, 

11. The Escrow Agent may resiJlll at any time from Its oblig111lons under this Agreoment by 
providing wrillen notice to the parties here!o. Sllchresigna!ioo $lulU be effective on 1be tjure set forth in 
such writllm nolfoe, which shall be no earlier tfum fllirly (30) days after sm:h 11,11tten notice l\as been 
furnlsiled. !nthe e~e11t no sm:c,•,SSor escrow O!l•nt .hos bee.I! JlP.POiµtod Qll or prior to the dot;: suclt 
reoi!l!lalion i• to beCQme ofreotivo, the E$crow Agent shall be entitled to P,ndor lnto the custody of any 
court of <:ompctcnt jurl,diciion all funds and other property !hen held by ltheroundenmd shall 
tl1ereupon be relieved ol' oil further duties 1111d obl!gmions uruler ibis Agt~ll!ent. Escrow A gen! shall 
have no responsibHlty for the oppoin:mert! of n ll\le<essor escrow agent hereuncyer. 

12. Spomor $hall lutve the dght to require the Escrow Ag,erit to resign a. Escrow Agent upon giving 
not less t\ianthlr!y ('.lO) days wrltt<m notice, in which et!Sl) Sponsor shall appoin! a succi,ssor Escrow 
Agent 

J:I. The Sponsor agre.,. to Plll' to the Escrow Agent C\l!UJ)<ml.ltion, and to reimburse the F.scrow 
Agent for costs !jlld expenses, all in ac""1druice with die provisions of BxhibitB ben,to, which is 
ineotporated herein by refet<tn<e aod made a Pffl hereof. 

14. T!te 8ponso1· agrees to indemnify and hold harm).,.. the Escrow Agent and eaob of !he Escrow 
Ag,,nt', officers, diro,.'iJJ"', agent, •!id employeos (ii-.<> "lrulenminod Parties") from nnd ngainst any and 
all losses, lillbilities .• claims, damagea, experures arid costs {including at.toroeys• fees) ofevery nature 
wha!soCv¢J.' w~icll 1111y suchlndemnitied Party may incur and whioh a,l.,, directly or indin,etly from tbi• 
Ag""'11'J.<lnt or whic11 arise directly or ~ly by virtue of 1hc Escrow Ag,;:nt's UJ.lderll!klng 10 """"' as 
Escrow Ag<;nt herOUJ;1®r; provided, however, that noln<lemnl!ied Patty shall bo entitled to imlemrtily in 
• .,,. of SllCh lndomttlfied Par!)''• ll'<'"" negligenc,l or willful n\iseondoot Thec1»:ovl.sions of this section 
"1roll survive the termination of tllis Agreement •nd nny re:rlgnntlon or remowl of iho Escrow Agent, 

1S. Too .ll,i<;tow Agent sha!l fu!w no duty or responsiblllly fur detenninlng whether the off et imd sale 
of the residency ammgemenls described herein or the te~ .lllld provisions of this Agreement comply 
wl1h t!ic provL<!ons of any npplicable stato or F<lderal law or regulation, iooludin~ but not Hmite<! to th• 
Act or regulations lhereunder, The 8p~r represents onil wattants to tho Escrow Agent that it has 
obtained arid relied upon the adv[ce of legal counsel with rosp,wt to all suoh matter,;, The Sponsor 
further represents and warrants 1bltt the offer and sale oflhe re;,idency •rtllll8"men!H dcsoribed horein 
and tho lo!ms and provfaions of this Agreement and each binding resident~. !l,llte<ment comply ln rul 
respQ<:ts with all such applicable S\111• and Peder'!l l•ws and. regulations. The Escrow Agent has not 
participated in the preparation or review of any •alos or offering n1ater!hl relatin;, to the residency 
mangomerns desoribedin thi• Agreement. No sales or offerhtg lireratur• or ma\mal utilized Jt1 
connection witli the offer and 1lllle of the resldoncy llrt'a11geinet1ts de,,:ribed her.ln sha)l contain the name 
Trui•t Bank or "!lY variad<>ntltereol; except for the lli11ited purpose ofiden1;jfylng tho Escrow Agi,ntns 
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eserow agent under the tenn• of this Agremnent. ln addition Co other indemnities provided for in !his 
Agreement., the Sponsor sliall lndemt!l.cy- and lioll;l hW1lt.l•1s the F,Serow Agen! and each of its officer.;, 
directors, agents lllld employees from and •~•inst all claims, H,t,illties, losses and damage, (including 
attome;r-,' foes) i~red by !he Escrow Agent or ;u,;h persons und wblch directly or indi,eot!J< .rosuh 
fton> any violation or alleged violation of any such state or Federal law$. 

16. My anil all nattces; requests, deroM<ls and o!htr communicotions wven under or in C011nection 
with. this Agreement ~'Notice") ;,hall b<: effeetlv" only ifin wrltillfi addresoed to the address of tho 
1eclplent set forth below bt such otiu,r address proi(ided by the reelpient and >lbllll be. deemed delivered 
py (i) hand delivery upon l)l<:eip!, (ii) rejli!llei-ed m•iJ orcertifle<l mail, return recelp.t requested, pos!age 
prepaid, upon deli wry to tltc;,,ldress i11dicated in ih• Notioi,; 1)ii) by 0011firmed electro mo moil (with 
confirmed read receipt) wli;l!l sent, or (iv) oVC!'llight cou,:iot (n,:xt boo.- day delivery) on ih~ next 
business day after It is Sllnt: 

Spon.sor: 

Arbor Acres United M¢thod.ist Rotiremeul Oommuruly, Inc. 
Altll: Vice l'resi.dent and CFO 
l240Ad>orRoad 
Winamn-Salem, NC 27104 
l' 336.724.7921 ext,.1222 
F 336. 721.0271 

Esci:owAgont: 

Truist&nk 
Attn: Escrow Services 
Mail Code: V A·HDQ-l20)i 
919 EastMaln Street, 5111Floor 
Rkhntond, Virginia 23219 
Cliett! Manager: 8yro.n Roldan 
Phooe: &04.782-5404 
Facsimile: 8()4..225-7141 

No notioo, reqn .. t, demand, ornthor iommunlr.ation l!eiwnder shall b!!cde"1Q!ld effe•live •• to the 
Escrow Agent nnlcss in writing dcllvered in strict acelinllUlee with th• prtMlllon, hereof or prior 
to !he Escrow Agent's achml receipt tlwroo.f. 

17. C<Jntemporaneously with !heeXecutionl!lld delive1y<1fthist\greement and, ifnect!ll,ary, ftom 
time to Umc thoreai\cr, Jho Sponsor llhall exeoutnnd deliver to tho Escrow Agent a Certificate of 
Incumbency substantially in tho fonn of El<bibil A .hereto (a "Certll'icate of Incumbency") for the 
pw·posc of establishing the identity and authority of persons entitled to issue ootices, instructions or 
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di,cc!ion, to the Esc,ow Agent on bchalfofthc Sponsor. Until such time as the Escrow Agent slmll 
receive an amended Certificate of Incumbency replacing any Certificate of Incumbency theretofore 
delivered to the Escrow Agent, tho Escrow Agent shallbe fully projected in relying, witl1out further 
inquiry, on the most recent Certificate of lncuniboncy furnished to tho Escrow Agent. Whenever this 
Agreement p1·ovides for written noticesi written instiuctions or other actiqns _to be delivered to thQ 
Esorow Agent, the Escrow Agent shall be folly protected ill relying, without further inquiry, on any 
written notice, lnstruction;j QI'. V.cthm executed by per.sot'L."l 11nmcd in such Certificate oftncumbency, 
This Agreement may be modified or amended only upon tbe written consent ofllotb Sponsor aud tho 
.Escrow Agent. Neither tl1is Agreement nor any interest herein may be transferred or assigned v.1tl1011t 
tl1e express written consent of each of the parties hereto. 

18, If anyone or more ofthi, covenants._oJ.' agree_tnents: provided in this Agreement shall be 
detennined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be contrary to law, stich covenant or agreement shall 
be deemed and constructed to be severable from the re1naiuin3 covenants a11d agteenients hereiil 
contained. and Shall in no way affect the -validity-of the rema:inin~ pro;visions of this Agrc~ment. 

19. This Agreement may be executed in several countc1parts, all or MY of which shall be regarded 
for all purposes as 011e original and shall constiMe and be l)ut one and the same instrument. Electronic, 
PDF or facsimile vemions of this Agreement sholl have the same leb'111 effect os originals, andall of 
which, when fully executed, shall constitute one and the same instrument. 

20. This Agreement shall be construed and enforced ill accordance with the laws of the State of 
North Carolina. 

[.sig~at11111 pagejo//ow.s] 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the p;,rtles hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date and year 
first wrltlen above. 

Arbor Acre• lJnitcd Methodist Reti.remcllt C.ommwtlty, 'fne., AS SPONSOR 

{)J_ {f\~-
By: ~tl~~· 
Name: David W. Matthews, CPA 

Title: Chief Financial Officer 

Truist, AS ESCROW :,\.GENT 

By:~~ 

Title, \J , et v>w<1cl ~J/L,t 
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~llllTA 

Cert!tioate ofl®Ulnbeooy 
(List of AuthorizcdRcp,esenl<!tives) 

Client Namo: Arbor Aor<• Unil)ld Methodist Retlremeo! Community, !II(). 

Aun Au!borl.,.ed oaic.t of tho !lbove ..,ferenctd eutUy,lltercby certify 1hat .. ch _person liswd below is 
!ll1 ll1Jtborizod siF lb, such en1i()I. and th!rt llle tillosnd slgnotw:o appearlll!! bllllideonc!rnanlC is lroe 
lli1dcom:ot. 

N•""' T ... Phono .Nttmwr(cJ e.,.u ~dtl-

-w.~ President end CEO 336,724.m1,121s il;!QftlaaRte@erbmncrt, 
IJ!li ____ , 

~!lll~li!i~•r KMIIO!h W, ~le, 1/P~nd O!:!O 336.724,7921 ~1419 
ll - dID!!ffllliw-rJ>IWIQ!ll ~W.f.faftttSIIIS \/PaildOFO 3'le.7:M,1921 ,1222 

l!.Slm 

IN WITNllSlj WHEIUlOF, !his cortlnoatc hos been .,..,i,led by a duly aulhotlwd ofijcer on: 

Date: ,, /, r /.,.t,,,, Q 
t I 
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Exhibit B 

'l'rubt, as &crow Agont FEES PAY ADLE TO ESCROW AGENT 

Acceptonce/Logal Review Foe: !i1,ooo.oo -o.ne ti)ne o.l\lypayable at the time of sig1ting the 
Escrow Agreement 

(Fee is waived If no legal review ia needodJ 

The Legal Review Fee includes review of all related documents a11d accepting the appointment ofEscrow 
Ajienl on. behalf of Truist !lank. Tho lee also includes setting !Ip tho required accouut(s) and accounting 
records, document filing, and coordinating the receipt of funds/as,ets for deposit to the Escrow Account. 
This is a on~timc fee payable ·upon execution of the Escrow Agreementf As soon a.c: Truist Bank'·s 
attorney begins. to review the Escrow Agrecmim,t. -the tegat review fee is subject to payment regardless if 
the Parties decide to appoint a ~t -~sc1·ow agent 01· a ·decision is; niade that the E.wrow Agreement is 
JlQ! needed. 

Administration Fee~ $3,500 - payable at the time of signing the Esotow Agreement and 
on the anniversary date thereafter, ifapplicable 

The Administration fee inoludes providing routine and standard services of llll Escrow Agent. The lee 
includes administering the escrow account, performing investment ttansactions, p:rcjccssfog cm1h 
transactions (including wires and check processing), disburSing funds jn ttccordancQ with the Agl'ee1nont 
(note any pri'ciing to.nslderations below)~ and providing tmst account statements to the Parties for a twelve 
(12) month period. If Ute account remains open beyond the twelve (12) month term, the Parties will be 
illvoioed each year on tlte anniversary date of the execution of the Escrow Agreement Extracrdim,ry 
ei<penses, Including logal counsel fees, >'ill be hilled as out-of,pocket. The Administration Fee is due 
upon oxecution of the Escrow Ag!'llement. The fees shnll be deemed eamed in full upo11 receipt by the 
Escrow Agent, and no portion shall be refundable for any reason, including without limitation, termination 
of the agreement. 

Out-of-Pocket Expenses: AtCo,t 

Out-of-pocket expenses such as, but not limited to, JJOStage, courier, overnight mail, wire trllllSfer, nuvel, 
legal (out•of•pocket to cour1sel) or acco,mting, "111 be billed at cost. 
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Independent Living 

NORTH CAROLINA ) 
) 

FORSYTH COUNTY ) 
AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into this __ day of 
_____ , 20 __ , by and between ________ ("Resident") and 
ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC., a 
North Carolina nonprofit corporation ("Arbor Acres"). Where there are two people 
signing this Agreement as a resident of Arbor Acres, "Resident" shall apply to both 
people, unless the context otherwise requires. 

Resident has applied and been approved for residency at Arbor Acres 
m _______ (house or apartment) (the "Accommodation"), and has 
received a copy of Arbor Acres' Disclosure Statement, dated 
____________ (the "Disclosure Statement"). 

Resident and Arbor Acres agree to the following: 

1. Entrance Fee and Monthly Service Fee. 

Resident agrees to pay Arbor Acres an entrance fee of 
(the "Entrance ($_~ 

Fee"), of which ______________ ($ ____ ~ is 
nonrefundable (the "Nonrefundable Fee"). Resident has the following payment 
options: (a) pay the Entrance Fee in full upon execution of this Agreement, or (b) 
pay 25% of the total Entrance Fee ($ __ _,, upon execution of this Agreement, 
with the balance to be paid no later than five (5) days prior to the Residency Date 
(as defined in Section 3 below). Resident does not acquire any ownership interest in 
the Accommodation as a result of payment of the Entrance Fee. 

Resident agrees to pay the initial monthly service fee (the "Monthly Service 
Fee"), which is the established monthly fee as of the date on this Agreement, and 
which is subject to change from time to time. Rates are typically adjusted January 
1st of each year. For a partial first month, Resident shall pay a pro-rated amount of 
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the Monthly Service Fee, on a per diem basis. Gratuities or bequests in addition to 
the established Monthly Service Fee shall not be accepted. As of the date of this 
Agreement, the Monthly Service Fee associated with the Accommodation will be: 

Monthly Service Fee 

Monthly Service Fee for Resident (includes dining allowance $. _______ _ 
plan) 
( current value of dining allowance is $ ____ ~ 

Monthly Service Fee for 2nd Resident occupying $ _______ _ 
Accommodation, if applicable (includes dining allowance plan) 

Total Monthly Service Fee for Accommodation $ ·--------

2. Monthly Statements. 

Arbor Acres will furnish Resident a monthly statement with the total 
amount of the Monthly Service Fee and other charges, if any, owed by Resident. 
Resident shall pay such fees and charges by the 10th day of the month. If Resident's 
payment is late, Arbor Acres may charge Resident a one and one-half percent (1.5%) 
interest fee per month, from the first of the month in which the payment is late. Upon 
thirty (30) days' advance written notice, Arbor Acres may change the billing date 
and payment due date. Arbor Acres shall have the right to offset against any Entrance 
Fee repayment any unpaid Monthly Service Fees or other charges owed by Resident 
to Arbor Acres. 

3. Initial Occupancy. 

Arbor Acres anticipates having the Accommodation ready for 
occupancy by ______ . Resident is not required to move into the 
Accommodation before it is ready for occupancy, or before the expiration of thirty 
(30) days from the date of this Agreement, whichever is later. Resident plans to move 
into the Accommodation on or before ______ (the "Occupancy Date"). If 
Resident should wish to change the Occupancy Date, Resident will advise Arbor 
Acres immediately ( on or before the Occupancy Date). Upon receipt of Resident's 
request, and if Arbor Acres determines that another date is feasible, Arbor Acres will 
undertake to work out with Resident another mutually agreeable Occupancy Date. 
Resident agrees to pay Arbor Acres' Monthly Service Fees and other charges for use 
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of the Accommodation from the earlier of (a) the date of actual occupancy (the first 
night of residency or when personal property is moved into the Accommodation) or 
(b) ______ (the "Residency Date"). Resident has selected all interior 
finishes (paint colors, carpeting and floor covering as may be necessary to prepare 
the Accommodation for Resident) and has advised Arbor Acres of those selections. 

4. Resident's Right to Rescind or Cancel Within the First Thirty 
(30) Days or Resident's Failure to Move to Arbor Acres. 

( a) Within thirty (30) days following the later of the execution of this 
Agreement or delivery of the Disclosure Statement (the "Rescission Period"), 
Resident may rescind this Agreement by delivering to Arbor Acres a signed, written 
notice of rescission. Resident is not required to move into the Accommodation 
during the Rescission Period. If Resident dies before occupying the 
Accommodation, or if, on account of illness, injury or incapacity Resident should be 
precluded from occupying the Accommodation, this Agreement shall be 
automatically cancelled. If this Agreement is neither rescinded nor cancelled and 
Resident fails to move to Arbor Acres by the Residency Date, this Agreement may 
be terminated by Arbor Acres or Resident upon written notice to the other. 

(b) If Resident rescinds this Agreement, this Agreement is 
automatically cancelled as described in Section 4(a) above or Resident fails to move 
to Arbor Acres by the Residency Date and this Agreement is terminated by either 
Arbor Acres or Resident, Resident or Resident's legal representative will receive a 
refund of the Entrance Fee, less the following: (i) the Nonrefundable Fee; (ii) any 
Monthly Service Fees or other costs charged for the time Resident shall have resided 
at Arbor Acres; and (iii) those nonstandard costs specifically incurred by Arbor 
Acres at the request of Resident and described in a signed addendum to this 
Agreement. Payment of the refund is to be made from the Entrance Fee received by 
Arbor Acres from the next occupant of the Accommodation. 

5. Refund Upon Termination of Residency After the First 30 Days 
and Within 50 Months. 

If Resident, for any reason, vacates and permanently terminates 
residency at Arbor Acres after the Rescission Period and within fifty (50) months 
following the Residency Date, Resident shall be entitled to a refund of the Entrance 
Fee. This refund shall be determined as follows: upon receiving payment of an 
Entrance Fee from an acceptable substitute resident for Resident's Accommodation, 
Arbor Acres will refund to Resident ( or to Resident's estate) the amount of 
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Resident's Entrance Fee less the following: (a) the Nonrefundable Fee; (b) two 
percent (2%) of the remainder (the Entrance Fee less the Nonrefundable Fee) for 
each month, from the month of the Residency Date to the Date of Termination of 
Occupancy (as defined in Section 6 below), up to the full refundable amount of 
Resident's Entrance Fee (for this purpose, one-half month or more shall be 
considered as a full month; less than one-half month shall be disregarded); ( c) any 
unpaid Monthly Service Fees, costs or other obligations of Resident to Arbor Acres; 
and ( d) those nonstandard costs specifically incurred by Arbor Acres at the request 
of Resident and described in a signed addendum to this Agreement. Payment of the 
refund is to be made from the Entrance Fee received by Arbor Acres from the next 
occupant of the Accommodation. Resident shall receive no refund if Resident's final 
tennination of all rights of residency at Arbor Acres occurs after the fifty ( 50) month 
period following the Residency Date. 

6. Notice of Termination of Occupancy. 

If after moving to Arbor Acres and the expiration of the Rescission 
Period, Resident should decide to terminate this Agreement and residency at Arbor 
Acres, Resident will give Arbor Acres a minimum of thirty (30) days advance 
written notice stating the date on which Resident plans to terminate residency. This 
Agreement, and Resident's obligation to pay the Monthly Service Fee and other 
charges, shall continue in effect until Resident vacates the Accommodation and 
removes all personal property from the premises or until the end of the thirty (30) 
day notice period, whichever is later (the "Date of Termination of Occupancy"). If 
Resident permanently vacates the Accommodation, Arbor Acres reserves the right 
to remove Resident's personal property from the Accommodation and store such 
personal property, and Resident shall be responsible for the reasonable costs of such 
removal and storage. Unclaimed personal property will become the property of 
Arbor Acres after thirty (30) days, and Arbor Acres may dispose of such personal 
property in its sole discretion. 

7. Transfer to a Higher Level of Care Within 90 Days. 

If within ninety (90) days after the Residency Date, Resident transfers 
to Arbor Acres' assisted living facility (the "Assisted Living Facility") or Arbor 
Acres' skilled nursing facility ( the "Skilled Nursing Facility"), Resident will be 
entitled to a refund, which will be calculated as set out in Section 5 above. Resident 
shall not be required to pay an additional Entrance Fee on transferring to the Assisted 
Living Facility or the Skilled Nursing Facility. 
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8. Terms and Conditions of Initial Residency and Continued 
Residency. 

Resident shall have the right to occupy the Accommodation and to 
reside at Arbor Acres subject to the provisions of this Agreement and subject to the 
following understandings, terms and conditions: 

(a) Health and Financial Qualification for Residency 

At the time of the execution of this Agreement, Arbor Acres has 
determined that Resident qualifies for residency both with respect to mental and 
physical condition and ability to take care of the anticipated Monthly Service Fees 
and other charges. Resident must continue to meet these qualifications at the time 
Resident enters Arbor Acres. If Resident is not qualified to occupy the 
Accommodation, but is qualified (financially and otherwise) to reside in other 
accommodations at Arbor Acres, Resident shall be entitled to such accommodation 
when space permits. 

(b) Financial Obligation Including Obligation to Pay Fees and 
Charges 

In order to operate Arbor Acres on a fiscally sound, nonprofit 
basis, Arbor Acres has established fees and charges, which are subject to 
modification from time to time as deemed necessary and appropriate by Arbor 
Acres. Resident agrees to pay when due all required fees and charges. Resident has 
received from Arbor Acres a schedule of current fees and charges. 

Resident agrees to provide, if requested, periodic financial 
statements and current financial information for the purpose of demonstrating 
capacity to meet financial obligations to Arbor Acres. Should Resident experience 
financial difficulty that might result in Resident's immediate or eventual inability to 
meet the financial obligations under this Agreement, including any spend down of 
assets that might result from payment of expected fees and charges to Arbor Acres, 
Resident will inform Arbor Acres immediately, and submit a current financial 
statement. Resident and, if appropriate, Resident's responsible party, and Arbor 
Acres shall discuss and, if possible, agree on a plan by which Resident's financial 
obligation to Arbor Acres can be met. Residents whose funds are depleted primarily 
through payment of fees associated with residency, to include costs associated with 
their medical care, may be eligible for consideration for financial assistance through 
Arbor Acres. Such assistance, however, is conditional upon demonstration that other 
options for fulfilling this financial obligation to Arbor Acres have been explored and 
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deemed impracticable by either party. When Resident is deemed eligible for 
financial assistance through Arbor Acres, Arbor Acres, to the extent of its available 
resources dedicated for financial assistance, will attempt to furnish financial 
assistance when it is needed. Termination of residency for Resident's inability to 
fulfill the financial obligations incurred under this Agreement shall be an option 
exercised as necessary to assure the financial viability of Arbor Acres and of its 
financial assistance program. 

(c) Rights and Obligations During Temporary Absence 

Temporary absence because of illness, trips or otherwise shall 
not affect Resident's right to retain the Accommodation as Resident's place of 
residency. However, Resident shall not be entitled to an adjustment of Arbor Acres' 
Monthly Service Fee and other charges during such absence, and Resident shall 
continue to be charged and to pay such Monthly Service Fee and charges during such 
absence. 

( d) Requirement of Compliance with Recommendations for 
Additional Services or Care 

If Resident shall incur a physical or mental illness or impairment 
so that Resident requires additional services or a higher level of care than is available 
at the Accommodation, Arbor Acres, through its nursing and continuing care staffs 
("Nursing and Continuing Care Staffs"), will make recommendations regarding 
appropriate additional service options and/or options for transfer to a higher level of 
care. Resident agrees (i) that Arbor Acres is obligated to assure the care and safety 
of residents and, (ii) that Resident will comply with Nursing and Continuing Care 
Staffs' recommendations regarding additional services or transfer to a higher level 
of care. If such additional services or higher level of care can be provided in a 
different accommodation at Arbor Acres, Resident has a right, and may be required 
by Arbor Acres, to move to such accommodation. Arbor Acres will recommend and 
require such a move or additional services when, in the judgment of Arbor Acres, it 
is necessary and in the best interest of Resident, Arbor Acres and/or the other 
residents of Arbor Acres. Before any such move or additional services are required, 
Arbor Acres will discuss the matter with Resident and/or Resident's responsible 
party in an effort to secure Resident's understanding and cooperation with the 
required additional services or change of accommodation or level of care. Resident 
and/or Resident's responsible party shall have the right to appeal a decision to 
change Resident's accommodation and/or level of care in accordance with the 
provisions of (i) below. 

109 



( e) Requirement of Compliance With Policies, Rules and Regulations 

In order to operate Arbor Acres in the best interest of the entire 
Arbor Acres community, Arbor Acres has established policies, rules and regulations 
relating to residency, which are subject to modification from time to time as deemed 
appropriate by Arbor Acres. Resident has received information as to the current 
policies, rules and regulations in the Disclosure Statement and in other written 
information provided by Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres reserves the right to make or 
change policies, rules and regulations, and will use its reasonable efforts to 
communicate through appropriate means to all residents the substance and content 
of such additions or changes; also, copies of particular policies, rules and regulations 
relating to residency will be furnished to Resident on request. Resident agrees to 
comply with Arbor Acres' policies, rules and regulations applicable to Resident's 
residency in Arbor Acres. 

(t) Cooperation of Responsible Parties and Other Associates 

Resident understands and agrees that, in order for Arbor Acres to 
operate in the best interest of both Resident and the entire Arbor Acres community, 
Arbor Acres must have the cooperation of Resident's family, friends, responsible 
parties and other associates to comply with Arbor Acres' applicable policies, rules 
and regulations. Any continuing or repeated failure or refusal by any such persons 
to so cooperate and comply may result in a determination by Arbor Acres that it is 
no longer feasible for Arbor Acres to accommodate Resident as a resident. Upon 
such determination, Arbor Acres will have a right to tenninate Resident's residency 
at Arbor Acres. 

(g) Termination of Residency for Health Conditions Beyond Arbor 
Acres' Capacity to Serve 

If Resident's physical and/or mental condition or needs cannot 
be legally or adequately served by the facilities or programs available at Arbor 
Acres, or Resident requires or insists upon receiving care that in the judgment of 
Arbor Acres exceeds the capacity of Arbor Acres to provide within the limits of its 
staffing pattern or other available resources, Arbor Acres reserves the right to 
terminate Resident's residency. If such a circumstance arises, Arbor Acres will 
discuss the matter thoroughly with Resident and/or Resident's responsible party in 
an effort to determine a course of action in Resident's best interest. Arbor Acres will 
provide guidance and transitional support to Resident and/or Resident's responsible 
party to facilitate an orderly transfer of Resident to another, more appropriate facility 
or setting. 
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(h) Termination of Residency for Behavior Deemed Harmful to 
Arbor Acres 

If Resident is deemed competent and capable of controlling his 
or her behaviors and engages in behaviors deemed by the President/CEO to be 
disruptive, hostile, illegal, or otherwise harmful to others or to Arbor Acres, Arbor 
Acres reserves the right to terminate Resident's residency. If such a circumstance 
arises, Arbor Acres will discuss the matter thoroughly with Resident to provide 
Resident with knowledge of the behaviors deemed intolerable by Arbor Acres. Arbor 
Acres will provide Resident a written warning to desist from the behavior or any 
similarly disruptive, hostile, illegal or harmful behavior. Upon determination that 
Resident is continuing to engage in the behaviors against which Resident has been 
warned, Arbor Acres will have the right to terminate Resident's residency at Arbor 
Acres. 

(i) Right of Appeal of Transfer or Termination Decisions 

While Arbor Acres reserves the right to terminate Resident's 
residency at Arbor Acres for failure to comply with (b ), ( d), ( e), (f), (g) or (h) above, 
or for failure to comply with any other provision of this Agreement, Arbor Acres 
shall exercise such right only after first attempting to work out satisfactory solutions 
with Resident and/or Resident's responsible party. If agreement cannot be reached 
between the President/CEO and Resident and/or Resident's responsible party, the 
President/CEO will refer the matter to the Executive Committee of the Board of 
Directors of Arbor Acres (the "Executive Committee") for hearing and decision. The 
Executive Committee shall afford Resident an opportunity to be heard, and shall 
render a decision with respect to the matter referred to it. The decision of the 
Executive Committee shall be put in writing and shall be signed by the Chair of the 
Board of Directors of Arbor Acres (the "Chair") or, in the absence of the Chair, the 
Chair Elect of the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres. It is understood and agreed 
that the written, signed decision of the Executive Committee shall be final and 
binding. 

G) Terms and Conditions of Initial Residency and Continued 
Residency 

Arbor Acres reserves the right to relocate Resident to another 
accommodation when deemed necessary in order for Arbor Acres to fulfill its 
strategic financial and other obligations to the Arbor Acres community. Arbor Acres 
will exercise this right only when all other reasonable options to avoid relocating 
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Resident have been considered. Arbor Acres will use reasonable efforts to relocate 
Resident to an accommodation of the same or similar type as Resident's 
Accommodation. Any such decision to relocate Resident will be discussed 
thoroughly with Resident in order to enlist Resident's understanding of the need for 
and cooperation with the relocation. Arbor Acres will pay all required packing and 
moving costs, and all reasonable refurbishing costs necessary to achieve substantial 
comparability between the Accommodation and any new accommodation to which 
Resident may be relocated. Any decision to relocate Resident for the sake of 
enabling Arbor Acres to fulfill its strategic financial and other obligations to the 
Arbor Acres community may be appealed to the Executive Committee as outlined 
in (i) above. 

(k) Termination of Residency If Listed on a Sex Offender Registry 

Resident hereby acknowledges that it is the policy of Arbor 
Acres to conduct sex offender screening for every prospective resident, regardless 
of independent status or level of care, at the time of application for admission to 
Arbor Acres and again prior to entering into a Residency Agreement. If the 
screening shows that the prospective resident is identified as a sex offender, Arbor 
Acres will deny admission of Resident on that basis and not execute a Residency 
Agreement. In addition, Resident hereby acknowledges and agrees that if, after 
Arbor Acres and Resident have entered into a Residency Agreement, Arbor Acres 
becomes aware that Resident is listed on any sex offender registry, Arbor Acres may 
terminate this Agreement with Resident and remove Resident from Arbor Acres. If 
there is more than one resident who is a party to this Agreement, the termination of 
this Agreement in such instance shall only apply to the resident listed on the sex 
offender registry. 

(1) Healthcare Outside of Arbor Acres 

Arbor Acres assumes no obligation or responsibility for the 
provision of residential or nursing or health care facilities or services to Resident 
beyond those facilities and services from time to time established and provided by 
Arbor Acres. 

(m) Personal Belongings 

Arbor Acres will not be responsible for the loss of or damage to 
any property belonging to Resident due to theft, mysterious disappearance, fire, 
employee accident, or any other cause. It is understood that Resident has the 
responsibility of providing any desired insurance protection covering any such loss. 
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9. Standard Services to be Provided. 

Arbor Acres agrees to provide standard services to Resident at no 
additional cost beyond the Monthly Service Fee, and has informed Resident of these 
services and other services through written information available to all residents. At 
the time of execution of this Agreement, the standard services include: 

(1) Maintenance of buildings and grounds, including maintenance of all 
standard equipment in the Accommodation; 

(2) Utilities, as described below; 
(3) Basic cable television and internet service; 
( 4) Telephone jacks; 
(5) Emergency call system, nursing assessments and assistance m 

emergencies; 
(6) Routine consultation regarding health concerns with nursing personnel 

in the health clinic of Arbor Acres; 
(7) Recreational, educational, cultural, wellness and spiritual life 

programs, to the extent provided by Arbor Acres; 
(8) Transportation to routine, non-emergency medical appointments within 

Forsyth County (transportation by ambulance not included); 
(9) In-patient care in the Arbor Acres Health Center for a limited number 

of days; 
(10) Weekly housekeeping and annual deep cleaning of the 

Accommodation; 
(11) Laundering of bed and bath linens furnished by Arbor Acres; 
(12) Security personnel on duty in the Arbor Acres Welcome Center; 

and 
(13) Dining services with meals or a meal allowance, as included in 

the Monthly Service Fee. 

Water and sewer services are included in the Monthly Service Fee. 
Electricity and gas is also included, except for residents in accommodations that are 
individually metered who are billed directly by the gas and electricity service 
providers. Resident has been informed that the Accommodation [is (is not)] 
individually metered. Resident has been informed in writing of the terms applicable 
to Resident's meal plan. 

Other services that are available and included in the Monthly Service 
Fee are a daily, automatic check-in system, check-cashing services, package 
shipping, access to washers/dryers and complete kitchens and sitting areas. 
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Arbor Acres may also make available to Resident additional services, 
at Resident's request, at the then prevailing rates charged by Arbor Acres, which 
may be changed from time to time at the discretion of Arbor Acres. 

Arbor Acres residents pay Monthly Service Fees and other charges to 
cover services provided by Arbor Acres. At least annually, during budget 
preparation, Arbor Acres reviews services and costs of operation, and the need for 
any changes in services or in Arbor Acres' schedule of fees and charges. Arbor Acres 
reserves the right to change, when deemed necessary, the services provided to 
residents and the associated fees and charges. Arbor Acres will strive to deliver 
services efficiently and economically. 

10. Alterations and Refurbishment. 

Resident must obtain the prior written approval of Arbor Acres before 
making any alterations to the Accommodation. Customary refurbishment costs of 
the Accommodation that are provided by Arbor Acres in accordance with its policies 
and procedures are included in the Monthly Service Fee. Any refurbishment costs 
beyond Arbor Acres' customary refurbishment costs shall be the responsibility of 
Resident. 

11. Transfer to Higher Level of Care. 

Resident shall have priority over non-residents for entry into the 
Assisted Living Facility or the Skilled Nursing Facility. Although Arbor Acres 
cannot guarantee Resident entry into the Assisted Living Facility or the Skilled 
Nursing Facility, Arbor Acres will use its reasonable efforts to accommodate 
Resident's entry. If Resident requires a higher level of care, and the Assisted Living 
Facility and the Skilled Nursing Facility are fully occupied, Resident shall relocate 
to an alternate healthcare facility. In the event of such relocation, Arbor Acres will 
use reasonable efforts to transfer Resident to the Assisted Living Facility or the 
Skilled Nursing Facility when accommodations become available. Resident shall be 
responsible for all fees, costs and expenses. If Resident's transfer to the Assisted 
Living Facility, the Skilled Nursing Facility or an alternate healthcare facility is 
temporary, Resident shall remain responsible for the Monthly Service Fee; however, 
Resident shall not be responsible for the Monthly Service Fee if such relocation is 
permanent. In the event that there are two Residents in the Accommodation, and 
only one Resident permanently transfers to a higher level of care, the remaining 
Resident will pay the Monthly Service Fee for single occupancy in addition to all 
other costs and charges. 
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12. Application for Benefits; Assignment of Benefits. 

Resident shall apply for any federal, state or local benefits for which 
Resident may be eligible or entitled upon request by Arbor Acres. If requested by 
Arbor Acres, any or all such benefits will be applied to the Monthly Service Fee or 
other charges incurred by Resident at Arbor Acres. 

13. Health Insurance. 

Resident shall maintain eligible Medicare coverage (and supplemental 
health insurance coverage) or other health insurance coverage that adequate! y covers 
hospital, medical, prescriptions and skilled nursing deductibles and co-payments 
required under Resident's primary insurance policy. Resident's primary and 
secondary insurance coverage must recognize Arbor Acres as a healthcare provider, 
or Resident shall be responsible for services rendered that otherwise could be 
covered by insurance. 

If Resident's health insurance coverage lapses, Arbor Acres may 
require Resident to reapply for suitable insurance coverage. If Resident is unable to 
obtain suitable insurance coverage, Resident shall be responsible for any healthcare 
services rendered that otherwise could be covered by insurance. Upon request by 
Arbor Acres, Resident shall provide evidence of health insurance coverage. 

14. Medicare-Certified Skilled Nursing Facility Beds. 

Arbor Acres maintains a limited number of Medicare-certified beds in 
the Skilled Nursing Facility, which are available for use by residents whose skilled 
nursing care would qualify for Medicare payment on an "if and as available" basis. 
In the event that Resident needs admission and the admission would qualify for 
Medicare payment, then Resident's financial responsibility to Arbor Acres will 
depend upon the type of Medicare coverage that Resident has and whether Arbor 
Acres is a contractual provider for Resident's coverage. 

(a) Medicare-certified bed is not available. 

In the event that there is not a Medicare-certified bed at Arbor Acres at 
the time that Resident requires admission, then Resident may either choose to obtain 
skilled nursing care services at another healthcare facility at Resident's cost until 
such time as a Medicare-certified bed becomes available at Arbor Acres (presuming 
that Resident would use a facility that could provide a Medicare-certified bed) or be 
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admitted to a bed in the Skilled Nursing Facility at Resident's cost which is not 
certified to accept Medicare payment until such time as a Medicare-certified bed 
becomes available at Arbor Acres. 

(b) Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has traditional 
Medicare. 

If Resident is admitted to a Medicare-certified bed in the Skilled 
Nursing Facility and Resident has traditional Medicare coverage, Arbor Acres will 
accept the Medicare reimbursement amount for such care while Resident shall be 
responsible for any applicable deductible, co-payment and/or co-insurance amounts 
that are not paid by Medicare and any supplemental Medicare insurance that 
Resident maintains. 

(c) Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has Medicare 
Advantage coverage for which Arbor Acres is an in-network 
provider. 

In the event that Arbor Acres is an in-network provider for Resident's 
Medicare Advantage coverage, then Arbor Acres will accept the reimbursement 
amount from Resident's Medicare Advantage insurance carrier while Resident shall 
be responsible for any deductible, co-payment and/or co-insurance amounts that are 
not paid by the Medicare Advantage insurance that Resident maintains. 

( d) Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has Medicare 
Advantage coverage for which Arbor Acres is not an in-network 
provider. 

Arbor Acres will charge Resident the full private-payment amount for 
Resident's admission into a Medicare-certified bed and credit against Resident's 
financial obligation to Arbor Acres the amount that is paid by Resident's Medicare 
Advantage insurance if the insurance provides an out-of-network benefit. In the 
event that Resident's Medicare Advantage insurance will not pay any amount to an 
out-of-network provider, then Resident will not be admitted to a Medicare-certified 
bed at Arbor Acres. A full private-pay Resident in a Medicare-certified bed may be 
required by Arbor Acres to relocate to a bed that is not Medicare certified when such 
a bed becomes available. 
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15. United Methodist Affiliation. 

Arbor Acres is affiliated with the Western North Carolina Annual 
Conference of The United Methodist Church, which is not responsible for the 
financial and contractual obligations of Arbor Acres. 

16. Required Documents. 

Resident agrees to keep in effect an appropriate Durable Power of 
Attorney or other designation of responsible party, and agrees to provide copies of 
the following documents to Arbor Acres by the first day of residency, and deliver 
any changes to such documents to Arbor Acres during Resident's residency at Arbor 
Acres: (a) health insurance coverage information; (b) copy of current Durable Power 
of Attorney for business management; (c) copy of current Health Care Power of 
Attorney and Living Will; and ( d) evidence of the executor or other legally 
responsible person of Resident's estate, such as a copy of Resident's will 
documenting the name of the executor of his or her estate. 

17. Multiple Residents. 

(a) Joint and Several Liability 

When Resident includes more than one individual, the rights and 
obligations under this Agreement are joint and several. 

(b) Transfer, Death or Termination by One Resident 

If two Residents occupy a single Accommodation under the terms of 
this Agreement and one Resident permanently transfers to the Assisted Living 
Facility or the Skilled Nursing Facility, dies or terminates this Agreement, this 
Agreement shall continue with respect to the remaining Resident, and such Resident 
shall have the option to remain in the same Accommodation or relocate to a smaller 
accommodation, and in such event the remaining Resident shall not be entitled to 
any refund. The remaining Resident shall be responsible for the Monthly Service 
Fee for one resident associated with the Accommodation occupied by such Resident. 

( c) Sharing Occupancy After Entry 

If Resident, while occupying the Accommodation, desires to share an 
accommodation with another resident of Arbor Acres, the two residents may occupy 
the accommodation of either resident, with the prior written consent of Arbor Acres. 
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In such event, the residents shall surrender the other accommodation and no refund 
shall be paid for such surrender. Thereafter, Resident and the other resident shall pay 
the Monthly Service Fee associated with the occupied acc01nmodation for double 
occupancy. 

If Resident, while occupying the Accommodation, desires to share an 
accommodation with a person who is not a resident of Arbor Acres (the "Non­
Resident"), the Non-Resident must meet the then current requirements for admission 
to Arbor Acres, enter into the then current version of the Residency Agreement, and 
pay the then current second person entrance fee. Thereafter, Resident and the new 
resident shall pay the Monthly Service Fee associated with the occupied 
accommodation for double occupancy. If the Non-Resident does not meet the 
requirements contained in this paragraph, Resident may voluntarily terminate this 
Agreement as provided in this Agreement. If Resident subsequently transfers to the 
Assisted Living Facility or the Skilled Nursing Facility, dies or terminates this 
Agreement, the new resident shall be responsible to pay the full, then-current 
Entrance Fee for the Accommodation occupied by such new resident, less the second 
person entrance fee previously paid by the new resident. 

( d) Combination of Accommodation 

If Arbor Acres determines that it is desirable to combine the 
Accommodation with an adjoining accommodation, Resident agrees to surrender 
occupancy of the Accommodation within a reasonable time after receiving notice 
from Arbor Acres. In such event, Resident shall have the option to transfer into the 
combined accommodation when ready for occupancy or transfer to another 
accommodation, when available, of the same or similar type previously occupied by 
Resident. If Resident elects to occupy the combined accommodation, Resident shall 
be responsible for the Monthly Service Fee associated with occupancy of such 
accommodation. 

18. Moving Costs. 

Resident is responsible for any and all packing and moving costs 
incurred by Resident for moves into, within and out of Arbor Acres, except as 
provided in Section 8G) above. Arbor Acres may provide assistance at an additional 
cost. Arbor Acres reserves the right to charge an administrative fee for Resident's 
move within Arbor Acres. 
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19. Entire Agreement. 

This Agreement, together with any Arbitration Agreement between 
Resident and Arbor Acres, contain the entire agreement of Arbor Acres and 
Resident. Arbor Acres will not be liable or bound in any manner by any statements, 
representations, or promises made by any person representing or claiming to 
represent Arbor Acres, unless such statements, representations, or promises are set 
forth in this Agreement. 

20. Capacity. 

This Agreement has been executed on behalf of Arbor Acres by Arbor 
Acres' duly authorized agent, and no officer, trustee, agent or employee of Arbor 
Acres shall have any personal liability to Resident under this Agreement. 

21. Amendments and Modifications. 

This Agreement shall not be modified, amended or changed in any 
respect except in writing signed by Arbor Acres and Resident. Each waives any right 
to amend this Agreement in any other way. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Arbor 
Acres may amend this Agreement to ensure compliance with applicable laws and 
regulations. 

22. Waiver. 

Neither the failure nor any delay on the part of any party to exercise any 
right, remedy, power or privilege ("Right") under this Agreement shall operate as a 
waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial waiver of any Right preclude any 
exercise of the same or of any other Right. No waiver shall be in effect unless in 
writing and signed by the party asserted to have granted such waiver. 

23. Severability. 

The invalidity of any restriction, condition or other provision of this 
Agreement, or any part of the same, shall not impair or affect in any way the validity 
or enforceability of the rest of this Agreement. 
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24. Interpretation. 

The headings in this Agreement are for convenience and reference only, 
and shall not affect the interpretation of any provision of this Agreement. 

25. Successors and Assigns. 

Except as set forth herein, this Agreement shall bind and inure to the 
benefit of the successors and assigns of Arbor Acres and the heirs, executors, 
responsible parties, attorneys-in-fact and administrators of Resident. 

26. Assignment. 

This Agreement may not be assigned by Resident. 

27. Indemnity. 

Resident agrees to indemnify, defend and hold Arbor Acres harmless 
from any and all claims, damages or expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees 
and court costs) resulting or arising from any injury or death to persons and/or 
damages caused by, resulting from or attributable to or in any way connected with, 
directly or indirectly, the act or omission of Resident or Resident's guests, including 
private duty nurses, companions or others. This Section 27 shall survive termination 
of this Agreement. 

28. Governing Law; Venue; Disputes. 

This Agreement shall be governed by, interpreted, construed and 
enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of North Carolina, without giving 
effect to any choice oflaw or conflict oflaw rules or provisions that would cause the 
application oflaws or any jurisdiction other than North Carolina. Except to the extent 
that the parties have agreed to an alternative mechanism for the resolution of a 
dispute, to the full extent permitted by law, any action, suit or proceeding arising out 
of or relating to this Agreement shall be brought and enforced in the courts of the 
State of North Carolina located in Forsyth County or of the United States District 
Court for the Middle District of North Carolina, and the parties hereby irrevocably 
submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of such courts and irrevocably waive any 
objection that they may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any such 
action or proceeding in such courts. In the event of any such dispute, the non­
prevailing party shall pay all reasonable costs, expenses and attorneys' fees incurred 
by the prevailing party. 
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29. Survival. 

Those rights and obligations that have accrued under this Agreement 
shall survive its termination, as shall those rights and obligations that by their terms 
survive termination and any provisions that must survive to give effect to their terms, 
as shall any obligation of Resident to pay costs or expenses of his or her residency 
at Arbor Acres that remain unpaid as of such termination. 

30. Management of Arbor Acres. 

The absolute rights of management are reserved by Arbor Acres and its 
Board of Directors. Arbor Acres reserves the right to accept or reject any person as 
a resident. Residents do not have the right to determine admission or terms of 
acceptance of any other resident. 

31. Uncontrollable Interruption of Services. 

No breach of Arbor Acres' obligations under this Agreement and no 
liability for injury to Resident or Resident's property shall result from an interruption 
of, or failure to provide, contracted services due to an act of God or other cause 
beyond the reasonable control of Arbor Acres, specifically including (without 
limitation) strikes or other forms of labor disturbances, government regulations 
and/or embargoes, shortages oflabor or materials, fire, flood, earthquakes, inclement 
weather or acts of the Resident. Arbor Acres shall make reasonable efforts to 
continue to provide the usual services in such event. 

32. Confidentiality. 

Arbor Acres has the responsibility to keep all of the personal, medical, 
and financial information Resident has supplied to Arbor Acres confidential. 
Resident agrees that Arbor Acres can disclose such information to those who have a 
need, in Arbor Acres' judgment, or right to know. 

33. Rights Subordinate to Mortgage. 

Pursuant to the requirements of any lender, Resident agrees that 
Resident's rights under this Agreement are subordinate to the right of the lender 
under any mortgage, deed of trust or security interest executed now or in the future 
by Arbor Acres. 
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34. Notice Provisions. 

Notices required by this Agreement will be in writing and delivered 
either by personal delivery or mail. If delivered by mail, notices will be sent by 
certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, with all postage and charges 
prepaid. Notices and other communications will be deemed to have been given when 
delivered by personal delivery or if mailed, such notice shall be deemed to have been 
given on the third business day after being deposited in the United States mail, 
postage prepaid. All notices and other written communications required under this 
Agreement will be addressed to Resident or to Resident's personal representative at 
the address provided to Arbor Acres. Notices shall be sent to us at the following 
address: 

Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. 
1240 Arbor Road 
Winston-Salem, NC 27104 
Attention: President and CEO 

Resident's address for the purpose of giving notice is the address 
appearing after Resident's signature below or such other address Resident provides 
to Arbor Acres in writing. 

[Signature Page Follows] 
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Resident has executed this Agreement and Arbor Acres has caused this Agreement 
to be executed in its name by a duly authorized person as of the day and year written 
above. 

Resident Name: ------------

Resident Address: 

Street Address 

City, State & Zip Code 

ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC. 

By: __________________ _ 

Title: ·------------------
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Assisted Living 

NORTH CAROLINA ) 
) 

FORSYTH COUNTY ) 
AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into this __ day of 
_____ , 20 __ , by and between ________ ("Resident") and 
ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC., a 
North Carolina nonprofit corporation ("Arbor Acres"). 

Resident has applied and been approved for residency at Arbor Acres 
m ______ _., room number ____ (the "Accomn10dation"), and has 
received a copy of Arbor Acres' Disclosure Statement, dated 
____________ (the "Disclosure Statement"). 

Resident and Arbor Acres agree to the following: 

30. Entrance Fee and Daily Fee. 

The Entrance Fee established by Arbor Acres for residency in Arbor 
Acres' assisted living facility (the "Assisted Living Facility"), where it is anticipated 
Resident will reside, is TWO THOUSAND EIGHT HUNDRED DOLLARS AND 
NO/100 Dollars ($2,800.00) (the "Entrance Fee"), the amount being paid by 
Resident herewith in full. (The Entrance Fee is separate and distinct from Arbor 
Acres' fees and charges to residents for food, maintenance, medical, nursing and 
other services.) The Entrance Fee for residency in the Assisted Living Facility is a 
non-refundable fee except as provided in Section 5. If Resident moves to an 
independent living unit, the Entrance Fee will be applied toward the Entrance Fee 
for that unit as provided in Section 7(1). 

Resident agrees to pay the initial daily fee (the "Daily Fee"), which is the 
established daily fee as of the date on this Agreement, and which is subject to change 
from time to time. Rates are typically adjusted January I st of each year. Gratuities or 
bequests in addition to the established Daily Fee shall not be accepted. As of the date 
of this Agreement, the Daily Fee associated with the Accommodation will be: 

Daily Fee 

Daily Fee for Resident (includes meals, laundry and utilities) $ ______ _ 
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31. Monthly Statements. 

Arbor Acres will furnish Resident a monthly statement with the total 
amount of the Daily Fee and other charges, if any, owed by Resident. Resident shall 
pay such fees and charges by the 10th day of the month. If Resident's payment is late, 
Arbor Acres may charge Resident a one and one-half percent (1.5%) interest fee per 
month, from the first of the month in which the payment is late. Upon thirty (30) 
days' advance written notice, Arbor Acres may change the billing date and payment 
due date. Arbor Acres shall have the right to offset against any Entrance Fee 
repayment any unpaid Daily Fees or other charges owed by Resident to Arbor Acres. 

32. Room Assignment. 

Resident understands that Resident acquires no ownership interest in 
any property at Arbor Acres under this Agreement; also, that no particular room or 
unit in the Assisted Living Facility is subject to reservation or permanent 
assignment, and that Arbor Acres may change Resident's room assignment in the 
Assisted Living Facility. Though Arbor Acres retains the right to change Resident's 
room assignment, Arbor Acres agrees that it will make changes only as Arbor Acres 
finds such changes to be necessary or advisable. 

33. Initial Occupancy. 

Arbor Acres anticipates having the Accommodation ready for 
occupancy by ______ . Resident is not required to move into the 
Accommodation before it is ready for occupancy, or before the expiration of thirty 
(30) days from the date of this Agreement, whichever is later. Resident plans to move 
into the Accommodation on or before ______ (the "Occupancy Date"). If 
Resident should wish to change the Occupancy Date, Resident will advise Arbor 
Acres immediately (on or before the Occupancy Date). Upon receipt of Resident's 
request, and if Arbor Acres determines that another date is feasible, Arbor Acres will 
undertake to work out with Resident another mutually agreeable Occupancy Date. 
Resident agrees to pay Arbor Acres' Daily Fees and other charges for use of the 
Accommodation from the earlier of (a) the date of actual occupancy (the first night 
of residency or when personal property is moved into the Accommodation) or (b) 
______ (the "Residency Date"). 
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34. Resident's Right to Rescind or Cancel Within the First Thirty 
(30) Days or Resident's Failure to Move to Arbor Acres. 

(a) Within thirty (30) days following the later of the execution of this 
Agreement or delivery of the Disclosure Statement (the "Rescission Period"), 
Resident may rescind this Agreement by delivering to Arbor Acres a signed, written 
notice of rescission. Resident is not required to move into the Accommodation 
during the Rescission Period. If Resident dies before occupying the 
Accommodation, or if, on account of illness, injury or incapacity Resident should be 
precluded from occupying the Accommodation, this Agreement shall be 
automatically cancelled. If this Agreement is neither rescinded nor cancelled and 
Resident fails to move to Arbor Acres by the Residency Date, this Agreement may 
be terminated by Arbor Acres or Resident upon written notice to the other. 

(b) If Resident rescinds this Agreement, this Agreement is 
automatically cancelled as described in Section 5(a) above or Resident fails to move 
to Arbor Acres by the Residency Date and this Agreement is terminated by either 
Arbor Acres or Resident, Resident or Resident's legal representative will receive a 
refund of the Entrance Fee, less the following: (i) any Daily Fees or other costs 
charged for the time Resident shall have resided at Arbor Acres; and (ii) those 
nonstandard costs specifically incurred by Arbor Acres at the request of Resident 
and described in a signed addendum to this Agreement. Payment of the refund is to 
be made from the Entrance Fee received by Arbor Acres from the next occupant of 
the Accommodation. 

35. Notice of Termination of Occupancy. 

If after moving to Arbor Acres and the expiration of the Rescission 
Period, Resident should decide to terminate this Agreement and residency at Arbor 
Acres, Resident will give Arbor Acres a minimum of fourteen (14) days advance 
written notice stating the date on which Resident plans to terminate residency. This 
Agreement, and Resident's obligation to pay the Daily Fee and other charges, shall 
continue in effect until Resident vacates the Accommodation or until the end of the 
fourteen (14) day notice period, whichever is later (the "Date of Termination of 
Occupancy"). If Resident permanently vacates the Accommodation, Arbor Acres 
reserves the right to remove Resident's personal property from the Accommodation 
and store such personal property, and Resident shall be responsible for the 
reasonable costs of such removal and storage. Unclaimed personal property will 
become the property of Arbor Acres after thirty (30) days, and Arbor Acres may 
dispose of such personal property in its sole discretion. 
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36. Terms and Conditions of Initial Residency and Continued 
Residency. 

Resident shall have the right to occupy the Accommodation and to 
reside at Arbor Acres subject to the provisions of this Agreement and subject to the 
following understandings, terms and conditions: 

(a) Health and Financial Qual(ficationfor Residency 

At the time of the execution of this Agreement, Arbor Acres has 
determined that Resident qualifies for residency both with respect to mental and 
physical condition and ability to take care of the anticipated Daily Fees and other 
charges. Resident must continue to meet these qualifications at the time Resident 
enters Arbor Acres. If Resident is not qualified to occupy the Accommodation, but 
is qualified (financially and otherwise) to reside in other accommodations at Arbor 
Acres, Resident shall be entitled to such accommodation when space permits. 

(b) Financial Obligation Including Obligation to Pay Fees and 
Charges 

In order to operate Arbor Acres on a fiscally sound, nonprofit 
basis, Arbor Acres has established fees and charges, which are subject to 
modification from time to time as deemed necessary and appropriate by Arbor 
Acres. Resident agrees to pay when due all required fees and charges. Resident has 
received from Arbor Acres a schedule of current fees and charges. 

Resident agrees to provide, if requested, periodic financial 
statements and current financial information for the purpose of demonstrating 
capacity to meet financial obligations to Arbor Acres. Should Resident experience 
financial difficulty that might result in Resident's immediate or eventual inability to 
meet the financial obligations under this Agreement, including any spend down of 
assets that might result from payment of expected fees and charges to Arbor Acres, 
Resident will inform Arbor Acres immediately, and submit a current financial 
statement. Resident and, if appropriate, Resident's responsible party, and Arbor 
Acres shall discuss and, if possible, agree on a plan by which Resident's financial 
obligation to Arbor Acres can be met. Residents whose funds are depleted primarily 
through payment of fees associated with residency, to include costs associated with 
their medical care, may be eligible for consideration for financial assistance through 
Arbor Acres. Such assistance, however, is conditional upon demonstration that other 
options for fulfilling this financial obligation to Arbor Acres have been explored and 
deemed impracticable by either party. When Resident is deemed eligible for 
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financial assistance through Arbor Acres, Arbor Acres, to the extent of its available 
resources dedicated for financial assistance, will attempt to furnish financial 
assistance when it is needed. Termination of residency for Resident's inability to 
fulfill the financial obligations incurred under this Agreement shall be an option 
exercised as necessary to assure the financial viability of Arbor Acres and of its 
financial assistance program. 

(c) Rights and Obligations During Temporary Absence 

Temporary absence because of illness, trips or otherwise shall 
not affect Resident's right to retain the Accommodation as Resident's place of 
residency. However, Resident shall not be entitled to an adjustment of Arbor Acres' 
Daily Fee and other charges during such absence, and Resident shall continue to be 
charged and to pay such Daily Fee and charges during such absence. 

( d) Requirement of Compliance with Recommendations for 
Additional Services or Care 

If Resident shall incur a physical or mental illness or impairment 
so that Resident requires additional services or a higher level of care than is available 
at the Accommodation, Arbor Acres, through its nursing and continuing care staffs 
("Nursing and Continuing Care Staffs"), will make recommendations regarding 
appropriate additional service options and/or options for transfer to a higher level of 
care. Resident agrees (i) that Arbor Acres is obligated to assure the care and safety 
of residents and, (ii) that Resident will comply with Nursing and Continuing Care 
Staffs' recommendations regarding additional services or transfer to a higher level 
of care. If such additional services or higher level of care can be provided in a 
different accommodation at Arbor Acres, Resident has a right, and may be required 
by Arbor Acres, to move to such accommodation. Arbor Acres will recommend and 
require such a move or additional services when, in the judgment of Arbor Acres, it 
is necessary and in the best interest o'f Resident, Arbor Acres and/or the other 
residents of Arbor Acres. Before any such move or additional services are required, 
Arbor Acres will discuss the matter with Resident and/or Resident's responsible 
party in an effort to secure Resident's understanding and cooperation with the 
required additional services or change of accommodation or level of care. Resident 
and/or Resident's responsible party shall have the right to appeal a decision to 
change Resident's accommodation and/or level of care in accordance with the 
provisions of(i) below. 
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( e) Requirement of Compliance With Policies, Rules and Regulations 

In order to operate Arbor Acres in the best interest of the entire 
Arbor Acres community, Arbor Acres has established policies, rules and regulations 
relating to residency, which are subject to modification from time to time as deemed 
appropriate by Arbor Acres. Resident has received information as to the current 
policies, rules and regulations in the Disclosure Statement and in other written 
information provided by Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres reserves the right to make or 
change policies, rules and regulations, and will use its reasonable efforts to 
communicate through appropriate means to all residents the substance and content 
of such additions or changes; also, copies of particular policies, rules and regulations 
relating to residency will be furnished to Resident on request. Resident agrees to 
comply with Arbor Acres' policies, rules and regulations applicable to Resident's 
residency in Arbor Acres. 

(±) Cooperation of Responsible Parties and Other Associates 

Resident understands and agrees that, in order for Arbor Acres to 
operate in the best interest of both Resident and the entire Arbor Acres community, 
Arbor Acres must have the cooperation of Resident's family, friends, responsible 
parties and other associates to comply with Arbor Acres' applicable policies, rules 
and regulations. Any continuing or repeated failure or refusal by any such persons 
to so cooperate and comply may result in a determination by Arbor Acres that it is 
no longer feasible for Arbor Acres to accommodate Resident as a resident. Upon 
such determination, Arbor Acres will have a right to terminate Resident's residency 
at Arbor Acres. 

(g) Termination of Residency for Health Conditions Beyond Arbor 
Acres ' Capacity to Serve 

If Resident's physical and/or mental condition or needs cannot 
be legally or adequately served by the facilities or programs available at Arbor 
Acres, or Resident requires or insists upon receiving care that in the judgment of 
Arbor Acres exceeds the capacity of Arbor Acres to provide within the limits of its 
staffing pattern or other available resources, Arbor Acres reserves the right to 
terminate Resident's residency. If such a circumstance arises, Arbor Acres will 
discuss the matter thoroughly with Resident and/or Resident's responsible party in 
an effort to determine a course of action in Resident's best interest. Arbor Acres will 
provide guidance and transitional support to Resident and/or Resident's responsible 
party to facilitate an orderly transfer of Resident to another, more appropriate facility 
or setting. 
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(h) Termination of Residency for Behavior Deemed Harmful to 
Arbor Acres 

If Resident is deemed competent and capable of controlling his 
or her behaviors and engages in behaviors deemed by the President/CEO to be 
disruptive, hostile, illegal, or otherwise harmful to others or to Arbor Acres, Arbor 
Acres reserves the right to terminate Resident's residency. If such a circumstance 
arises, Arbor Acres will discuss the matter thoroughly with Resident to provide 
Resident with knowledge of the behaviors deemed intolerable by Arbor Acres. Arbor 
Acres will provide Resident a written warning to desist from the behavior or any 
similarly disruptive, hostile, illegal or harmful behavior. Upon determination that 
Resident is continuing to engage in the behaviors against which Resident has been 
warned, Arbor Acres will have the right to terminate Resident's residency at Arbor 
Acres. 

(i) Right of Appeal of Transfer or Termination Decisions 

While Arbor Acres reserves the right to terminate Resident's 
residency at Arbor Acres for failure to comply with (b ), ( d), ( e), (f), (g) or (h) above, 
or for failure to comply with any other provision of this Agreement, Arbor Acres 
shall exercise such right only after first attempting to work out satisfactory solutions 
with Resident and/or Resident's responsible party. If agreement cannot be reached 
between the President/CEO and Resident and/or Resident's responsible party, the 
President/CEO will refer the matter to the Executive Committee of the Board of 
Directors of Arbor Acres ( the "Executive Committee") for hearing and decision. The 
Executive Committee shall afford Resident an opportunity to be heard, and shall 
render a decision with respect to the matter referred to it. The decision of the 
Executive Committee shall be put in writing and shall be signed by the Chair of the 
Board of Directors of Arbor Acres (the "Chair") or, in the absence of the Chair, the 
Chair Elect of the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres. It is understood and agreed 
that the written, signed decision of the Executive Committee shall be final and 
binding. 

(i) Terms and Conditions of Initial Residency and Continued 
Residency 

Arbor Acres reserves the right to relocate Resident to another 
accommodation when deemed necessary in order for Arbor Acres to fulfill its 
strategic financial and other obligations to the Arbor Acres community. Arbor Acres 
will exercise this right only when all other reasonable options to avoid relocating 
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Resident have been considered. Arbor Acres will use reasonable efforts to relocate 
Resident to an accommodation of the same or similar type as Resident's 
Accommodation. Any such decision to relocate Resident will be discussed 
thoroughly with Resident in order to enlist Resident's understanding of the need for 
and cooperation with the relocation. Arbor Acres will pay all required packing and 
moving costs, and all reasonable refurbishing costs necessary to achieve substantial 
comparability between the Accommodation and any new accommodation to which 
Resident may be relocated. Any decision to relocate Resident for the sake of 
enabling Arbor Acres to fulfill its strategic financial and other obligations to the 
Arbor Acres community may be appealed to the Executive Committee as outlined 
in (i) above. 

(k) Termination of Residency If Listed on a Sex Offender Registry 

Resident hereby aclmowledges that it is the policy of Arbor 
Acres to conduct sex offender screening for every prospective resident, regardless 
of independent status or level of care, at the time of application for admission to 
Arbor Acres and again prior to entering into a Residency Agreement. If the 
screening shows that the prospective resident is identified as a sex offender, Arbor 
Acres will deny admission of Resident on that basis and not execute a Residency 
Agreement. In addition, Resident hereby acknowledges and agrees that if, after 
Arbor Acres and Resident have entered into a Residency Agreement, Arbor Acres 
becomes aware that Resident is listed on any sex offender registry, Arbor Acres may 
terminate this Agreement with Resident and remove Resident from Arbor Acres. 

(I) Relocation to Independent Living 

If Resident's health should improve sufficiently to permit 
Resident to live in a residential unit at Arbor Acres other than in Arbor Acres' skilled 
nursing facility (the "Skilled Nursing Facility") or the Assisted Living Facility, such 
a move may be made subject to availability of a unit, payment of the entrance fee 
established for the unit, less the Entrance Fee, and execution of an appropriate 
Independent Living Residency Agreement. 

(m) Healthcare Outside of Arbor Acres 

Arbor Acres assumes no obligation or responsibility for the 
provision of residential or nursing or health care facilities or services to Resident 
beyond those facilities and services from time to time established and provided by 
Arbor Acres. 
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(n) Personal Belongings 

Arbor Acres will not be responsible for the loss of or damage to 
any property belonging to Resident due to theft, mysterious disappearance, fire, 
employee accident, or any other cause. It is understood that Resident has the 
responsibility of providing any desired insurance protection covering any such loss. 

37. Standard Services to be Provided. 

Arbor Acres agrees to provide standard services to Resident at no 
additional cost beyond the Daily Fee, and has informed Resident of these services 
and other services through written information available to all residents. At the time 
of execution of this Agreement, the standard services include: 

(11) Nursing supervision (in accordance with regulatory standards; does not 
include private duty or individual nurse for each resident), prescribed 
medication administration and assistance with activities of daily living; 

(12) Maintenance of buildings and grounds, including maintenance of all 
standard equipment in the Accommodation; 

(13) Utilities, as described below; 
(14) Basic cable television and internet service; 
(15) Telephone jacks; emergency call system, and assistance in 

emergencies; 
(16) Recreational, educational, cultural, wellness and spiritual life 

programs, to the extent provided by Arbor Acres; 
(17) Transportation to routine, non-emergency medical appointments within 

Forsyth County (transportation by ambulance not included); 
(18) In°patient care in the Arbor Acres Health Center for a limited number 

of days; 
(19) Daily housekeeping and annual deep cleaning of the Accommodation; 
(20) Laundering of bed and bath linens furnished by Arbor Acres; 
(21) Laundering of personal clothing (washing, drying and folding, not 

ironing or dry cleaning); 
(22) Security personnel on duty in the Arbor Acres Welcome Center; and 
(23) Food service (3 meals daily). 

Water and sewer services are included in the Daily Fee. Electricity and 
gas is also included. 
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Arbor Acres may also make available to Resident additional services, 
at Resident's request, at the then prevailing rates charged by Arbor Acres, which 
may be changed from time to time at the discretion of Arbor Acres. 

Arbor Acres residents pay Daily Fees and other charges to cover 
services provided by Arbor Acres. At least annually, during budget preparation, 
Arbor Acres reviews services and costs of operation, and the need for any changes 
in services or in Arbor Acres' schedule of fees and charges. Arbor Acres reserves 
the right to change, when deemed necessary, the services provided to residents and 
the associated fees and charges. Arbor Acres will strive to deliver services efficiently 
and economically. 

3 8. Transfer to Higher Level of Care. 

Resident shall have priority over non-residents for entry into the Skilled 
Nursing Facility. Although Arbor Acres cannot guarantee Resident entry into the 
Skilled Nursing Facility, Arbor Acres will use its reasonable efforts to accommodate 
Resident's entry. If Resident requires a higher level of care, and the Skilled Nursing 
Facility is fully occupied or unable to provide such higher level of care, Resident 
shall relocate to an alternate healthcare facility. In the event of such relocation, Arbor 
Acres will use reasonable efforts to transfer Resident to the Skilled Nursing Facility 
when accommodations become available. Resident shall be responsible for all fees, 
costs and expenses. If Resident's transfer to the Skilled Nursing Facility or an 
alternate healthcare facility is temporary, Resident shall remain responsible for the 
Daily Fee; however, Resident shall not be responsible for the Daily Fee if such 
relocation is permanent. If Resident transfers to the Skilled Nursing Facility, 
Resident shall not be required to pay an additional Entrance Fee on transferring to 
the Skilled Nursing Facility. 

39. Application for Benefits; Assignment of Benefits. 

Resident shall apply for any federal, state or local benefits for which 
Resident may be eligible or entitled upon request by Arbor Acres. If requested by 
Arbor Acres, any or all such benefits will be applied to the Daily Fee or other charges 
incurred by Resident at Arbor Acres. 

40. Health Insurance. 

Resident shall maintain eligible Medicare coverage (and supplemental 
health insurance coverage) or other health insurance coverage that adequately covers 
hospital, medical, prescriptions and skilled nursing deductibles and co-payments 
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required under Resident's primary insurance policy. Resident's primary and 
secondary insurance coverage must recognize Arbor Acres as a healthcare provider, 
or Resident shall be responsible for services rendered that otherwise could be 
covered by insurance. 

If Resident's health insurance coverage lapses, Arbor Acres may 
require Resident to reapply for suitable insurance coverage. If Resident is unable to 
obtain suitable insurance coverage, Resident shall be responsible for any healthcare 
services rendered that otherwise could be covered by insurance. Upon request by 
Arbor Acres, Resident shall provide evidence of health insurance coverage. 

41. Medicare-Certified Skilled Nursing Facility Beds. 

Arbor Acres maintains a limited number of Medicare-certified beds in 
the Skilled Nursing Facility, which are available for use by residents whose skilled 
nursing care would qualify for Medicare payment on an "if and as available" basis. 
In the event that Resident needs admission and the admission would qualify for 
Medicare payment, then Resident's financial responsibility to Arbor Acres will 
depend upon the type of Medicare coverage that Resident has and whether Arbor 
Acres is a contractual provider for Resident's coverage. 

(b) Medicare-certified bed is not available. 

In the event that there is not a Medicare-certified bed at Arbor Acres at 
the time that Resident requires admission, then Resident may either choose to obtain 
skilled nursing care services at another healthcare facility at Resident's cost until 
such time as a Medicare-certified bed becomes available at Arbor Acres (presuming 
that Resident would use a facility that could provide a Medicare-certified bed) or be 
admitted to a bed in the Skilled Nursing Facility at Resident's cost which is not 
certified to accept Medicare payment until such time as a Medicare-certified bed 
becomes available at Arbor Acres. 

(b) Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has traditional 
Medicare. 

If Resident is admitted to a Medicare-certified bed in the Skilled 
Nursing Facility and Resident has traditional Medicare coverage, Arbor Acres will 
accept the Medicare reimbursement amount for such care while Resident shall be 
responsible for any applicable deductible, co-payment and/or co-insurance amounts 
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that are not paid by Medicare and any supplemental Medicare msurance that 
Resident maintains. 

(c) Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has Medicare 
Advantage coverage for which Arbor Acres is an in-network 
provider. 

In the event that Arbor Acres is an in-network provider for Resident's 
Medicare Advantage coverage, then Arbor Acres will accept the reimbursement 
amount from Resident's Medicare Advantage insurance carrier while Resident shall 
be responsible for any deductible, co-payment and/or co-insurance amounts that are 
not paid by the Medicare Advantage insurance that Resident maintains. 

( d) Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has Medicare 
Advantage coverage for which Arbor Acres is not an in-network 
provider. 

Arbor Acres will charge Resident the full private-payment amount for 
Resident's admission into a Medicare-certified bed and credit against Resident's 
financial obligation to Arbor Acres the amount that is paid by Resident's Medicare 
Advantage insurance if the insurance provides an out-of-network benefit. In the 
event that Resident's Medicare Advantage insurance will not pay any amount to an 
out-of-network provider, then Resident will not be admitted to a Medicare-certified 
bed at Arbor Acres. A full private-pay Resident in a Medicare-certified bed may be 
required by Arbor Acres to relocate to a bed that is not Medicare certified when such 
a bed becomes available. 

42. United Methodist Affiliation. 

Arbor Acres is affiliated with the Western North Carolina Annual 
Conference of The United Methodist Church, which is not responsible for the 
financial and contractual obligations of Arbor Acres. 

43. Required Documents. 

Resident agrees to keep in effect an appropriate Durable Power of 
Attorney or other designation of responsible party, and agrees to provide copies of 
the following documents to Arbor Acres by the first day of residency, and deliver 
any changes to such documents to Arbor Acres during Resident's residency at Arbor 
Acres: (a) health insurance coverage information; (b) copy of current Durable Power 
of Attorney for business management; (c) copy of current Health Care Power of 
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Attorney and Living Will; and (d) evidence of the executor or other legally 
responsible person of Resident's estate, such as a copy of Resident's will 
documenting the name of the executor of his or her estate. 

44. Moving Costs. 

Resident is responsible for any and all packing and moving costs 
incurred by Resident for moves into, within and out of Arbor Acres, except as 
provided in Section 7(j) above. Arbor Acres may provide assistance at an additional 
cost. Arbor Acres reserves the right to charge an administrative fee for Resident's 
move within Arbor Acres. 

45. Entire Agreement. 

This Agreement, together with any Arbitration Agreement between 
Resident and Arbor Acres, contain the entire agreement of Arbor Acres and 
Resident. Arbor Acres will not be liable or bound in any manner by any statements, 
representations, or promises made by any person representing or claiming to 
represent Arbor Acres, unless such statements, representations, or promises are set 
forth in this Agreement. 

46. Capacity. 

This Agreement has been executed on behalf of Arbor Acres by Arbor 
Acres' duly authorized agent, and no officer, trustee, agent or employee of Arbor 
Acres shall have any personal liability to Resident under this Agreement. 

47. Amendments and Modifications. 

This Agreement shall not be modified, amended or changed in any 
respect except in writing signed by Arbor Acres and Resident. Each waives any right 
to amend this Agreement in any other way. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Arbor 
Acres may amend this Agreement to ensure compliance with applicable laws and 
regulations. 

48. Waiver. 

Neither the failure nor any delay on the part of any party to exercise any 
right, remedy, power or privilege ("Right") under this Agreement shall operate as a 
waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial waiver of any Right preclude any 
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exercise of the same or of any other Right. No waiver shall be in effect unless in 
writing and signed by the party asserted to have granted such waiver. 

49. Severability. 

The invalidity of any restriction, condition or other provision of this 
Agreement, or any part of the same, shall not impair or affect in any way the validity 
or enforceability of the rest ofthis Agreement. 

50. Interpretation. 

The headings in this Agreement are for convenience and reference only, 
and shall not affect the interpretation of any provision of this Agreement. 

51. Successors and Assigns. 

Except as set forth herein, this Agreement shall bind and inure to the 
benefit of the successors and assigns of Arbor Acres and the heirs, executors, 
responsible parties, attorneys-in-fact and administrators of Resident. 

52. Assignment. 

This Agreement may not be assigned by Resident. 

53. Indemnity. 

Resident agrees to indemnify, defend and hold Arbor Acres harmless 
from any and all claims, damages or expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees 
and court costs) resulting or arising from any injury or death to persons and/or 
damages caused by, resulting from or attributable to or in any way connected with, 
directly or indirectly, the act or omission of Resident or Resident's guests, including 
private duty nurses, companions or others. This Section 24 shall survive termination 
of this Agreement. 

54. Governing Law; Venue; Disputes. 

This Agreement shall be governed by, interpreted, construed and 
enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of North Carolina, without giving 
effect to any choice of law or conflict oflaw rules or provisions that would cause the 
application oflaws or any jurisdiction other than North Carolina. Except to the extent 
that the parties have agreed to an alternative mechanism for the resolution of a 
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dispute, to the full extent permitted by law, any action, suit or proceeding arising out 
of or relating to this Agreement shall be brought and enforced in the courts of the 
State of North Carolina located in Forsyth County or of the United States District 
Court for the Middle District of North Carolina, and the parties hereby irrevocably 
submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of such courts and irrevocably waive any 
objection that they may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any such 
action or proceeding in such courts. In the event of any such dispute, the non­
prevailing party shall pay all reasonable costs, expenses and attorneys' fees incurred 
by the prevailing party. 

55. Survival. 

Those rights and obligations that have accrued under this Agreen1ent 
shall survive its termination, as shall those rights and obligations that by their terms 
survive termination and any provisions that must survive to give effect to their terms, 
as shall any obligation of Resident to pay costs or expenses of his or her resideney 
at Arbor Acres that remain unpaid as of such termination. 

56. Management of Arbor Acres. 

The absolute rights of management are reserved by Arbor Acres and its 
Board of Directors. Arbor Acres reserves the right to accept or reject any person as 
a resident. Residents do not have the right to determine admission or terms of 
acceptance of any other resident. 

57. Uncontrollable Interruption of Services. 

No breach of Arbor Acres' obligations under this Agreement and no 
liability for injury to Resident or Resident's property shall result from an interruption 
of, or failure to provide, contracted services due to an act of God or other cause 
beyond the reasonable control of Arbor Acres, specifically including (without 
limitation) strikes or other forms of labor disturbances, government regulations 
and/or embargoes, shortages oflabor onnaterials, fire, flood, earthquakes, inclement 
weather or acts of the Resident. Arbor Acres shall make reasonable efforts to 
eontinue to provide the usual services in such event. 

58. Confidentiality. 

Arbor Acres has the responsibility to keep all of the personal, medical, 
and financial information Resident has supplied to Arbor Acres confidential. 
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Resident agrees that Arbor Acres can disclose such information to those who have a 
need, in Arbor Acres' judgment, or right to lmow. 

59. Rights Subordinate to Mortgage. 

Pursuant to the requirements of any lender, Resident agrees that 
Resident's rights under this Agreement are subordinate to the right of the lender 
under any mortgage, deed of trust or security interest executed now or in the future 
by Arbor Acres. 

60. Notice Provisions. 

Notices required by this Agreement will be in writing and delivered 
either by personal delivery or mail. If delivered by mail, notices will be sent by 
certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, with all postage and charges 
prepaid. Notices and other communications will be deemed to have been given when 
delivered by personal delivery or if mailed, such notice shall be deemed to have been 
given on the third business day after being deposited in the United States mail, 
postage prepaid. All notices and other written communications required under this 
Agreement will be addressed to Resident or to Resident's personal representative at 
the address provided to Arbor Acres. Notices shall be sent to us at the following 
address: 

Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. 
1240 Arbor Road 
Winston-Salem, NC 27104 
Attention: President and CEO 

Resident's address for the purpose of giving notice is the address 
appearing after Resident's signature below or such other address Resident provides 
to Arbor Acres in writing. 

[Signature Page Follows] 
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Resident has executed this Agreement and Arbor Acres has caused this Agreement 
to be executed in its name by a duly authorized person as of the day and year written 
above. 

Resident Name: ------------

Resident Address: 

Street Address 

City, State & Zip Code 

ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC. 

By:_~~--------------­

Title: ------------------
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Skilled Nmsing 

NORTH CAROLINA ) 
) 

FORSYTH COUNTY ) 
AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into this __ day of 
_____ , 20 __ , by and between ________ ("Resident") and 
ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC., a 
North Carolina nonprofit corporation ("Arbor Acres"). 

Resident has applied and been approved for residency at Arbor Acres 
m _______ , room number _____ (the "Accommodation"), and has 
received a copy of Arbor Acres' Disclosure Statement, dated 
____________ (the "Disclosure Statement"). 

Resident and Arbor Acres agree to the following: 

61. Entrance Fee and Daily Fee. 

The Entrance Fee established by Arbor Acres for residency in Arbor 
Acres' skilled nursing facility (the "Skilled Nursing Facility"), where it is anticipated 
Resident will reside, is TWO THOUSAND EIGHT HUNDRED DOLLARS AND 
NO/100 Dollars ($2,800.00) (the "Entrance Fee"), the amount being paid by 
Resident herewith in full. (The Entrance Fee is separate and distinct from Arbor 
Acres' fees and charges to residents for food, maintenance, medical, nursing and 
other services.) The Entrance Fee for residency in the Skilled Nursing Facility is a 
non-refundable fee except as provided in Section 5. If Resident moves to an 
independent living unit, the Entrance Fee will be applied toward the Entrance Fee 
for that unit as provided in Section 7(1). 

Resident agrees to pay the initial daily fee (the "Daily Fee"), which is the 
established daily fee as of the date on this Agreement, and which is subject to change 
from time to time. Rates are typically adjusted January 1st of each year. Gratuities or 
bequests in addition to the established Daily Fee shall not be accepted. As of the date 
of this Agreement, the Daily Fee associated with the Accommodation will be: 

Daily Fee 

Daily Fee for Resident (includes meals, laundry and utilities) $ ______ _ 
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62. Monthly Statements. 

Arbor Acres will furnish Resident a monthly statement with the total 
amount of the Daily Fee and other charges, if any, owed by Resident. Resident shall 
pay such fees and charges by the 10th day of the month. If Resident's payment is late, 
Arbor Acres may charge Resident a one and one-half percent (1.5%) interest fee per 
month, from the first of the month in which the payment is late. Upon thirty (30) 
days' advance written notice, Arbor Acres may change the billing date and payment 
due date. Arbor Acres shall have the right to offset against any Entrance Fee 
repayment any unpaid Daily Fees or other charges owed by Resident to Arbor Acres. 

63. Room Assignment. 

Resident understands that Resident acquires no ownership interest in 
any property at Arbor Acres under this Agreement; also, that no particular room or 
unit in the Skilled Nursing Facility is subject to reservation or pem1anent 
assignment, and that Arbor Acres may change Resident's room assignment in the 
Skilled Nursing Facility. Though Arbor Acres retains the right to change Resident's 
room assignment, Arbor Acres agrees that it will make changes only as Arbor Acres 
finds such changes to be necessary or advisable. 

64. Initial Occupancy. 

Arbor Acres anticipates having the Accommodation ready for 
occupancy by . Resident is not required to move into the 
Accommodation before it is ready for occupancy, or before the expiration of thirty 
(30) days from the date of this Agreement, whichever is later. Resident plans to move 
into the Accommodation on or before ______ (the "Occupancy Date"). If 
Resident should wish to change the Occupancy Date, Resident will advise Arbor 
Acres immediately (on or before the Occupancy Date). Upon receipt of Resident's 
request, and if Arbor Acres determines that another date is feasible, Arbor Acres will 
undertake to work out with Resident another mutually agreeable Occupancy Date. 
Resident agrees to pay Arbor Acres' Daily Fees and other charges for use of the 
Accommodation from the earlier of (a) the date of actual occupancy (the first night 
of residency or when personal property is moved into the Accommodation) or (b) 
______ (the "Residency Date"). 
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65. Resident's Right to Rescind or Cancel Within the First Thirty 
{30) Days or Resident's Failure to Move to Arbor Acres. 

(a) Within thirty (30) days following the later of the execution of this 
Agreement or delivery of the Disclosure Statement (the "Rescission Period"), 
Resident may rescind this Agreement by delivering to Arbor Acres a signed, written 
notice of rescission. Resident is not required to move into the Accommodation 
during the Rescission Period. If Resident dies before occupying the 
Accommodation, or if, on account of illness, injury or incapacity Resident should be 
precluded from occupying the Accommodation, this Agreement shall be 
automatically cancelled. If this Agreement is neither rescinded nor cancelled and 
Resident fails to move to Arbor Acres by the Residency Date, this Agreement may 
be terminated by Arbor Acres or Resident upon written notice to the other. 

(b) If Resident rescinds this Agreement, this Agreement is 
automatically cancelled as described in Section 5(a) above or Resident fails to move 
to Arbor Acres by the Residency Date and this Agreement is terminated by either 
Arbor Acres or Resident, Resident or Resident's legal representative will receive a 
refund of the Entrance Fee, less the following: (i) any Daily Fees or other costs 
charged for the time Resident shall have resided at Arbor Acres; and (ii) those 
nonstandard costs specifically incurred by Arbor Acres at the request of Resident 
and described in a signed addendum to this Agreement. Payment of the refund is to 
be made from the Entrance Fee received by Arbor Acres from the next occupant of 
the Accommodation. 

66. Notice of Termination of Occupancy. 

If after moving to Arbor Acres and the expiration of the Rescission 
Period, Resident should decide to terminate this Agreement and residency at Arbor 
Acres, Resident will give Arbor Acres a minimum of fourteen (14) days advance 
written notice stating the date on which Resident plans to terminate residency. This 
Agreement, and Resident's obligation to pay the Daily Fee and other charges, shall 
continue in effect until Resident vacates the Accommodation or until the end of the 
fourteen (14) day notice period, whichever is later (the "Date of Termination of 
Occupancy"). If Resident permanently vacates the Accommodation, Arbor Acres 
reserves the right to remove Resident's personal property from the Accommodation 
and store such personal property, and Resident shall be responsible for the 
reasonable costs of such removal and storage. Unclaimed personal property will 
become the property of Arbor Acres after thirty (30) days, and Arbor Acres may 
dispose of such personal property in its sole discretion. 
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67. Terms and Conditions of Initial Residency and Continued 
Residency. 

Resident shall have the right to occupy the Accommodation and to 
reside at Arbor Acres subject to the provisions of this Agreement and subject to the 
following understandings, terms and conditions: 

( a) Health and Financial Qualification for Residency 

At the time of the execution of this Agreement, Arbor Acres has 
determined that Resident qualifies for residency both with respect to mental and 
physical condition and ability to take care of the anticipated Daily Fees and other 
charges. Resident must continue to meet these qualifications at the time Resident 
enters Arbor Acres. If Resident is not qualified to occupy the Accommodation, but 
is qualified (financially and otherwise) to reside in other accon1modations at Arbor 
Acres, Resident shall be entitled to such accommodation when space pennits. 

(b) Financial Obligation Including Obligation to Pay Fees and 
Charges 

In order to operate Arbor Acres on a fiscally sound, nonprofit 
basis, Arbor Acres has established fees and charges, which are subject to 
modification from time to time as deemed necessary and appropriate by Arbor 
Acres. Resident agrees to pay when due all required fees and charges. Resident has 
received from Arbor Acres a schedule of current fees and charges. 

Resident agrees to provide, if requested, periodic financial 
statements and current financial information for the purpose of demonstrating 
capacity to meet financial obligations to Arbor Acres. Should Resident experience 
financial difficulty that might result in Resident's immediate or eventual inability to 
meet the financial obligations under this Agreement, including any spend down of 
assets that might result from payment of expected fees and charges to Arbor Acres, 
Resident will inform Arbor Acres immediately, and submit a current financial 
statement. Resident and, if appropriate, Resident's responsible party, and Arbor 
Acres shall discuss and, if possible, agree on a plan by which Resident's financial 
obligation to Arbor Acres can be met. Residents whose funds are depleted primarily 
through payment of foes associated with residency, to include costs associated with 
their medical care, may be eligible for consideration for financial assistance through 
Arbor Acres. Such assistance, however, is conditional upon demonstration that other 
options for fulfilling this financial obligation to Arbor Acres have been explored and 
deemed impracticable by either party. When Resident is deemed eligible for 
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financial assistance through Arbor Acres, Arbor Acres, to the extent of its available 
resources dedicated for financial assistance, will attempt to furnish financial 
assistance when it is needed. Termination of residency for Resident's inability to 
fulfill the financial obligations incurred under this Agreement shall be an option 
exercised as necessary to assure the financial viability of Arbor Acres and of its 
financial assistance program. 

( c) Rights and Obligations During Temporary Absence 

Temporary absence because of illness, trips or otherwise shall 
not affect Resident's right to retain the Accommodation as Resident's place of 
residency. However, Resident shall not be entitled to an adjustment of Arbor Acres' 
Daily Fee and other charges during such absence, and Resident shall continue to be 
charged and to pay such Daily Fee and charges during such absence. 

( d) Requirement of Compliance with Recommendations for 
Additional Services or Care 

If Resident shall incur a physical or mental illness or impairment 
so that Resident requires additional services or a higher level of care than is available 
at the Accommodation, Arbor Acres, through its nursing and continuing care staffs 
("Nursing and Continuing Care Staffs"), will make recommendations regarding 
appropriate additional service options and/or options for transfer to a higher level of 
care. Resident agrees (i) that Arbor Acres is obligated to assure the care and safety 
of residents and, (ii) that Resident will comply with Nursing and Continuing Care 
Staffs' recommendations regarding additional services or transfer to a higher level 
of care. If such additional services or higher level of care can be provided in a 
different accommodation at Arbor Acres, Resident has a right, and may be required 
by Arbor Acres, to move to such accommodation. Arbor Acres will recommend and 
require such a move or additional services when, in the judgment of Arbor Acres, it 
is necessary and in the best interest of Resident, Arbor Acres and/or the other 
residents of Arbor Acres. Before any such move or additional services are required, 
Arbor Acres will discuss the matter with Resident and/or Resident's responsible 
party in an effort to secure Resident's understanding and cooperation with the 
required additional services or change of accommodation or level of care. Resident 
and/or Resident's responsible party shall have the right to appeal a decision to 
change Resident's accommodation and/or level of care in accordance with the 
provisions of (i) below. 
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(e) Requirement of Compliance With Policies, Rules and Regulations 

In order to operate Arbor Acres in the best interest of the entire 
Arbor Acres community, Arbor Acres has established policies, rules and regulations 
relating to residency, which are subject to modification from time to time as deemed 
appropriate by Arbor Acres. Resident has received information as to the current 
policies, rules and regulations in the Disclosure Statement and in other written 
information provided by Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres reserves the right to make or 
change policies, rules and regulations, and will use its reasonable efforts to 
communicate through appropriate means to all residents the substance and content 
of such additions or changes; also, copies of particular policies, rules and regulations 
relating to residency will be furnished to Resident on request. Resident agrees to 
comply with Arbor Acres' policies, rules and regulations applicable to Resident's 
residency in Arbor Acres. 

(f) Cooperation of Responsible Parties and Other Associates 

Resident understands and agrees that, in order for Arbor Acres to 
operate in the best interest of both Resident and the entire Arbor Acres community, 
Arbor Acres must have the cooperation of Resident's family, friends, responsible 
parties and other associates to comply with Arbor Acres' applicable policies, rules 
and regulations. Any Gontinuing or repeated failure or refusal by any such persons 
to so cooperate and comply may result in a determination by Arbor Acres that it is 
no longer feasible for Arbor Acres to accommodate Resident as a resident. Upon 
such determination, Arbor Acres will have a right to terminate Resident's residency 
at Arbor Acres. 

(g) Termination of Residency for Health Conditions Beyond Arbor 
Acres' Capacity to Serve 

If Resident's physical and/or mental condition or needs cannot 
be legally or adequately served by the facilities or programs available at Arbor 
Acres, or Resident requires or insists upon receiving care that in the judgment of 
Arbor Acres exceeds the capacity of Arbor Acres to provide within the limits of its 
staffing pattern or other available resources, Arbor Acres reserves the right to 
terminate Resident's residency. If such a circumstance arises, Arbor Acres will 
discuss the matter thoroughly with Resident and/or Resident's responsible party in 
an effort to determine a course of action in Resident's best interest. Arbor Acres will 
provide guidance and transitional support to Resident and/or Resident's responsible 
party to facilitate an orderly transfer of Resident to another, more appropriate facility 
or setting. 
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(h) Termination of Residency for Behavior Deemed Harmfal to 
Arbor Acres 

If Resident is deemed competent and capable of controlling his 
or her behaviors and engages in behaviors deemed by the President/CEO to be 
disruptive, hostile, illegal, or otherwise harmful to others or to Arbor Acres, Arbor 
Acres reserves the right to terminate Resident's residency. If such a circumstance 
arises, Arbor Acres will discuss the matter thoroughly with Resident to provide 
Resident with knowledge of the behaviors deemed intolerable by Arbor Acres. Arbor 
Acres will provide Resident a written warning to desist from the behavior or any 
similarly disruptive, hostile, illegal or harmful behavior. Upon determination that 
Resident is continuing to engage in the behaviors against which Resident has been 
warned, Arbor Acres will have the right to terminate Resident's residency at Arbor 
Acres. 

(i) Right of Appeal of Transfer or Termination Decisions 

While Arbor Acres reserves the right to terminate Resident's 
residency at Arbor Acres for failure to comply with (b ), ( d), ( e ), (f), (g) or (h) above, 
or for failure to comply with any other provision of this Agreement, Arbor Acres 
shall exercise such right only after first attempting to work out satisfactory solutions 
with Resident and/or Resident's responsible party. If agreement cannot be reached 
between the President/CEO and Resident and/or Resident's responsible party, the 
President/CEO will refer the matter to the Executive Committee of the Board of 
Directors of Arbor Acres (the "Executive Committee") for hearing and decision. The 
Executive Committee shall afford Resident an opportunity to be heard, and shall 
render a decision with respect to the matter referred to it. The decision of the 
Executive Committee shall be put in writing and shall be signed by the Chair of the 
Board of Directors of Arbor Acres (the "Chair") or, in the absence of the Chair, the 
Chair Elect of the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres. It is understood and agreed 
that the written, signed decision of the Executive Committee shall be final and 
binding. 

G) Terms and Conditions of Initial Residency and Continued 
Residency 

Arbor Acres reserves the right to relocate Resident to another 
accommodation when deemed necessary in order for Arbor Acres to fulfill its 
strategic financial and other obligations to the Arbor Acres community. Arbor Acres 
will exercise this right only when all other reasonable options to avoid relocating 

147 



Resident have been considered. Arbor Acres will use reasonable efforts to relocate 
Resident to an accotmnodation of the same or similar type as Resident's 
Accommodation. Any such decision to relocate Resident will be discussed 
thoroughly with Resident in order to enlist Resident's understanding of the need for 
and cooperation with the relocation. Arbor Acres will pay all required packing and 
moving costs, and all reasonable refurbishing costs necessary to achieve substantial 
comparability between the Accommodation and any new accommodation to which 
Resident may be relocated. Any decision to relocate Resident for the sake of 
enabling Arbor Acres to fulfill its strategic financial and other obligations to the 
Arbor Acres cotmnunity may be appealed to the Executive Committee as outlined 
in (i) above. 

(k) Termination of Residency I/Listed on a Sex Offender Registry 

Resident hereby acknowledges that it is the policy of Arbor 
Acres to conduct sex offender screening for every prospective resident, regardless 
of independent status or level of care, at the time of application for admission to 
Arbor Acres and again prior to entering into a Residency Agreement. If the 
screening shows that the prospective resident is identified as a sex offender, Arbor 
Acres will deny admission of Resident on that basis and not execute a Residency 
Agreement. In addition, Resident hereby acknowledges and agrees that if, after 
Arbor Acres and Resident have entered into a Residency Agreement, Arbor Acres 
becomes aware that Resident is listed on any sex offender registry, Arbor Acres may 
terminate this Agreement with Resident and remove Resident from Arbor Acres. 

(1) Relocation to Independent Living or Assisted Living 

If Resident's health should improve sufficiently to permit 
Resident to live in other accommodations at Arbor Acres other than the Skilled 
Nursing Facility, such a move may be made subject to availability of an appropriate 
accommodation, payment of the entrance fee established for the accommodation, 
less the Entrance Fee, and execution of an appropriate Independent Living 
Residency Agreement or Assisted Living Residency Agreement (as applicable). 

(m) Healthcare Outside of Arbor Acres 

Arbor Acres assumes no obligation or responsibility for the 
provision of residential or nursing or health care facilities or services to Resident 
beyond those facilities and services from time to time established and provided by 
Arbor Acres. 
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(n) Personal Belongings 

Arbor Acres will not be responsible for the loss of or damage to 
any property belonging to Resident due to theft, mysterious disappearance, fire, 
employee accident, or any other cause. It is understood that Resident has the 
responsibility of providing any desired insurance protection covering any such loss. 

68. Standard Services to be Provided. 

Arbor Acres agrees to provide standard services to Resident at no 
additional cost beyond the Daily Fee, and has informed Resident of these services 
and other services through written infonnation available to all residents. At the time 
of execution of this Agreement, the standard services include: 

(24) Nursing supervision (in accordance with regulatory standards; does not 
include private duty or individual nurse for each resident), prescribed 
medication administration and assistance with activities of daily living; 

(25) Maintenance of buildings and grounds, including maintenance of all 
standard equipment in the Accommodation; 

(26) Utilities, as described below; 
(27) Basic cable television and internet service; 
(28) Telephone jacks; emergency call system, and assistance m 

emergencies; 
(29) Recreational, educational, cultural, wellness and spiritual life 

programs, to the extent provided by Arbor Acres; 
(30) Transportation to routine, non-emergency medical appointments within 

Forsyth County (transportation by ambulance not included); 
(31) In-patient care in the Arbor Acres Health Center for a limited number 

of days; 
(32) Daily housekeeping and annual deep cleaning of the Accommodation; 
(33) Laundering of bed and bath linens furnished by Arbor Acres; 
(34) Laundering of personal clothing (washing, drying and folding, not 

ironing or dry cleaning); 
(35) Security personnel on duty in the Arbor Acres Welcome Center; and 
(36) Food service (3 meals daily). 

Water and sewer services are included in the Daily Fee. Electricity and 
gas is also included. 
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Arbor Acres may also make available to Resident additional services, 
at Resident's request, at the then prevailing rates charged by Arbor Acres, which 
may be changed from time to time at the discretion of Arbor Acres. 

Arbor Acres residents pay Daily Fees and other charges to cover 
services provided by Arbor Acres. At least annually, during budget preparation, 
Arbor Acres reviews services and costs of operation, and the need for any changes 
in services or in Arbor Acres' schedule of fees and charges. Arbor Acres reserves 
the right to change, when deemed necessary, the services provided to residents and 
the associated fees and charges. Arbor Acres will strive to deliver services efficiently 
and economically. 

69. Transfer to Another Level of Care. 

Resident shall have priority over non-residents for entry into the Arbor 
Acres' assisted living facility (the "Assisted Living Facility"). Although Arbor 
Acres cannot guarantee Resident entry into the Assisted Living Facility, Arbor Acres 
will use its reasonable efforts to accommodate Resident's entry. If Resident requires 
a lower level of care, and the Assisted Living Facility is fully occupied or unable to 
provide such lower level of care, Resident shall relocate to an alternate healthcare 
facility. In the event of such relocation, Arbor Acres will use reasonable efforts to 
transfer Resident to the Assisted Living Facility when accommodations become 
available. Resident shall be responsible for all fees, costs and expenses. IfResident's 
transfer to the Assisted Living Facility or an alternate healthcare facility is 
temporary, Resident shall remain responsible for the Daily Fee; however, Resident 
shall not be responsible for the Daily Fee if such relocation is permanent. If Resident 
transfers to the Assisted Living Facility, Resident shall not be required to pay an 
additional Entrance Fee on transferring to the Assisted Living Facility. 

70. Application for Benefits; Assignment of Benefits. 

Resident shall apply for any federal, state or local benefits for which 
Resident may be eligible or entitled upon request by Arbor Acres. If requested by 
Arbor Acres, any or all such benefits will be applied to the Daily Fee or other charges 
incurred by Resident at Arbor Acres. 

71. Health Insurance. 

Resident shall maintain eligible Medicare coverage (and supplemental 
health insurance coverage) or other health insurance coverage that adequate! y covers 
hospital, medical, prescriptions and skilled nursing deductibles and co-payments 
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required under Resident's primary insurance policy. Resident's primary and 
secondary insurance coverage must recognize Arbor Acres as a healthcare provider, 
or Resident shall be responsible for services rendered that otherwise could be 
covered by insurance. 

If Resident's health insurance coverage lapses, Arbor Acres may 
require Resident to reapply for suitable insurance coverage. If Resident is unable to 
obtain suitable insurance coverage, Resident shall be responsible for any healthcare 
services rendered that otherwise could be covered by insurance. Upon request by 
Arbor Acres, Resident shall provide evidence of health insurance coverage. 

72. Medicare-Certified Skilled Nursing Facility Beds. 

Arbor Acres maintains a limited number of Medicare-certified beds in 
the Skilled Nursing Facility, which are available for use by residents whose skilled 
nursing care would qualify for Medicare payment on an "if and as available" basis. 
In the event that Resident's admission would qualify for Medicare payment, then 
Resident's financial responsibility to Arbor Acres will depend upon the type of 
Medicare coverage that Resident has and whether Arbor Acres is a contractual 
provider for Resident's coverage. 

( c) Medicare-certified bed is not available. 

In the event that there is not a Medicare-certified bed at Arbor Acres at 
the time that Resident requires admission, then Resident may either choose to obtain 
skilled nursing care services at another healthcare facility at Resident's cost until 
such time as a Medicare-certified bed becomes available at Arbor Acres (presuming 
that Resident would use a facility that could provide a Medicare-certified bed) or be 
admitted to a bed in the Skilled Nursing Facility at Resident's cost which is not 
certified to accept Medicare payment until such time as a Medicare-certified bed 
becomes available at Arbor Acres. 

(b) Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has traditional 
Medicare. 

If Resident is admitted to a Medicare-certified bed in the Skilled 
Nursing Facility and Resident has traditional Medicare coverage, Arbor Acres will 
accept the Medicare reimbursement amount for such care while Resident shall be 
responsible for any applicable deductible, co-payment and/or co-insurance amounts 
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that are not paid by Medicare and any supplemental Medicare msurance that 
Resident maintains. 

(c) Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has Medicare 
Advantage coverage for which Arbor Acres is an in-network 
provider. 

In the event that Arbor Acres is an in-network provider for Resident's 
Medicare Advantage coverage, then Arbor Acres will accept the reimbursement 
amount from Resident's Medicare Advantage insurance carrier while Resident shall 
be responsible for any deductible, co-payment and/or co-insurance amounts that are 
not paid by the Medicare Advantage insurance that Resident maintains. 

( d) Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has Medicare 
Advantage coverage for which Arbor Acres is not an in-network 
provider. 

Arbor Acres will charge Resident the full private-payment amount for 
Resident's admission into a Medicare-certified bed and credit against Resident's 
financial obligation to Arbor Acres the amount that is paid by Resident's Medicare 
Advantage insurance if the insurance provides an out-of-network benefit. In the 
event that Resident's Medicare Advantage insurance will not pay any amount to an 
out-of-network provider, then Resident will not be admitted to a Medicare-certified 
bed at Arbor Acres. A full private-pay Resident in a Medicare-certified bed may be 
required by Arbor Acres to relocate to a bed that is not Medicare certified when such 
a bed becomes available. 

73. United Methodist Affiliation. 

Arbor Acres is affiliated with the Western North Carolina Annual 
Conference of The United Methodist Church, which is not responsible for the 
financial and contractual obligations of Arbor Acres. 

74. Required Documents. 

Resident agrees to keep in effect an appropriate Durable Power of 
Attorney or other designation of responsible party, and agrees to provide copies of 
the following documents to Arbor Acres by the first day of residency, and deliver 
any changes to such documents to Arbor Acres during Resident's residency at Arbor 
Acres: ( a) health insurance coverage information; (b) copy of current Durable Power 
of Attorney for business management; (c) copy of current Health Care Power of 
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Attorney and Living Will; and (d) evidence of the executor or other legally 
responsible person of Resident's estate, such as a copy of Resident's will 
documenting the name of the executor of his or her estate. 

75. Moving Costs. 

Resident is responsible for any and all packing and moving costs 
incurred by Resident for moves into, within and out of Arbor Acres, except as 
provided in Section 7G) above. Arbor Acres may provide assistance at an additional 
cost. Arbor Acres reserves the right to charge an administrative fee for Resident's 
move within Arbor Acres. 

76. Entire Agreement. 

This Agreement, together with any Arbitration Agreement between 
Resident and Arbor Acres, contain the entire agreement of Arbor Acres and 
Resident. Arbor Acres will not be liable or bound in any manner by any statements, 
representations, or promises made by any person representing or claiming to 
represent Arbor Acres, unless such statements, representations, or promises are set 
forth in this Agreement. 

77. Capacity. 

This Agreement has been executed on behalf of Arbor Acres by Arbor 
Acres' duly authorized agent, and no officer, trustee, agent or employee of Arbor 
Acres shall have any personal liability to Resident under this Agreement. 

78. Amendments and Modifications. 

This Agreement shall not be modified, amended or changed in any 
respect except in writing signed by Arbor Acres and Resident. Each waives any right 
to amend this Agreement in any other way. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Arbor 
Acres may amend this Agreement to ensure compliance with applicable laws and 
regulations. 

79. Waiver. 

Neither the failure nor any delay on the part of any party to exercise any 
right, remedy, power or privilege ("Right") under this Agreement shall operate as a 
waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial waiver of any Right preclude any 
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exercise of the same or of any other Right. No waiver shall be in effect unless in 
writing and signed by the party asserted to have granted such waiver. 

80. Severability. 

The invalidity of any restriction, condition or other provision of this 
Agreement, or any part of the same, shall not impair or affect in any way the validity 
or enforceability of the rest of this Agreement. 

81. Interpretation. 

The headings in this Agreement are for convenience and reference only, 
and shall not affect the interpretation of any provision of this Agreement. 

82. Successors and Assigns. 

Except as set forth herein, this Agreement shall bind and inure to the 
benefit of the successors and assigns of Arbor Acres and the heirs, executors, 
responsible parties, attorneys-in-fact and administrators of Resident. 

83. Assignment. 

This Agreement may not be assigned by Resident. 

84. Indemnity. 

Resident agrees to indemnify, defend and hold Arbor Acres harmless 
from any and all claims, damages or expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees 
and court costs) resulting or arising from any injury or death to persons and/or 
damages caused by, resulting from or attributable to or in any way connected with, 
directly or indirectly, the act or omission of Resident or Resident's guests, including 
private duty nurses, companions or others. This Section 24 shall survive termination 
of this Agreement. 

85. Governing Law; Venue; Disputes. 

This Agreement shall be governed by, interpreted, construed and 
enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of North Carolina, without giving 
effect to any choice oflaw or conflict oflaw rules or provisions that would cause the 
application oflaws or any jurisdiction other than North Carolina. Except to the extent 
that the parties have agreed to an alternative mechanism for the resolution of a 
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dispute, to the full extent permitted by law, any action, suit or proceeding arising out 
of or relating to this Agreement shall be brought and enforced in the courts of the 
State of North Carolina located in Forsyth County or of the United States District 
Court for the Middle District of North Carolina, and the parties hereby irrevocably 
submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of such courts and irrevocably waive any 
objection that they may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any such 
action or proceeding in such courts. In the event of any such dispute, the non­
prevailing party shall pay all reasonable costs, expenses and attorneys' fees incurred 
by the prevailing party. 

86. Survival. 

Those rights and obligations that have accrued under this Agreement 
shall survive its termination, as shall those rights and obligations that by their tenns 
survive termination and any provisions that must survive to give effect to their terms, 
as shall any obligation of Resident to pay costs or expenses of his or her residency 
at Arbor Acres that remain unpaid as of such termination. 

87. Management of Arbor Acres. 

The absolute rights of management are reserved by Arbor Acres and its 
Board of Directors. Arbor Acres reserves the right to accept or reject any person as 
a resident. Residents do not have the right to determine admission or terms of 
acceptance of any other resident. 

88. Uncontrollable Interruption of Services. 

No breach of Arbor Acres' obligations under this Agreement and no 
liability for injury to Resident or Resident's property shall result from an interruption 
of, or failure to provide, contracted services due to an act of God or other cause 
beyond the reasonable control of Arbor Acres, specifically including (without 
limitation) strikes or other forms of labor disturbances, government regulations 
and/or embargoes, shortages oflabor or materials, fire, flood, earthquakes, inclement 
weather or acts of the Resident. Arbor Acres shall make reasonable efforts to 
continue to provide the usual services in such event. 

89. Confidentiality. 

Arbor Acres has the responsibility to keep all of the personal, medical, 
and financial information Resident has supplied to Arbor Acres confidential. 
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Resident agrees that Arbor Acres can disclose such information to those who have a 
need, in Arbor Acres' judgment, or right to know. 

90. Rights Subordinate to Mortgage. 

Pursuant to the requirements of any lender, Resident agrees that 
Resident's rights under this Agreement are subordinate to the right of the lender 
under any mortgage, deed of trust or security interest executed now or in the future 
by Arbor Acres. 

91. Notice Provisions. 

Notices required by this Agreement will be in writing and delivered 
either by personal delivery or mail. If delivered by mail, notices will be sent by 
certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, with all postage and charges 
prepaid. Notices and other communications will be deemed to have been given when 
delivered by personal delivery or if mailed, such notice shall be deemed to have been 
given on the third business day after being deposited in the United States mail, 
postage prepaid. All notices and other written communications required under this 
Agreement will be addressed to Resident or to Resident's personal representative at 
the address provided to Arbor Acres. Notices shall be sent to us at the following 
address: 

Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. 
1240 Arbor Road 
Winston-Salem, NC 27104 
Attention: President and CEO 

Resident's address for the purpose of giving notice is the address 
appearing after Resident's signature below or such other address Resident provides 
to Arbor Acres in writing. 

[Signature Page Follows] 
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Resident has executed this Agreement and Arbor Acres has caused this Agreement 
to be executed in its name by a duly authorized person as of the day and year written 
above. 

Resident Name: ------------

Resident Address: 

Street Address 

City, State & Zip Code 

ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC. 

By: __________________ _ 

Title: ·------------------
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ADVANTAGE PROGRAM AGREEMENT 
ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREl\fENT COJ\LVCUNITY, INC. 

I. This ADV ANT AGE PROGRAM AGREEMENT (referred to as the 
"Agreement") is made this __ day of ------~ 20 between ARBOR 
ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, II\C. (referred to as 
"Arbor Acres" or "We", "Our" or "Us"), a North Carolina non-profit corporation, and 
------------c-_(referred to as "Resident", "You" or "Your"). You agree 
to take financial responsibility for this Agreement on the above date (the "Date of 
Acceptance"). 

II. WHEREAS, Arbor Acres owns and operates a retirement community 
located at 1240 Arbor Road, Winston-Salem, North Carolina 27104; and 

III. WHEREAS, the retirement community (referred to as the "Community") 
consists of independent living homes and apartments, common areas and amenities, and 
on-campus facilities for certain outpatient services, assisted living care and skilled nursing 
care; and 

IV. WHEREAS, You desire to enter into this Agreement as an off-campus 
resident of the Commtmity in connection with Arbor Acres' offering continuing care 
without lodging through its "Advantage Program" in order for You to access some of the 
services provided by Arbor Acres while remaining in Your home and not residing at the 
Community. 

V. NOW THEREFORE, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this 
Agreement, and for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency ofwhieh 
are hereby acknowledged, You and Arbor Acres agree as follows: 

ACCEPTANCE AS ARBOR ACRJi~S RESIDENT WITHOUT LODGING 

General. You have gone through the admission process, and Arbor Acres has accepted 
You as an off-campus Resident of the Community without lodging through its 
"Advantage Program" in order for You to access some of the serviees provided by 
Arbor Acres while remaining in Your home and not residing at the Community. As 
a Resident without lodging of Arbor Aeres, You will eontinue to reside in Your 
own home and not at the Community, and You are hereby entitled to the services 
specifically set forth in this Agreement. If there is a fee related to particular services 
provided to You as a Resident, You will be charged the then prevailing fee that 
corresponds to being a resident of Arbor Acres rather than a guest. 

As a Resident of Arbor Acres under this Agreement, if You are already on our wait 
list for residency on our campus ("Wait List"), You will remain on our Wait List 
uniess You request that We remove You from the Wait List. Your status on our 
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Wait List and Your rights as a member of the Wait List will not change as a result 
of entering into this Agreement. Your Wait List date for purposes of priority will 
remain-------~ which is the date on which You joined Our Wait List 
originally. If You are not already on our Wait List, You may join our Wait List, 
and Your Wait List date for purposes of priority will be the date You are added to 
the Wait List. As a member of Our Wait List, You will have the same rights as 
other members of Our Wait List and will be offered on-campus accommodations 
in accordance with the then current Arbor Acres' Wait List Policy. 

At the time You choose to accept an accommodation on Arbor Acres' campus, You 
will be required to go through our admissions process for residing at the 
Community, including, but not limited to, providing Us updated medical and 
financial information in order to determine Your ability to live independently and 
to afford the additional entry fee and higher monthly service fees required for 
residency in the particular reserved unit. Arbor Acres reserves the right to decline 
Your admission to the Community for residency if Your medical and financial 
circumstances have changed so that You are not able to live independently or are 
not able to afford the additional entry fee and higher monthly service fees required 
for residency in the particular reserved unit. 

Execution of the Residence Agreement Following Acceptance. Prior to taking 
occupancy and financial responsibility for a particular residential unit on Arbor 
Acres' campus, You agree to execute Arbor Acres' Residence Agreement (the 
"Residence Agreement") then in effect. Your occupancy of a residence shall be 
expressly conditioned upon Your execution of such agreement. The executed 
Residence Agreement shall supersede and replace this Agreement in its entirety. 

If the Residence Agreement is subsequently terminated, as outlined in that 
Residence Agreement, this Agreement may be re-executed upon mutual agreement 
of the parties, allowing You to remain a Resident of Arbor Acres who does not 
reside on campus, as long as the reason for termination of the Residence Agreement 
does not preclude continuation of a contractual relationship with Arbor Acres. 

GENERAL SERVICES PROVIDED ON CAMPUS 

Community Common Areas and Amenities. We will provide common areas and 
amenities for the use and benefit of all residents. These facilities currently include 
the main dining room, private dining rooms, lobbies, assembly hall, library, social, 
and recreational facilities (indoor and outdoor), and craft facilities. Some common 
areas may require advance reservation. All conunon areas are smoke-free 
environments. 

Health Center. Arbor Acres will provide or arrange admission to the facilities necessary 
for the medical care and services specified in this Agreement at the then prevailing 
fees charged by Arbor Acres or other facilities, as applicable, and such fees shall 
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be the sole responsibility of Resident. In this Agreement, the term "Health Center" 
includes the facilities for certain outpatient services, assisted living care ("Assisted 
Living") and skilled nursing care. A restraint-free policy is upheld in Arbor Acres' 
facilities. 

Parking. Arbor Acres will provide and maintain unassigned parking areas for residents 
and guests. 

Activities. Social, recreational, educational, and cultural activities are available to 
residents and are provided through an active staff-directed program. Residents may 
be required to pay additional fees for certain activities. 

Meals. You may eat in the Arbor Acres dining rooms, and You will be charged the 
prevailing resident meal charge and will be billed monthly. 

Security. We will use reasonable care in providing security on the premises of Arbor 
Acres. Arbor Acres will provide twenty-four (24) hour security staffing on site in 
the Community. You are responsible for taking appropriate security measures to 
protect yourself and Your personal property at the Community. We are not 
responsible to provide security to You in Your off-campus residence or for loss, 
theft or damage to Your personal property at the Community or otherwise. 

Other Services. Arbor Acres may also make available to Resident additional services, at 
Resident's request, at the then prevailing rates charged by Arbor Acres, which may. 
be changed from time to time at the discretion of Arbor Acres. 

Changes in Services and Fees. Arbor Acres residents pay Monthly Fees and other 
charges to cover services provided by Amor Acres. At least annually, during budget 
preparation, Arbor Acres reviews services and costs of operation, and the need for 
any changes in services or in Arbor Acres' schedule of fees and charges. Arbor 
Acres reserves the right to change, when deemed necessary, the services provided 
to residents and the associated fees and charges. Arbor Acres will strive to deliver 
services efficiently and economically. 

MEDICAL AND OTHER HEALTH CARE SERVICES PROVIDED OR 
COORDINATED BY ARBOR ACRES 

General. You hereby acknowledge and agree that Arbor Acres is not responsible for 
furnishing You or causing to be furnished to You medical services in Your home. 
In consideration for the Entry Fee and Monthly Fee, Arbor Acres will provide You 
(i) "Care Management" services, as more specifically described in Section III.E. of 
this Agreement, and (ii) nursing care services (but not medical services by a 
physician or physician assistant) provided in Arbor Acres' on-site clinic. 
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In addition, Arbor Acres will make available to You or cause to be made available 
to You the following medical and health care services at the Community that You 
may choose to receive, and, subject to Sections VI E. and F. of this Agreement, 
You will be responsible for all costs and expenses of such services at the then 
prevailing rates of Arbor Acres or such other provider You choose: 

Medical services provided by primary care physicians or physician assistants who 
are part of Arbor Acres' group practice, and who see You at the Arbor 
Acres' on-site clinic; 

General nursing and personal care provided in Arbor Acres' Health Center, subject 
to availability of a bed or accommodation and subject to Arbor Acres' then­
prevailing admissions policies and procedures; 

General nursing and personal care provided in a similarly licensed nursing facility 
when space is not available at Arbor Acres, and when coordinated by Arbor 
Acres' medical and other care management staff; and 

Physical, occupational, and speech therapy when ordered by Arbor Acres' 
physicians and provided at Arbor Acres outpatient rehabilitation facilities 
or in an inpatient setting in the Health Center. 

Community's Physicians and Physician Assistants/Nurse Practitioners. Arbor Acres 
will appoint a Medical Director and physicians and physician assistants/nurse 
practitioners, as needed. They will be responsible for Your medical care, including 
office visits, medical review, Health Center visits, hospital attendance, and referral 
to specialists, ifY ou choose to use them. 

Hospitalization. When one of Arbor Acres' physicians determines that it has become 
necessary to hospitalize You, the physician will have the authority to arrange such 
hospitalization. Such determination will be made by Us in consultation with Your 
attending physician if not an Arbor Acres physician, and You, to the extent 
possible, and Your personal representative, if appropriate. When the conditions 
necessitating such hospitalization no longer exist, the physician will have the 
authority, in consultation with Your attending physician if not an Arbor Acres 
physician, and You, to the extent possible, and Your personal representative, if 
appropriate, to arrange for Your discharge and transfer or return to Your home, or 
to the Health Center at Arbor Acres if that is needed. 

Medical Referrals. Arbor Acres will be responsible for coordinating and following Your 
medical, surgical and other health care services when such services either (i) are 
provided by Arbor Acres, or (ii) are provided by licensed outside providers to 
whom You have been referred in writing by one of Arbor Acres physicians or 
physician assistants/nurse practitioners for treatment or consultation. Such 
responsibility will be limited to the specific condition for which referral was made. 
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Arbor Acres will not be responsible for secondary referrals or for follow-up visits 
unless approved in advance by one of Arbor Acres' physicians or physician 
assistants/nurse practitioners. 

Arbor Acres cannot be responsible for filing for insurance reimbursement for 
services provided by other providers of Your choice. However, Arbor Acres will 
supply the referral provider with Your policy information upon request, and, upon 
request, will assist You in coordinating with other providers to ensure they are filing 
with Your insurance diligently, in order to help maximize Your Medicare and 
supplemental insurance benefits. 

Care Management and Transfer to Assisted Living, the Health Center, a Special 
Service Facility, or a Hospital. 

Arbor Acres shall furnish the following care management services ("Care 
Management") to You on site at the Community, unless Your health condition 
prevents You from being able to leave Your home, in which case such Care 
Management will be provided to You in Your home, by qualified staff who will 
(i) assess Your needs; (ii) develop a plan of care with You to address needs that are 
identified; (iii) help identify reputable providers in the area to whom You can be 
referred for services to meet those needs; and (iv) follow up to ensure that those 
services are meeting Your needs and the goals of Your care plan. The assessments 
shall be conducted annually. 

If more frequent assessments are needed, or if any needs are identified that may 
require subsequent services, Arbor Acres staff will assist You either by providing 
such services to You in the event Arbor Acres is licensed to provide such services 
and You choose Arbor Acres to provide such services or by referring You to 
services that may be available to You in the community outside of the Community. 
If more frequent assessments are needed beyond the annual assessment, or if any 
needs are identified that may require subsequent services of Arbor Acres' staff or 
other providers, those assessments and services will be provided to You on a fee­
for-service basis at Arbor Acres' or the other providers' then prevailing rates. 

You hereby acknowledge and agree that Arbor Acres is not responsible for 
furnishing You or causing to be furnished to You medical or other personal care 
services in Your home, unless recommended and approved by Arbor Acres as part 
ofY our Care Management program and requested by You. All decisions regarding 
Your Care Management plan, including the prospect of Your need for support 
services in Your home, temporary or permanent transfer to Assisted Living or 
Health Center, a special service facility, or to a hospital will be made after 
consultation with You, to the extent possible, Your attending physician if not an 
Arbor Acres physician, and with Your personal representative, if appropriate. 
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If it is determined by Arbor Acres' Care Management staff that Your needs require 
temporary or permanent transfer to Arbor Acres' Assisted Living or Health Center 
facilities, and if You choose not to make the move to those facilities, then You must 
agree to sufficient services to provide for appropriate care and safety in Your home. 
If, in Our sole judgment, the services You elect to receive are insufficient for 
appropriate care and safety in Your home, You must move to an appropriate care 
level at Arbor Acres, or We will have the right to terminate this Agreement. Arbor 
Acres' decision will be binding. 

No Entry Fee adjustment is made with temporary or permanent transfer from Your 
home to Arbor Acres' Assisted Living or Health Center facilities or to another 
special service facility. In the event You make a temporary or permanent transfer 
from Your home to Arbor Acres' Assisted Living or Health Center facilities or to 
another special service facility, You will be charged Arbor Acres' or other facility's 
then prevailing Monthly Fee and/or per diem rates for such services. The new 
Monthly Fee and/or per diem rates take effect on the date that You make such a 
temporary or permanent transfer. 

MEDICAL, HEAL TH CARE, AND OTHER SERVICES EXCLUDED IN THIS 
AGREEMENT 

Use of Medical Practitioners and Facilities Not Referred by Arbor Acres. You may 
engage the services of primary care physicians other than those who are part of the 
Arbor Acres practice, and seek care at other hospital, specialty medical, surgical or 
allied health services with whom Arbor Acres' does not have referral relationships. 
Arbor Acres will not be liable for any expenses relating to such care, including, but 
not limited to, the cost of medical, surgical, hospital or nursing care provided, 
ordered, prescribed or occasioned by any such practitioner or such facilities. If a 
healthcare provider should seek payment for such services from Arbor Acres, You 
will indemnify, defend and hold Arbor Acres harmless from all loss or liability 
arising from such claims for payment. 

In situations when Arbor Acres' medical staff is not involved in the referral to a 
physician or other health care provider from whom You seek services, it is Your 
responsibility to require those providers to furnish Arbor Acres, promptly in writing 
and in confidence, with medical information regarding Your condition, diagnosis, 
medications, and treatment. 

You may not engage third parties for medical or other health-related services to be 
rendered at Arbor Acres without prior notification to and written authorization by 
Arbor Acres' management. 

Psychiatric Illness, Dangerous Communicable Disease, Drug or Alcohol Abuse, The 
Community's facilities and services are not designed to care for persons who have 
an active psychiatric illness, who have a dangerous communicable disease or who 
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are involved with drug or alcohol abuse. Should Arbor Acres determine that Your 
physical or psychiatric illness, or that Your condition as a result of drug or alcohol 
abuse, is such that Your continued stay in Your home or use of the Community 
facilities is either dangerous or detrimental to Your life, health, safety or peace, or 
the life, health, safety, or peace of others in Your home or in the Community, then 
Arbor Acres may transfer You to another facility of Your choosing. You will 
continue to be responsible for payment of the Monthly Fee as ifY ou were at home. 
You will also be responsible for payment of any additional amonnt needed for Your 
care at any other such facility. Arbor Acres may terminate this Agreement if You 
refuse to make the recommended transfer. 

Transportation. Arbor Acres will not be responsible for providing any type of 
transportation to You during this Agreement, including but not limited to any 
transportation to or from the Arbor Acres campus or to any medical appointments 
or other locations and emergency transportation to any hospital or other health care 
facility. 

Security. Arbor Acres will not be responsible for providing any type of security, staff 
emergency response, emergency call devices, smoke detectors or the like to Your 
home or personal residence during this Agreement. 

Housekeeping. Maintenance and Grounds Keeping. Arbor Acres will not be 
responsible for providing any type of laundry or housekeeping services to Your 
home or personal residence during this Agreement. Arbor Acres will not be 
responsible for providing any type of home maintenance or grounds keeping care 
to Your home or personal residence during this Agreement. 

Utilities. Arbor Acres will not be responsible for furnishing any type of utilities, including, 
but not limited to, heating, air conditioning, water, electricity and/or gas, sewage 
disposal, trash removal, television service, internet service and telephone service, 
to You during this Agreement. 

Taxes. Arbor Acres will not be responsible for paying any taxes owed by You, inclnding, 
without limitation, any income taxes or personal or real property taxes assessed on 
Your personal or real property during this Agreement. You are solely responsible 
for all taxes, owed by You, including, without limitation, all personal income taxes 
and all taxes assessed on Your personal and real property. 

Other Excluded Services. Other excluded services include, but are not limited to, 
prescription and non-prescription medications, refractions, eye-glasses, contact 
lenses, audiological tests, hearing aids, dentistry, dentures, dental inlays, 
incontinent and other personal hygiene supplies, orthopedic appliances, podiatry, 
chiropractic services, organ transplants, renal dialysis, treatment for alcohol and 
drug abuse, and diagnosis and therapy for psychiatric disorders. 
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Illness or Accident. If You have an accident or if You are ill, We will have no 
responsibility to pay for costs resulting from or in connection with such accident or 
illness. 

TERMS OF BEING AN ARBOR ACRES RESIDENT 

Rights of Resident. As a Resident, You have the right to use and enjoy the common areas, 
amenities, programs, and services of Arbor Acres, as provided in this Agreement, 
dming Your lifetime unless this Agreement is terminated as provided herein. It is 
understood that this Agreement does not transfer or grant any interest in the real or 
personal property owned by Arbor Acres other than the rights and privileges as 
described in this Agreement. 

Policies and Procedures. In order to operate Arbor Acres in the best interest of the 
Community, Arbor Acres has established policies, rules and regulations relating to 
residency, which are subject to modification from time to time as deemed 
appropriate by Arbor Acres. Resident has received information as to the current 
policies, rules and regulations in the Disclosure Statement and in other written 
information provided by Arbor Ae,-res. Arbor Acres reserves the right to make or 
change policies, rules and regulations, and will use its reasonable efforts to 
communicate through appropriate means to all residents the substance and content 
of such additions or changes; also, copies of particular policies, rules and 
regulations relating to residency will be furnished to Resident on request. Resident 
agrees to comply with Arbor Acres' policies, rules and regulations. Resident 
understands and agrees that, in order for Arbor Acres to operate in the best interest 
of both Resident and the Community, Arbor Acres must have the cooperation of 
Resident's family, friends, responsible parties and other associates to comply with 
Arbor Acres' applicable policies, rules and regulations. Any continuing or repeated 
failure or refusal by any such persons to so cooperate and comply may result in a 
determination by Arbor Acres that it is no longer feasible for Arbor Acres to 
provide services to Resident. Upon such determination, Arbor Acres will have a 
right to terminate this Agreement. 

Relationships Between Residents and Staff. Arbor Acres is built on mutual respect and 
instructs its staff to be cordial and helpful to You. The relationship is to remain 
professional. Employees must not be delayed or deterred by residents in the 
performance of their duties. Management is solely responsible for the supervision 
of staff. Complaints or requests for special assistance must be made to the 
appropriate supervisor. Giving gratuities or bequests to employees or employees' 
families is not permitted. You will not employ Arbor Acres' employees nor hire 
former Arbor Acres' employees without the prior written consent of the 
management of Arbor Acres. 

Loss of Property. Arbor Acres will not be responsible for the loss of or damage to any 
property belonging to You due to theft, mysterious disappearance, fire, employee 
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accident, or any other cause. It is understood that You have the responsibility of 
providing any desired insurance protection covering any such loss. 

Representations. You affinn that the representations made in the Application for 
Admission, Personal Health History, and Confidential Financial Statement are true 
and correct and may be relied upon by Arbor Acres as the basis for entering into 
this Agreement. You agree to provide updates ofthis information in a timely way 
to Us. As one of those representations, You affirm that You are at least 62 years 
old. 

Behavior Deemed Harmful to Arbor Acres. If Resident is deemed competent and 
capable of controlling his or her behaviors and engages in behaviors deemed by the 
President/CEO to be disruptive, hostile, illegal, or otherwise harmful to others or to 
Arbor Acres, Arbor Acres reserves the right to terminate this Agreement. If such a 
circumstance arises, Arbor Acres will discuss the matter thoroughly with Resident 
to provide Resident with knowledge of the behaviors deemed intolerable by Arbor 
Acres. Arbor Acres will provide Resident a written warning to desist from the 
behavior or any sil)lilarly disruptive, hostile, illegal or harmful behavior. Upon 
determination that Resident is continuing to engage in the behaviors against which 
Resident has been warned, Arbor Acres will have the right to terminate this 
Agreement. 

Sex Offender Registry. Resident hereby acknowledges that it is the policy of Arbor Acres 
to conduct sex offender screening for every prospective resident, regardless of 
independent status or level of care, at the time of application for admission to Arbor 
Acres and again prior to entering into a Residence Agreement. If the screening 
shows that the prospective resident is identified as a sex offender, Arbor Acres will 
deny admission of Resident on that basis and not execute a Residence Agreement. 
In addition, Resident hereby acknowledges and agrees that if, after Arbor Acres 
and Resident have entered into a Residence Agreement, Arbor Acres becomes 
aware that Resident is listed on any sex offender registry, Arbor Acres may 
terminate this Agreement with Resident and remove Resident from Arbor Acres. 

FINANCIAL ARRANGEMENTS 

Entry Fee. You agree to pay Arbor Acres an entry fee in the amount of $12,500.00 as a 
condition to this Agreement (the "Entry Fee"). The Entry Fee is a lump sum 
payment due as of the Date of Acceptance and will not be increased or changed 
during the term of this Agreement, except for changes required by state or federal 
programs or execution of a subsequent Residence Agreement should You move to 
Arbor Acres some time in the future. In the event You decide to move to Arbor 
Acres and enter into a Residence Agreement, notwithstanding the amortization of 
the Entry Fee for refund purposes as set forth in Section VIII.D. of this Agreement, 
the full amotmt of the Entry Fee will be applied towards the then prevailing entry 
fee for the apartment or home at the Community You select. The ability to apply 
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the full amount of the Entry Fee towards an entry fee for an on-campus living 
accommodation at Arbor Acres shall survive the termination of this Agreement, 
subject to the execution of a Residence Agreement between You and Arbor Acres. 

Monthly Fee and Other Charges. You agree to pay a monthly fee (the "Monthly Fee") 
during the term of this Agreement. The current Monthly Fee associated with this 
Agreement is $400.00 per month. The Monthly Fee will commence at the Date of 
Acceptance and will be subject to adjustment in accordance with Section VI.D. 
below. The Monthly Fee will be paid on a prorated basis for any partial month. 

Arbor Acres will furnish Resident a monthly statement with the total amount of the 
Monthly Fee and other charges, if any, owed by Resident. Resident shall pay such 
fees and charges by the [15th] day of the month. If Resident's payment is late, Arbor 
Acres may charge Resident a one and one-half percent (1.5%) interest fee per 
month, from the first of the month in which the payment is late. Upon thirty (30) 
days' advance written notice, Arbor Acres may change the billing date and payment 
due date. Arbor Acres shall have the right to offset against any Entry Fee repayment 
any unpaid Monthly Fees or other charges owed by Resident to Arbor Acres. If 
You fail to comply with the terms of this provision, We may terminate this 
Agreement. 

Assisted Living or Health Center Charges. If You need care in Arbor Acres' Assisted 
Living or Health Center facilities, You will be charged an additional daily fee based 
on the particular level of care and type of accommodation at Arbor Acres' then 
prevailing rates. This fee is in addition to the Monthly Fee, which You will 
continue to be charged. 

Adjustments in the Monthly Fee and Other Charges. Arbor Acres may adjust the 
Monthly Fee, the Assisted Living and Health Center fees, and any and all other 
charges from time to time on the basis of experience or to reflect changes in the 
cost of achieving the mission or purposes of Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres agrees that, 
in the exercise of its discretion, which will be binding on You, Arbor Acres will 
endeavor to maintain all fees and charges at the lowest feasible amounts which, in 
the judgment of the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres, is consistent with sound 
financial operation and maintenance of the quality of facility, program and service 
provided. 

Health Care Insurance Requirements. You shall be responsible for carrying both 
Medicare Part A and Medicare Part B insurance coverage, or a substitute policy 
acceptable to Arbor Acres. You shall also carry a supplemental insurance policy 
acceptable to Arbor Acres, which adequately covers the hospital, medical, and 
skilled nursing deductibles and co-payments required of Your primary insurance 
plan. Both Your primary and supplemental health insurance policies must 
recognize Arbor Acres as a health care provider. You assume the financial 
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responsibility for services provided that otherwise could be covered by Medicare 
or insurance. 

You shall be responsible for ensuring that the health insurance coverage that was 
approved does not lapse, and You shall provide Arbor Acres with evidence of such 
coverage upon request. If Your health insurance coverage should lapse, Arbor 
Acres may require that You reapply for suitable coverage. If You are unable to 
obtain adequate new coverage, Arbor Acres shall charge You for any costs of 
medical and other health care services provided to You that otherwise would have 
been covered by an approved policy. 

Arbor Acres' Filing for and Rights to Insurance Benefits. Arbor Acres shall be 
responsible for filing for reimbursement from Your Medicare and supplemental 
health insurance plans for covered medical, nursing, and outpatient therapy services 
when provided by Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres has a right to the benefits payable 
under the insurance You carry for services provided by Arbor Acres as, required in 
this Agreement, except where costs of care were borne solely by You and not Arbor 
Acres. You hereby authorize Arbor Acres to file claims for benefits to which You 
are entitled under this Agreement and to execute all documents necessary to enable 
Arbor Acres to collect or enforce such claims. If, for any reason, Arbor Acres 
cannot apply directly for benefits payable under insurance required by this 
Agreement, You agree to make such application and to pay Arbor Acres the 
proceeds received that are due for services provided by Arbor Acres. 

For those services provided by Arbor Acres that are covered by Medicare, We will 
accept Medicare Assignment, billing Medicare first and accepting Medicare's 
allowable reimbursement rates as payment in full. You shall be responsible for 
amounts allowed by Medicare or Your supplemental insurance that are treated as 
deductibles, co-payments or other cost-sharing amounts imposed by Medicare or 
Your supplemental insurance. For those services provided by Arbor Acres that are 
not covered by Medicare or Your supplemental insurance, You shall be responsible 
for all costs and expenses related to such services at the then prevailing rates. For 
all services not provided by Arbor Acres but are provided by another provider, You 
shall be responsible for all costs and expenses related to such services. 

Automobile Accident Insurance. If You are a licensed driver, You are responsible for 
maintaining automobile accident insurance to cover medical costs from automobile 
accidents causing injury. 

Arbor Acres' Rights in Case of Injury Caused by a Third Party. In the event Arbor 
Acres has incurred costs, expenses and damages on Your behalf relating to injuries 
or illnesses caused to You by a third party (including, but not limited to, reasonable 
costs of care Arbor Acres may furnish You because of such accident or injury), You 
hereby agree that any amount recovered by You or on Your behalf from any and 
all sources relating to Your injuries or illnesses shall first be paid to Arbor Acres in 
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an amount to reimburse Arbor Acres for its costs, expenses and damages incurred, 
with the balance of any amount recovered then paid to You or credited to Your 
account, or, in the event of Your death, paid to Your estate. 

Application for Benefits; Assignment of Benefits. Resident shall apply for any federal, 
state or local benefits for which Resident may be eligible or entitled upon request 
by Arbor Acres. If requested by Arbor Acres, any or all such benefits will be applied 
to the Monthly Fee or other charges incurred by Resident at Arbor Acres. 

FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE 

In order to operate Arbor Acres on a fiscally sound, nonprofit basis, Arbor Acres has 
established fees and charges, which are subject to modification from time to time as 
deemed necessary and appropriate by Arbor Acres. Resident agrees to pay when due all 
required fees and charges. Resident has received from Arbor Acres a schedule of current 
fees and charges. 

Resident agrees to provide, ifrequested, periodic financial statements and current financial 
information for the purpose of demonstrating capacity to meet financial obligations to 
Arbor Acres. Should Resident experience financial difficulty that might result in Resident's 
immediate or eventual inability to meet the financial obligations under this Agreement, 
including any spend down of assets that might result from payment of expected fees and 
charges to Arbor Acres, Resident will inform Arbor Acres immediately, and submit a 
current financial statement. Resident and, if appropriate, Resident's responsible party, and 
Arbor Acres shall discuss and, if possible, agree on a plan by which Resident's financial 
obligation to Arbor Acres can be met. Residents whose funds are depleted primarily 
through payment of fees associated with this Agreement, to include costs associated with 
their medical care, may be eligible for consideration for financial assistance through Arbor 
Acres. Such assistance, however, is conditional upon demonstration that other options for 
fulfilling this financial obligation to Arbor Acres have been explored and deemed 
impracticable by either party. When Resident is deemed eligible for financial assistance 
through Arbor Acres, Arbor Acres, to the extent of its available resources dedicated for 
financial assistance, will attempt to furnish financial assistance when it is needed. 
Termination of residency for Resident's inability to fulfill the financial obligations incurred 
under this Agreement shall be an option exercised as necessary to assure the financial 
viability of Arbor Acres and of its financial assistance program. 

TERMINATION AND REFUNDS 

Voluntary Termination After Date of Acceptance. This Agreement may be terminated 
by You at any time by providing Arbor Acres sixty (60) days advanced written 
notice of such termination. You may be entitled to a prorated refund of the Entry 
Fee pursuant to Section VIII.D. 

169 



Termination Upon Death. In the event of Your death at any time after the Date of 
Acceptance, this Agreement will tenninate upon the date of death. Your estate may 
be entitled to a pro-rated refund of the Entry Fee pursuant to Section VIII.D. 

Termination by Arbor Acres.1 Arbor Acres may terminate this Agreement at any time 
(i) pursuant to Section III.E., Section IV.B., Section V.B., Section V.F. or Section 
V.G. of this Agreement, (ii) if there has been any material misrepresentation or 
omission made by You in the application fonns, (iii) if You fail to make payment 
to Arbor Acres and Arbor Acres gives notice provided for in Section VI.B., (iv) if 
You fail to abide by Arbor Acres' policies and procedures, or (v) ifYou breach the 
terms of this Agreement. 1n such events, You may be entitled to a pro-rated refund 
of the Entry Fee pursuant to Section VIII.D, subject to the tenns of this Agreement. 
Arbor Acres will provide timely advance written notice of termination that is in 
compliance with prevailing laws, regulations and Arbor Acres' policies. Arbor 
Acres shall exercise such right of termination on1y after first attempting to work out 
satisfactory solutions with Resident and/or Resident's responsible party. If 
agreement cannot be reached between the President/CEO and Resident and/or 
Resident's responsible party, the President/CEO will refer the matter to the 
Executive Committee of the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres (the "Executive 
Committee") for hearing and decision. The Executive Committee shall afford 
Resident an opportunity to be heard, and shall render a decision with respect to the 
matter referred to it. The decision of the Executive Committee shall be put in 
writing and shall be signed by the Chair of the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres 
(the "Chair") or, in the absence of the Chair, the Chair Elect of the Board of 
Directors of Arbor Acres. It is understood and agreed that the written, signed 
decision of the Executive Committee shall be final and binding. 

Calculation for Pro-Rated Refunds. If termination of this Agreement occurs during the 
first fifty (50) months of this Agreement, You or Your estate will be entitled to a 
partial refund of the Entry Fee, subject to the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement. You will receive a refund in the amount equal to: (i) the Entry Fee 
less a non-refundable fee in the amount of $1,000 (the ''Net Entry Fee"); less 
(ii) two percent (2%) of the Net Entry Fee for each month that this Agreement has 
been in effect for up to fifty (50) months; less (iii) any amounts due to Arbor Acres. 
After fifty (50) months, there is no refund of the Entry Fee. The fifty (50) month 
period begins with the Date of Acceptance. Payment, if any, shall be made within 
sixty (60) days of written notice of termination. 

RIGHT OF RESCISSION 

VI. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, this Agreement may be rescinded by You 
giving written notice of such rescission to Arbor Acres within thirty (30) days following 
the later of the execution of this Agreement or the receipt of a disclosure statement that 
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meets the requirements of Section 58-64-1 et. seq. of the North Carolina General Statutes. 
In the event of such rescission, if it is conditioned by a change in Your health status, You 
will receive a full refund of the Entry Fee, less a non-refundable application fee of 
$ ______ ~• If the rescission is for a reason other than change in Your health status, 
You will receive a refund of the Entry Fee less a non-refundable fee in the amount of 
$1,000. Any such refund will be paid by Arbor Acres within sixty (60) days following 
receipt of written notice of rescission pursuant to this Section IX. 

GENERAL 

Assignment. This Agreement and the rights and privileges for You under this Agreement 
to the common areas, amenities, and services and programs of Arbor Acres are 
personal to You and may not be transferred or othe1wise assigned by You. 

Management of the Community. The absolute rights of management are reserved by 
Arbor Acres and its Board of Directors. Arbor Acres reserves the right to accept or 
reject any person as a resident. Residents do not have the right to determine 
admission or terms of acceptance of any other resident. 

Entire Agreement. This Agreement, together with any Arbitration Agreement between 
A1:bor Acres and You, constitutes the entire Agreement between Arbor Acres and 
You. Arbor Acres will not be liable or bound in any manner by any statements, 
representations, or promises made by any person representing or claiming to 
represent Arbor Acres, unless such statements, representations, or promises are set 
forth in this Agreement. 

Capacity. This Agreement has been executed on behalf of Arbor Acres by Arbor Acres' 
duly authorized agent, and no officer, trustee, agent or employee of Arbor Acres 
shall have any personal liability to Resident under this Agreement. 

Amendments and Modifications. This Agreement shall not be modified, amended or 
changed in any respect except in writing signed by Arbor Acres and Resident. Each 
waives any right to amend this Agreement in any other way. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, Arbor Acres may amend this Agreement to ensure compliance with 
applicable laws and regulations. 

Waiver. Neither the failure nor any delay on the part of any party to exercise any right, 
remedy, power or privilege ("Right") under this Agreement shall operate as a 
waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial waiver of any Right preclude any 
exercise of the same or of any other Right. No waiver shall be in effect unless in 
writing and signed by the party asserted to have granted such waiver. 

Severability. The invalidity of any restriction, condition or other provision of this 
Agreement, or any part of the same, shall not impair or affect in any way the validity 
or enforceability of the rest of this Agreement. 
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Initials 

Interpretation. The headings in this Agreement are for convenience and reference only, 
and shall not affect the interpretation of any provision of this Agreement. 

Successors and Assigns. Except as set forth herein, this Agreement will bind and inure to 
the benefit of the successors and assigns of Arbor Acres and Your heirs, executors, 
administrators, responsible parties, attorneys-in-fact and permitted assigns. 

Rights Subordinate to Mortgage. Pursuant to the requirements of any lender, You agree 
that Your rights under this Agreement are subordinate to the right of the lender 
under any mortgage, deed of trust or security interest executed now or in the future 
by Arbor Acres. 

Durable Power of Attorney, Will, Living Will, and Health Care Power of Attorney. 
You agree to keep in effect an appropriate Durable Power of Attorney 
designating some competent person as attorney-in-fact. You agree to execute a 
Will, Living Will, and designate a Durable Health Care Power of Attorney. 
Within ninety (90) days of the Date of Acceptance, You will deliver to Arbor 
Acres copies of the following documents, and will promptly deliver any changes 
to such documents to Arbor Acres during this Agreement: (a) health insurance 
coverage information; (b) copy of current Durable Power of Attorney; (c) copy 
of current Durable Health Care Power of Attorney and Living Will; and (d) 
evidence of the executor or other legally responsible person of Resident's estate, 
such as a copy of Resident's will documenting the name of the executor of his or 
her estate. 

Uncontrollable Interruption of Services. No breach of Arbor Acres' obligations under 
this Agreement and no liability for injury to Resident or Resident's property shall 
result from an intem1ption of, or failure to provide, contracted services due to an 
act of God or other cause beyond the reasonable control of Arbor Acres, specifically 
including (without limitation) strilces or other fo1ms of labor disturbances, 
government regulations and/or embargoes, shortages of labor or materials, fire, 
flood, earthquakes, inclement weather or acts of the Resident. Arbor Acres shall 
make reasonable efforts to continue to provide the usual services in such event. 

Confidentiality. Arbor Acres has the responsibility to keep all of the personal, medical, 
and fmancial information You have supplied to Arbor Acres confidential. You 
agree that Arbor Acres can disclose such information to those who have a need, in 
Our judgment, or right to know. 

Indemnity. You agree to indemnify, defend and hold Arbor Acres harmless from claims, 
damages or expenses, including attorneys' fees and court costs, resulting from any 
injury or death to persons and/or any damages to property caused by, resulting from, 
attributable to or in any way connected with, directly or indirectly, Your act or 
omission or those of Your guests, including private duty nurses or any other third 
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party service contracted by You. This Section X.N. shall survive termination of 
this Agreement. 

Affiliations. Arbor Acres is affiliated with the Western North Carolina Annual Conference 
of The United Methodist Church, which is not responsible for the financial and 
contractual obligations of Arbor Acres. 

Notice Provisions. Notices required by this Agreement will be in writing and delivered 
either by personal delivery or mail. If delivered by mail, notices will be sent by 
certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, with all postage and charges 
prepaid. Notices and other communications will be deemed to have been given 
when delivered by personal delivery or if mailed, such notice shall be deemed to 
have been given on the third business day after being deposited in the United States 
mail, postage prepaid. All notices and other written communications required 
under this Agreement will be addressed to You or to Your personal representative 
at the address provided to Us. Notices shall be sent to us at the following address: 

Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. 
1240 Arbor Road 
Winston-Salem, NC 27104 
Attention: President and CEO 

Your address for the purpose of giving notice is the address appearing after Your 
signature below or such other address You provide to Us in writing. 

No Guarantee of Residence. Arbor Acres' execution of this Agreement does not 
guarantee that any apartment or home will be available for Your occupancy during 
Your lifetime or prior to the termination of this Agreement for any reason. 

Governing Law; Venue. This Agreement shall be governed by, interpreted, construed 
and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of North Carolina, without 
giving effect to any choice oflaw or conflict oflaw rules or provisions that would 
cause the application oflaws or any jurisdiction other than North Carolina. Except 
to the extent that the parties have agreed to an alternative mechanism for the 
resolution of a dispute, to the full extent permitted by law, any action, suit or 
proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall be brought and 
enforced in the courts of the State of North Carolina located in Forsyth County or 
of the United States District Court for the Middle District of North Carolina, and 
the parties hereby irrevocably submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of such courts 
and irrevocably waive any objection that they may now or hereafter have to the 
laying of venue of any such action or proceeding in such courts. In the event of any 
such dispute, the non-prevailing party shall pay all reasonable costs, expenses and 
attorneys' fees incurred by the prevailing party. 
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Survival. Those rights and obligations that have accrued under this Agreement shall 
survive its termination, as shall those rights and obligations that by their terms 
survive termination and any provisions that must survive to give effect to their 
terms, as shall any obligation of Resident to pay costs or expenses under this 
Agreement that remain unpaid as of such termination. 

[Signature page follows.] 
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VII. Resident hereby acknowledges the receipt of the Arbor Acres' Disclosure 
Statement dated _________ . Resident acknowledges that the Disclosure 
Statement was received prior to the execution of this Agreement and the payment of the 
Entry Fee to Arbor Acres. Resident understands this matter involves a financial 
commitment and associated risk, as well as a legally binding contract. Resident has had 
the opportunity to consult with an attorney and/or financial advisor who could advise 
Resident concerning this Agreement. 

VIII. IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Arbor Acres has executed this Agreement and 
You have read and understand this Agreement and have executed this Agreement. 

Resident Name: __________ _ 

Your Address 

Street Address 

City, State & Zip Code 

Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. 

Name: ·---------------

Title: ______________ _ 
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VOLUNTARY ARBITRATION AGREEMENT 

This is a voluntary agreement, and it is not a condition for admission to this facility. You may 
receive care and treatment even if you do not sign this agreement. 

This Voluntary Arbitration Agreement (this "Agreement") is entered into by and between 
ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC., a North 
Carolina nonprofit corporation ("Arbor Acres"), and 

("Resident") [ and 
___________________ ("Resident's Representative")], collectively 
referred to as the "Parties" and individually as a "Party." This Agreement is an addendum to the 
residence and admission agreement between the Parties (the "Residency Agreement"), for which 
consideration has been given and received by the Parties. In further consideration for this 
Agreement, the Parties acknowledge they will receive mutual benefits from resolution of any 
dispute or controversy through efficient arbitration and other good and valuable consideration, the 
receipt and sufficiency of which is aclmowledged by the Parties. 

1. Parties Defined. Arbor Acres includes, but is not limited to, the operator, governing body, 
officers, directors, members, administrator, employees, managers, agents, and any parent 
company, subsidiary, or affiliates, and any person or entity alleged to be responsible for 
the acts or omissions of Arbor Acres. Resident includes, but is not limited to, Resident, 
Resident's Representative, guardian, conservator, attorney-in-fact, agent, sponsor, or any 
other person whose claim is derived through or on behalf of Resident, including, without 
limitation, his or her spouse, child, parent, executor, administrator, personal representative, 
heir, survivor, and anyone entitled to bring a wrongful death claim relating to Resident. 

2. Agreement to Arbitrate All Disputes. This is a voluntary agreement by the Parties to 
have all disputes resolved through binding arbitration. Arbitration is an out-of-court 
alternate form of dispute resolution, decided by an impartial third party. Arbitration is 
different than traditional litigation in the court system, which has a judge, sometimes a 
jury, and trial. In the event of any dispute or controversy between the Parties, including 
those arising out of the diagnosis, treatment, or care of Resident by Arbor Acres, the dispute 
or controversy shall be submitted to binding arbitration. 

3. Application of Federal Arbitration Act. The Parties agree that the Residency Agreement 
involves interstate commerce, through Arbor Acres' Medicare participation and with any 
purchase of items from outside the state of North Carolina. Accordingly, the Federal 
Arbitration Act applies to this Agreement. 

4. Duty to Demand Arbitration. It is the claimant's responsibility to demand arbitration by 
giving notice to the other Party describing the nature of the controversy and the remedy 
sought. If a Party overlooks its obligation to arbitrate all disputes and participates in 
litigating a matter in the court system, such Party will not be deemed to have waived the 
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right to compel arbitration, as long as the motion to compel arbitration is served before the 
first day of trial. 

5. Waiver of Judge, Jury, and Trial. No Appeal. By signing this Agreement, you are 
waiving the right to have any and all disputes decided by a judge or by a jury trial. The 
arbitrator's decision is final and binding. There is no right to an appeal unless permitted by 
state statute. 

6. Arbitrator. Within fifteen (15) days after a Party has given written notice to the other Party 
of demand for arbitration of a dispute or controversy, the Parties to the dispute or 
controversy agree that American Healthy Lawyers Association ("ARLA") will administer 
the arbitration. In the event ARLA is unavailable, 1mwilling, or unable to administer the 
arbitration or appoint an arbitration panel, the Parties will agree on an arbitrator. If the 
Parties are unable to agree on the arbitrator, a sole arbitrator shall be appointed, upon 
request of a Party, by the court. The arbitrator shall hold a hearing within a reasonable time 
from the date of notice of selection of the neutral arbitrator. 

7. Expenses. The arbitration expenses will be apportioned equal! y among the Parties, or will 
be paid as provided in the award. 

8. Representation by Lawyer(s). The Parties may be represented by a lawyer prior to, 
during, and after arbitration. 

9. Grievances and Discharge/Transfers. Despite this Agreement, Resident may file its 
grievances directly with Arbor Acres, with the long term care ombudsman, or with any 
applicable regulatory agency. Appeals of involuntary discharges or transfers will be heard 
by an administrative law judge as required by state/federal laws and regulations. 

10. Confidentiality. The discovery, arbitration, and arbitration award are confidential. 

11. Severability. If any term, phrase, or provision in this Agreement is held to be invalid or 
unenforceable by law, this Agreement will be deemed amended to conform with such law 
and will otherwise remain in full force and effect, as it is the Parties' intent to ensure that 
any dispute is resolved solely by arbitration. 

12. Survival. This Agreement applies to Resident's readmissions to Arbor Acres and survives 
any termination of the Residency Agreement. 

13. Care Will Be Provided Regardless. Care, diagnosis, or treatment will be provided 
whether or not Resident signs this Agreement. 

14. Right to Revoke. Resident may revoke this Agreement by providing written notice to 
Arbor Acres within ten (10) days of signature. Any disputes arising prior to revocation will 
remain subject to this Agreement. 

177 



You are strongly encouraged to consult with an attorney or a trusted advisor before signing 
this Agreement. You have the opportm1ity to ask questions before signing this document. 
Please do not hesitate to ask any questions that you may have. 

Signature of Resident Date 

Signature of Resident's Representative (if applicable) Date 

Signature of Arbor Acres Representative* Date 

* Provision of services by Arbor Acres will constitute acceptance in absence of Arbor Acres' 
signature. 
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